
THE PARKING STRATEGY TASK GROUP 
(YEAR 1 RECOMMENDATIONS)

Tuesday, 12th July, 2016

6.30 pm

Publication date: 01 July 2016



Agenda

Councillors S Bashir, S Bolton, A Joynes and G Saffery

1. Election of Chair 

To elect a Chair for the Task Group

2. Apologies for absence 

3. Disclosures of interest (if any) 

4. Scope of review (Pages 3 - 12)

The scrutiny proposal form, setting out the terms of the review, is attached.

5. Summary of Parking Strategy (Pages 13 - 154)

A summary of the Watford Parking Strategy, the Watford Parking Strategy main 
report and the Watford Parking Strategy policies and objectives are attached.

6. Review of Action Plan for 2015-16 (Pages 155 - 160)

The Watford Parking Strategy Action Plan 2015-16 is attached.

7. Design notes (Pages 161 - 164)

A ‘Watford Town Centre - Proposed Relocation of Parking Designer’s 
Explanatory Notes’ document is attached.  Small and large scale plans that 
show proposed details to accompany the designer’s notes will be presented to 
the Task Group at the meeting.   

8. Actions and recommendations 

The Task Group is invited to consider actions and recommendations emanating 
from the meeting.



Appendix 1

Selection of topics and issues for scrutiny by councillors, officers or members of the public

Anyone wishing to suggest a topic for scrutiny must complete Section 1 of this form.  

1. Sources 

The following are sources of ideas for the work programme:

 Performance indicators, both national and internal.
 Views of Cabinet and Leadership Team especially in relation to policy subjects.
 The Council’s surveys, such as the annual residents’ survey.
 The Complaints Report which is compiled annually by the Customer Service Centre.
 Service complaints more widely; although individual cases will not be taken up if a large volume of complaints is 

received about a single issue then it may be appropriate to pursue the topic. 
 Reports of external inspections of services. 
 The views of the Council’s partners.
 Issues picked up by ward councillors in their locality.
 The Council’s Forward Plan

2. Outcomes

Success indicators could include:

 Having identified local needs; 
 Having evaluated alternative ways of working/how a service could improve and making recommendations to the 

Executive or the Council’s partners;

Page 3

Agenda Item
 4



 Having developed an awareness of any contractual, economic, legal or structural constraints on Council’s or its partners 
approach.

3. Criteria

To qualify for consideration the topic must meet the following criteria:

 Affect a group or community of people. Scrutiny will not normally look at individual service complaints.
 Relate to a service, event or issue in which Watford Borough Council has a significant stake. 
 Not be an issue that Scrutiny has covered during the last year. 
 Not be a planning or licensing issue, or any other matter dealt with by another council committee. 
 To match one or more of the Council’s current priorities.
 To be feasible and able to be completed within the timescale projected for the work. 
 There must be availability within the relevant department/service to support the review. 
 Be a topic that members wish to scrutinise. 

On completion please return to Sandra Hancock, Committee and Scrutiny Officer

By email – sandra.hancock@watford.gov.uk 

By post – Legal and Property Services, Watford Borough Council, Town Hall, Watford, WD17 3EX 

Page 4

mailto:sandra.hancock@watford.gov.uk


Suggestions for topics to be scrutinised – evaluation table

A Member, Officer or member of the public suggesting a topic for scrutiny must complete Section1 as fully as possible. Completed 
tables will be presented to Overview & Scrutiny for consideration.

Section 1 – Scrutiny Suggestion:  The Parking Strategy - Year 1 Recommendations  

Proposer:  Councillor/Officer/Member of public  Jane Custance

Topic recommended for 
scrutiny:

Please include as much detail as 
is available about the specific 
such as;

 areas which should be 
included in the review. 

 areas which should be 
excluded from the review. 

 Whether the focus should be 
on past performance, future 
policy or both. 

Give details

In July 2014 Watford Parking Strategy Scoping Report was produced by Arup’s who are one of the 
Council’s Framework Consultants. The scoping report was presented to The Highways Forum 
Members in October 2014. In July 2015 The Watford Parking Strategy Report was produced and 
the report provides a framework and set of policies for parking in Watford. The Strategy has been 
accepted by the Council.

The parking strategy is multi-modal and covers car, bicycle, powered two wheeler (PTW), coach, 
taxi and freight parking and use of on-street space. The parking strategy framework will enable 
fair and objective-led decision making on all types of parking and use of on-street space now and 
in the future.

The policies contained within the parking strategy address existing parking problems, challenges 
and opportunities. The parking strategy is based on local, regional and national policy, 
stakeholder input and objectives from local policy and best practice guidance. The development 
of the parking strategy included stakeholder meetings, a public consultation questionnaire and 
meetings with Watford Borough and Hertfordshire County Council officers and Councillors.

Page 5



Year one of the recommendations concentrates on the Town Centre area inside the Ring Road.

Key parking problems identified include:
• The constrained space available in the town centre for different uses;
• A lack of parking at key locations for Blue Badge holders, motorcycles and bicycles;
• A lack of parking for coaches;
• A lack of ranking and drop-off/pick-up space for the high number of taxis operating in Watford;
• Problems with some of the town centre car parks including problems with quality and the 
pricing structure and payment methods available;
• Constrained space for residential parking in several areas of Watford;
• Constrained space for workplace parking at several locations in Watford; and
• Problems for other road users which are caused by parking.

A key aspect of the parking strategy is the Watford street type hierarchy matrix, a framework for 
decision-making which has been based on work carried out for Transport for London by the 
Road’s Task Force,1 adapted for Watford. The street type hierarchy matrix enables the 
classification of streets in Watford depending on their characteristics. The map based plan 
indicate what the priorities for each street should be and so what kind of policies for parking 
should be pursued on each street. In addition to the Watford street type hierarchy matrix, a 
number of specific parking policies to address identified problems are included. The main parking 
policies which are included in the strategy are to:

• Optimise the use of space in the town centre (including the use of space for pedestrians, 
cyclists, buses, taxis, Blue Badge holders, freight and other vehicles) by applying the principles of 
the street type matrix. Improve the existing car parking offer in the town centre;
• Identify and dedicate space for short stay town centre parking;
• Introduce modern payment methods in the town centre car parks and other pay-and-display 

Page 6



locations;
• Continue reviewing options for the use of the multi-storey car parks;
• Ensure any revenue generated from parking is used for transport;
• Develop a town-wide Travel Plan and other measures to relive pressure on workplace parking 
and generate other benefits from reduced peak car travel;
• Improve the residential parking situation;
• Improve Blue Badge parking provision;
• Increase cycle and PTW parking;
• Provide a secure cycle parking facility in the town centre;
• Pilot a scheme for implementing secure residential cycle parking;
• Improve taxi ranking and drop-off/pick-up facilities;
• Implement improvements to signage associated with different types of parking and taxi 
facilities;
• Provide coach parking facilities; and
• Pilot a Delivery and Servicing Plan within the Council.

A set of actions and targets for each policy has been developed together with an outline 
timeframe for delivery . This will enable the objectives of the parking strategy to be met. It is 
intended that the parking strategy be regularly reviewed to ensure it remains up-to-date and 
relevant. A monitoring and review process has been developed which involves assessing progress 
against policy targets.

Why have you recommended 
this topic for scrutiny?

Officers would appreciate non executive members input prior to the recommendations being 
presented to cabinet 

Page 7



What are the specific outcomes 
you wish to see from the 
review?

Examples might include:

 To identify what is being 
done and what the potential 
barriers are;

 To review relevant 
performance indicators;

 To compare our policies with 
those of a similar authority;

 To assess the 
environmental/social 
impacts;

 To Benchmark current service 
provision;

 To find out community 
perceptions and experience;

 To identify the gap between 
provision and need 

To seek non executive members views on the proposed reallocation of parking opportunities in 
Watford town centre area.

Page 8



How do you think evidence 
might be obtained?

Examples might include

 Questionnaires/Surveys
 Site visits
 Interviewing witnesses
 Research
 Performance data
 Public hearings
 Comparisons with other local 

authorities

All back ground information including in the Parking Strategy Summary Report together with the 
Designers explanatory notes and plans.

Does the proposed item meet the following criteria?

It must affect a group or 
community of people

All users of the Town Centre 

It must relate to a service, event 
or issue in which the council has 
a significant stake

Links to the Parking Service and Green Travel Plan 2010-15

Page 9



It must not have been a topic of 
scrutiny within the last 12 
months

There will be exceptions to this 
arising from notified changing 
circumstances.  Scrutiny will also 
maintain an interest in the 
progress of recommendations 
and issues arising from past 
reports. 

The Parking Strategy has not been to scrutiny before.

It must not be an issue, such as 
planning or licensing, which is 
dealt with by another council 
committee

N/A

Page 10



Does the topic meet the 
council’s priorities? 1. Making Watford a better place to live in

2. To provide the lead for Watford’s sustainable economic growth
3. Promoting an active, cohesive and well informed Town
4. To operate the Council efficiently and effectively

Please confirm which ones

One and two above.

Are you aware of any limitations 
of time, other constraints or 
risks which need to be taken 
into account?

Factors to consider are: 

 forthcoming milestones, 
demands on the relevant 
service area and member 
availability:

 imminent policy changes 
either locally, regionally or 
nationally within the area 
under review.

The Officers report needs to be presented to Cabinet in September 2016

Does the topic involve a Council 
partner or other outside body? 

No

Page 11



Are there likely to be any 
Equality implications which will 
need to be considered?

Protected characteristics under 
the Equality Act 2010 are:

 Age
 Disability
 Gender reassignment
 Pregnancy or maternity
 Race
 Religion or belief
 Sex
 Sexual orientation 
 Marriage or civil partnership 

(only in respect of the 
requirement to have due 
regard to the need to 
eliminate discrimination)

Equality implications will be considered as part of any formal Traffic Regulation Order taken 
forward.

Sign off
(It is expected that any Councillor proposing a topic agreed by Overview and Scrutiny Committee will participate in the Task Group)

Officer
Jane Custance and Andy Smith

Date
May 2016

Page 12



                                                         Appendix 2

Watford Borough Council
Watford Parking Strategy
Summary Report

239298-00

Issue  |  15 July 2015

This report takes into account the particular 
instructions and requirements of our client.  

It is not intended for and should not be relied 
upon by any third party and no responsibility 
is undertaken to any third party.

Job number    239398-00

Ove Arup & Partners Ltd
13 Fitzroy Street
London
W1T 4BQ
United Kingdom
www.arup.com

Page 13

Agenda Item
 5



239298-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$IEVTCODV.DOCX

Document Verification

Job numberJob title Watford Parking Strategy
239398-00
File referenceDocument title Summary Report

Document ref 239298-00
Revision Date Filename 20150708 Summary Report_landscape.docx

Description First draft
Prepared by Checked by Approved by

Name Anne Clarke Susan Claris Susan Claris

Draft 1 7 Jul 
2015

Signature

Filename 20150715 Summary Report_issue.docx
Description Issue

Prepared by Checked by Approved by

Name Anne Clarke Susan Claris Susan Claris

Issue 15 Jul 
2015

Signature

Issue Document Verification with Document 

Page 14



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Summary Report

239298-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$IEVTCODV.DOCX

Contents

Page

1 Introduction 1

2 Approach and Scope 1

3 The Parking Strategy 3

4 The Parking Policies 3

5 The Parking Delivery Plan 3

Appendices

Appendix A
Parking policies and objectives matrix

 

Page 15



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Summary Report

239298-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$IEVTCODV.DOCX

Page 1

1 Introduction
This report provides a summary of the Watford Parking Strategy report.

Following this introductory section:

 Section 2 summarises the scope of the parking strategy and the 
approach to its development;

 Section 3 outlines the parking strategy;

 Section 4 sets out the policies for parking to enable the strategy to 
be realised, including the monitoring and review process for the 
strategy; and

 Section 5 sets out the delivery plan for the strategy.

2 Approach and Scope
The development of the parking strategy was based on four key principles:

1. The importance of involving stakeholders early on in the process of 
developing the strategy in order to maximise the effectiveness of 
the strategy;

2. The recognition that parking in Watford has a long history and that 
the parking situation in Watford has been shaped over time by 
other policies; 

3. The recognition of the need for the strategy to consider the parking 
situation holistically and to recognise the interrelationship between 
parking and other land uses and parking and travel patterns; and

4. That the purpose of the strategy document is to provide a 
framework for more detailed decisions.

Consultation
Consultation was a key part of the development of the parking strategy. 
This included:

 Meetings with stakeholder representatives: A range of stakeholders 
was consulted via face to face ‘surgery-style’ meetings to inform the 
development of the strategy.

 Public consultation: An online public consultation covering parking 
for different transport modes as well as questions on other topics 
related to accessing the town centre (including wayfinding, taxi ranks 
and bus stops) was carried out in November and December 2014. 
Around 250 people responded. 

Page 16



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Summary Report

239298-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$IEVTCODV.DOCX

Page 2

 Meeting with Borough and County Council officers, the Watford 
Parking Services and parking enforcement operator (Vinci). 

The parking strategy was also discussed at the Highway Forum (which is 
made up of Council Members from both the Borough and County Council) 
held on Tuesday 9th December 2014. 

Historical parking policies
The history of parking policy and provision in Watford was considered in 
the development of the parking strategy. This includes:

 The introduction of Controlled Parking Zones (CPZs) in 1996-7;

 The use of maximum, demand-based car parking standards using a 
zonal system since the approval of the Watford District Plan in 2000; 
and 

 The impact of the type of building stock on the local parking situation 
in different areas of Watford (e.g. limited parking on roads with older 
terraced housing and greater parking availability where driveways and 
garages have been provided for semi-detached and detached houses.

Scope
The parking strategy covers all types of parking and related kerbside 
activities where relevant. It covers parking for all the modes of transport 
which require parking (car, bicycle, powered two wheelers [PTWs],1 taxi, 
coach, servicing vehicles) and parking for different land uses (residential, 
retail, leisure, business). It does not cover parking standards for new 
development which are being developed separately as part of the Local 

1 Motorcycles, mopeds and scooters

Plan Part 2. However, the parking strategy includes detail on the 
objectives which these parking standards should aim to achieve.

Page 17



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Summary Report

239298-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$IEVTCODV.DOCX

Page 3

3 The Parking Strategy

Policy context
Parking-related policy exists at national, regional and local level. 

National policy documents include:

 National Planning and Policy Framework (DCLG, 2012) which 
outlines policies on town centre parking;

 Planning Update: Written statement HCWS488 (DCLG, 2015) which 
states that local planning authorities should only impose local parking 
standards where there is justification that this is necessary to manage 
their road network;

 Operational guidance to local authorities: parking policy and 
enforcement (DfT, 2015); and

 Civil enforcement of parking contraventions (DfT, 2015).

Regional policy documents include:

 Hertfordshire’s third Local Transport Plan LTP3 (Hertfordshire 
County Council, 2011); and

 Hertfordshire County Council’s Active Travel Strategy (HCC, 2013).

Watford Borough Council’s Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy (WBC, 
2013) is the key local policy document.

Related studies
Studies which overlap with the parking strategy include the Watford Town 
Centre Multi Modal Review (HCC, 2014) and the Taxi Review for Watford 
Borough Council (Douglas Brodie Ltd, 2014) and subsequent related 
reports.

Watford Borough Council will work with HCC and other partners to 
progress the schemes within the Watford Town Centre Multi Modal 
Review, the Taxi Review and this Watford Parking Strategy in tandem, to 
ensure a synergy between the schemes being implemented and a shared 
overall approach to the designation of space in Watford town centre.

The local parking situation and problems, challenges 
and opportunities
The majority of parking provision across Watford is for cars rather than 
for other modes such as bicycles and PTWs. Within the town centre over 
5,000 public car parking spaces are available. Further car parking is 
provided at supermarkets, retail/business parks, workplaces, parks, the 
hospital and other key locations. Controlled or uncontrolled on-street car 
parking exists on the majority of Watford’s streets; this is used primarily 
for residential parking. There is a limited number of roads where on-street 
car parking is not available (generally the main routes into and through 
Watford). 

Page 18



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Summary Report

239298-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$IEVTCODV.DOCX

Page 4

Some areas of parking are already performing well whilst other areas 
could be improved. Key parking issues identified include: 

 The constrained space available in the town centre for different uses; 
 A lack of parking at key locations for Blue Badge holders, motorcycles 

and bicycles; 
 A lack of parking for coaches; 
 A lack of ranking and drop-off/pick-up space for the high number of 

taxis operating in Watford; 
 Significant scope for improvement for some of the town centre car 

parks in terms of overall quality and the pricing structure and payment 
methods available; 

 Constrained space for residential parking in several areas of Watford; 
 Constrained space for workplace parking at several locations in 

Watford; and
 Unwanted adverse effects of parking on other road users.

The main parking strategy document identifies challenges and 
opportunities related to these problems and the broader parking situation.

Wider context
Watford is expected to grow substantially in coming years: the Local Plan 
Core Strategy (WBC, 2013) target for housing delivery is 6,500 homes 
from 2006-2031 (an average of 260 dwellings per annum) and the target 
for jobs growth over the same period is 7,000. Major development 
proposals in Watford include the Watford Health Campus, the 
redevelopment of Charter Place and the Croxley Rail Link. There are also 
aspirations related to redevelopment of the area around Watford Junction 

and the Western Gateway (an area focused on Watford Business Park) to 
provide more housing, employment space and other land uses. 

Within this context of expected growth, the Parking Strategy aligns with 
Watford Borough Council’s approach to transport provision (which is to 
reduce congestion, to promote environmentally sustainable movement and 
to reduce the overall need to travel, see details below). It focuses on 
making the best use of existing space and provision within a framework 
which prioritises travel behaviour which is sustainable (environmentally, 
socially and economically).

The parking strategy vision and objectives
The parking strategy vision and objectives are based on the local 
objectives for transport in Watford and national best practice guidance 
objectives for parking strategies and policies.

The objectives of the parking strategy are broadly based upon those listed in 
Parking Strategies and Management (IHT, 2005) and are set out in Table 1. 

Page 19



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Summary Report

239298-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$IEVTCODV.DOCX

Page 5

Table 1: Best practice guidance objectives for parking

Main objective Sub-objective

To retain a reasonable level of access by private car.

To enhance access by other modes of transport.

To promote a quantity and type of parking stock which is in accordance with the two objectives above.

To allocate space in locations appropriately to achieve the two objectives above (e.g. locating short stay more conveniently than long stay parking).

Accessibility

To ensure parking at new developments achieves these objectives.

To facilitate good access by all modes.

To manage parking to encourage short stay/leisure or retail visits (rather than commuting) to the town centre and at local shopping destinations.

To set charging to ensure a reasonable balance between supply and demand at all times.
Economic vitality

To ensure parking revenues cover parking costs.

To pursue use of shared parking where possible, particularly at new developments.

To explore where parking controls could be used to ensure road space is used more efficiently e.g. to provide space for bus or cycle lanes.

To prevent inconsiderate or inappropriate parking activity obstructing other road users.

To increase the proportion of parking that is under local authority control.

Efficiency

To use Travel Plans to reduce demand for private non-residential parking.

To minimise visual intrusion caused by parked cars.
Environmental quality

To design parking areas, structures, signs and markings so they don’t detract from the surrounding environment (and adapting existing ones).

To improve the quality and standard of car parking provision.

To prevent inconsiderate or inappropriate parking activity endangering other road users.Safety and security

To achieve Secured Car Park status for all Watford car parks.

To ensure priority for pedestrian movement over parking at new developments.

To ensure on-street space is used fairly by considering a hierarchy of needs.Social inclusion and equity

To ensure guidance on parking fits within an overall hierarchy for the allocation of space in the town centre which reflect wider objectives.

Page 20



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Summary Report

239298-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$IEVTCODV.DOCX

Page 6

The objectives for the specific types of parking in Watford were developed by considering the best practice guidance objectives in relation to the parking 
situation in Watford for the different types of parking. They are set out in Table 2. 
Table 2: Objectives for specific types of parking in Watford2

Type of parking Objective Reason

To ensure that there is a balance between supply and demand.

To ensure parking does not occur in inappropriate locations and create traffic problems.
The control and 
management of residential 
parking (existing and 
future) To ensure that the limited space available is used in the most efficient way possible.

To reduce the problems associated with car commuting e.g. congestion, air quality, detraction of the local environment.Using parking policy to 
achieve a reduction in 
unsustainable car 
commuting into Watford

To strengthen Watford economically by optimising use of the road network, ensuring businesses continue to be attracted to 
Watford and encouraging healthier commute patterns among the workforce.

There is not enough space in the centre of town to fully meet the demands of those who wish to use this space, and so compromise 
is necessary.

Ensuring limited town 
centre kerbside space is 
allocated to those who need 
it most

In combination with other policies being taken forward on this, the parking strategy can support a hierarchical approach which can 
be applied to determine the best use of town centre space.

Supporting retail viability 
through parking policy 
(town centre and local 
shops)

To ensure there is adequate parking for shoppers who arrive by car whilst taking a balanced approach, so that parking policy also 
encourages the use of more sustainable modes.

To ensure the parking needs of Blue badge holders are considered.

To ensure adequate cycle parking is provided to facilitate mode shift to cycling.

To ensure the parking needs of powered two wheeler users are considered, including the provision of secure locking points where 
provision for powered two wheelers is made.

To ensure space is available for other parking needs and kerbside uses, such as loading and taxi bays and bus stops.

Ensuring the parking 
strategy enables provision 
of parking for different 
modes and space for 
different kerbside uses

To ensure that parking policy supports more sustainable types of car travel (e.g. car club/car share vehicles and electric vehicles).

2 These objectives were initially identified in the Watford Parking Strategy Scoping Study (Arup, 2014).

Page 21



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Summary Report

239298-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$IEVTCODV.DOCX

Page 7

Watford street type hierarchy
In order to determine what type and level of parking should be provided 
on different roads, a street type hierarchy for Watford has been developed 
and forms the basis for the parking strategy as a whole. The hierarchy 
includes a matrix of street types which can be used to classify streets based 
on their place and movement qualities. Each street type has a set of general 
and parking-specific priorities which should be considered when 
determining how to allocate limited road space fairly. These priorities are 
set out in full in the main parking strategy document. 

The street type hierarchy is based on the Transport for London Roads Task 
Force’s ‘London’s street family’ (TfL, 2013),3 adapted for Watford. The 
street type hierarchy provides a framework for balancing different 
demands, functions and priorities on streets and makes ‘trade-offs’ a 
transparent, conscious and easily understood part of decision-making 
process. 

The hierarchy also allows a flexible approach to parking policy for 
different streets. Policy can be flexible to the variety in road space uses at 
certain times of day or days of the week so that the use of space can be 
optimised. The hierarchy can also be used to structure changes to a street 
where an aspiration for it to serve a different function to its existing 
configuration exists, or where its type will change as a result of 
development. 

The street type matrix is intended to be used to consider both network- and 
location-specific needs so that the local and strategic priorities of a street 

3 Tfl. 2013. London’s street family: Theory and case studies [online]. Available from: 
https://www.tfl.gov.uk/corporate/about-tfl/how-we-work/planning-for-the-future/roads-
task-force/rtf-supporting-documents 

are considered. A single road may be more than one street type along its 
length as its function and configuration changes. For example, the single 
carriageway and dual carriageway sections of St Albans Road would be 
different street types.

Applying the Watford street type hierarchy to the roads in the borough will 
enable balanced solutions to parking and other transport challenges on 
Watford’s streets and is a distinct policy within the parking strategy.

Figure 1 shows the street type hierarchy for Watford. 

Page 22

https://www.tfl.gov.uk/corporate/about-tfl/how-we-work/planning-for-the-future/roads-task-force/rtf-supporting-documents
https://www.tfl.gov.uk/corporate/about-tfl/how-we-work/planning-for-the-future/roads-task-force/rtf-supporting-documents


Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Summary Report

239298-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$IEVTCODV.DOCX

Page 8

Figure 1: Watford street type hierarchy 4

4 Source for images: Google. 2015. Google Streetview; http://www.watfordobserver.co.uk/news/9740512.Plans_for_revamped_Parade_unveiled/?ref=rss (The Parade) [original source 
unknown]

Page 23

http://www.watfordobserver.co.uk/news/9740512.Plans_for_revamped_Parade_unveiled/?ref=rss


Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Summary Report

239298-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$IEVTCODV.DOCX

Page 9

4 The Parking Policies
A set of parking strategy policies has been developed based on: 

 The street type matrix parking priorities;

 The problems and opportunities identified through consultation 
and analysis of the existing parking situation; and 

 The parking strategy objectives.

A matrix of how the parking policies will meet the objectives outlined 
in Section 3 is included as Appendix A at the rear of this report. 

It is intended that the parking policies contained within the strategy be 
reviewed on a regular basis and refreshed to take into account 
progress on initial policies, new policy aspirations and changes to the 
parking situation which may mean that proposed policies are no 
longer relevant. 

Table 3 summarises the parking strategy policies.

In implementing these policies, three key points are significant:

 The multi-modal nature of the parking strategy should be used 
to make alternatives to the car attractive. The parking strategy 
should work in tandem with other transport strategies and policies 
which enable greater use of alternatives to the car;

 Working with partners will be critical for the successful 
delivery of the parking strategy: 

 Responsibilities for the roads in Watford are split between 
Watford Borough Council and Hertfordshire County Council. 

 There are several schemes (such as those included in the 
Watford Town Centre Multi Modal Review) which will interact 
with schemes proposed in this parking strategy and so a high 
level of coordination will be required.

 Much of the parking in Watford, for example the parking at 
the stations and parking provided by workplaces for their staff, 
is not directly within Watford Borough Council’s remit. It will 
be important to ensure objectives are shared with partners and 
good relationships are established early on.

 The parking strategy should be periodically reviewed and updated 
to ensure that it remains relevant.

Page 24



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Summary Report

239298-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$IEVTCODV.DOCX

Page 10

Table 3: Summary of parking strategy policies

Mode Policy

G1: Street type matrix analysis
Use the street type matrix to classify all of Watford’s streets. This classification will then form the basis for future decision-making.

General
(all modes)

G2: On-street space in the town centre
Develop a comprehensive plan of desired space allocation in the town centre, in collaboration with HCC and other partners. Implement the plan of space allocation 
via progression through the necessary consultation and design processes.

Ca1: Improve the car parking offer in the town centre
Improvements to:

 Car park quality;

 Pricing structure;

 Payment methods;

 Signage and wayfinding.

Development of a user experience strategy for the car parks. 

Ca2: Formalise short-stay parking provision within the town centre
Development of specifically designated short stay parking provision in the town centre.

Ca3: Implement ‘pay-by-phone’ or similar modern payment system at pay and display locations within Watford
To make paying for parking more convenient for users.

Ca4: Continue reviewing options for the multi-storey car parks
Review options for the multi-storey car parks in more detail, focusing on transport, economic and financial objectives.

Ca5: Ensure car parking revenue is used to fund transport interventions
This will ensure that revenue raised from parking is used for transport improvements.

Ca6: Work with businesses to encourage employees to commute by alternative modes to ease parking pressure and congestion
Enhance links between businesses and existing initiatives such as Network Watford, set up a business travel planning forum and develop a town-wide Travel Plan.

Car

Ca7: Improvements to parking in residential CPZs and residential parking in the town centre

Page 25



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Summary Report

239298-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$IEVTCODV.DOCX

Page 11

Mode Policy
This policy includes: 

 Reviewing where shared use pay and display bays in residential roads around shops or altered hours of operation could be introduced;

 Reviewing whether parking for residents living in the town centre should be provided in town centre car parks; and 

 Trialling an e-permit system for residential parking permits.

Car

Ca8: Improvements to on-street parking outside the town centre
Improvements could include amending the parking layout, altering time restrictions, signage to alternative parking locations and increased enforcement. 
The policy includes identifying location for reviews, undertaking reviews and implementing changes to improve the parking situation, including developing a strategy 
for locations where this is inconsiderate parking-related behaviour.

BB1: Improve Blue Badge parking offer in the town centre
This policy includes: 

 Modifying the Blue Badge parking on the High Street to ensure that those with the greatest need to park closest to amenities along the High Street were able to 
find a parking space when they needed to;

 Completing a review of whether Blue Badge holders should be charged for using off-street car parking (as is currently the case); and

 Implementing changes to charging (if applicable).

BB2: Improve Blue Badge parking offer in other key locations
This policy involves reviewing locations (in collaboration with partners where necessary) to determine solutions for increasing the availability of parking for Blue 
Badge holders and then implementing these solutions. Locations identified during the development of the parking strategy for review include the stations, the hospital 
and other key locations such as the library, mosques and local shopping streets.

Blue Badge 
and 

Shopmobility

BB3: Improvements to access to Shopmobility Watford
This policy includes:

 Reviewing options for improving the pedestrian access route in collaboration with Shopmobility Watford;

 Detailed design of recommended options;

 Implementation of recommended options; and

 Increased marketing of Shopmobility Watford in any promotional material and information on accessing Watford town centre.

Page 26



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Summary Report

239298-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$IEVTCODV.DOCX

Page 12

Mode Policy

P1: Increase PTW parking at key locations and review existing parking
This policy includes increasing the amount of PTW parking in Watford and reviewing the time restrictions and security provision of existing PTW parking to 
determine whether improvements could be made.

PTW

P2: Improved signage/information provision on parking for PTW users
This policy involves improving signage to make it easier for motorcyclists to access PTW parking in Watford.

Cy1: Increase short stay cycle parking at key locations
The policy involves introducing more short stay cycle parking at key locations such as the town centre, stations, local shopping streets and retail centres, employment 
areas and key leisure facilities.

Cy2: Develop a secure long-stay cycle parking facility in the town centre
This policy involves looking into the feasibility of introducing a secure long-stay cycle parking facility in the town centre and then, if feasible, working with partners 
for detailed design, acquisition of property (if necessary), identifying funding and then implementing/building the facility.

Cy3: Provide small-scale secure cycle parking at relevant locations
This policy involves providing small-scale secure cycle parking (such as individual cycle lockers or a small-scale secure facility) at locations where a demand for this 
type of facility might be expected (for example places people might want to visit in the evening which would lack natural surveillance due to low footfall e.g. sports 
centres).

Cycle

Cy4: Pilot secure residential cycle parking provision
This policy includes:

 Identifying potential locations for secure residential cycle parking (involving stakeholders including residents, housing providers etc.);

 Setting up a system and developing a programme for design and implementation, as well as identifying further locations; and

 Implementing secure residential cycle parking provision according to the programme.

T1: Optimise taxi rank and drop-off/pick-up facility provision in line with other changes in the town centre
This policy involves improving taxi rank and drop-off/pick up facilities near to key trip attractors. 

Taxi

T2: Improve signage to taxi ranks within the town centre
This policy involves reviewing existing signage to taxi ranks and improving signage as necessary based on this review.

Coach Co1: Develop a coach drop off facility in the vicinity of the town centre and long stay coach parking
This policy involves scoping, detailed design and implementation of a coach drop off facility which is convenient for the town centre as well as a designated long stay 
coach parking location, to provide for coach travel to Watford.

Page 27



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Summary Report

239298-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$IEVTCODV.DOCX

Page 13

Mode Policy

Freight 
vehicles

F1: A pilot Delivery and Servicing Plan (DSP) for the council
This policy involves developing a pilot Delivery and Servicing Plan for the council including measures such as a delivery booking system, out-of-hours or off-peak 
deliveries, reducing delivery, servicing and collection frequencies, establishing a centralised ordering system and so on. The aim of this policy is to reduce the impact 
of freight activities on the council and surrounding area, achieve efficiencies in delivery and servicing activities and demonstrate the benefits of a DSP to other 
organisations in Watford. 

Page 28



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Summary Report

239298-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$IEVTCODV.DOCX

Page 14

5 The Parking Delivery Plan
The main element of the Parking Delivery Plan is the Action Plan, set out 
in Table 4 below. The Parking Delivery Plan also identifies the key 
resources and potential funding sources for implementing the parking 
strategy, as well as an overview of the key risks to the delivery of the 
parking strategy, the monitoring and review process and the importance of 
communicating the strategy (see sections below).

Key resources required
The key resources required for implementing the parking strategy policies 
are:

 WBC staff time for further research, liaison with partners such as 
HCC, consultation and detailed design of schemes;

 Civil Parking Enforcement staff time for increased enforcement 
activities; and

  Funding for:

 Consultation materials/publication;

 Improvements to parking including changes to road layouts, 
upgrading or installing new infrastructure (e.g. parking 
payment system, cycle parking stands);

 Improvements related to parking such as signage; and

 Setting up and managing policy initiatives such as a town-
wide Travel Plan.

Potential funding sources
Potential funding sources include:

 Funding from parking revenue (e.g. for car park refurbishment);

 Renting out advertising space associated with parking facilities;

 Return on investment (e.g. people making greater use of the 
refurbished car parks, generating increased car park revenue);

 Developer contributions (S106 and CIL);

 Contributions from or funding by partners who will benefit from an 
improved parking offer for certain types of parking (e.g. at the 
stations);

 Local transport funding schemes (e.g. LSTF equivalent);

 Integrated Transport Block funding, via HCC; and

 LEP Growth Deal funding.

Risks to delivering the parking strategy
Risks associated with delivering the parking strategy include:

 Funding. If suitable funding cannot be identified it may not be 
possible to deliver some of the parking policies.

 Working with partners. Several of the policies will require 
partner buy-in to be delivered and will be dependent on securing 
funding sources or permissions outside of WBC control.

Page 29



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Summary Report

239298-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$IEVTCODV.DOCX

Page 15

 Consultation. The consultation process may hinder progress on 
some of the parking policies.

Monitoring and review process
Progress against the Action Plan should be monitored at the end of each 
timeframe for action (e.g. six months, one year, eighteen months etc.). If 
an action has not been completed within the target timeframe it should be 
reviewed and amended. 

As well as assessing progress against targets, monitoring should assess the 
impacts of the parking policies against the parking strategy objectives and 
policy-specific objectives. Any unforeseen adverse effects should also be 
identified as part of the monitoring process to inform any amendments to 
the parking strategy and to enable any remedial actions to be taken. 
Monitoring information should be reported internally within the Council to 
relevant Council officers. 

The parking strategy policies should be reviewed regularly to ensure that 
the strategy remains up to date. This will include removing policies which 
have been fully delivered and adding new policies which are relevant to a 
current parking situation. The objectives of the parking strategy should 
also be periodically reviewed.

An annual review should be reported to Council Members either at the end 
of the calendar year or at the end of the financial year. This could be 
incorporated with the Watford Parking Services annual report to form a 
general parking review report or could be reported separately alongside the 
Watford Parking Service annual report.

Communication
Communication will be important for the success of the parking strategy. 
Once the strategy is adopted it should be publicised via the Council 
website, Twitter feed and so on. Communication will also be important for 
continued buy-in to the parking strategy from stakeholders, who have had 
a significant role in the development of the strategy. Communication of 
information about the parking strategy is necessary to engage and inform 
the public. Information should serve two purposes: helping people to use 
the parking in Watford; and explaining the reasoning behind certain 
parking policies (e.g. by emphasising the positive outcomes that are 
expected).

Page 30



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Summary Report

239298-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$IEVTCODV.DOCX

Page 16

Table 4: Parking Strategy Action Plan

Timescale 
(Lighter shading indicates that the timescale is 
dependent on the outcome of earlier actions)

Action 
(‘*’ indicates that this action is dependent on the 
outcome of earlier actions)

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Responsibility for 
action 
(in addition to WBC)

Resources required 
(in addition to staff time), potential funding sources

General

G1: Street type matrix analysis

Classify all of Watford’s streets using the street type 
matrix.      

 Use HCC Traffic Sensitive Roads as a guide

G2: On-street space in the town centre

Create a plan of the desired allocation of space in the 
town centre area.      

HCC Started June 2015

Identify where any displaced parking/kerbside uses will 
be relocated.      

HCC Started June 2015

Detailed design and consultation on changes to on-street 
space.      

HCC Design resources 
HCC funding (if combined with HCC schemes)

Implementation of changes to on-street space.
     

HCC Capital cost of implementing changes 
HCC funding (if combined with HCC schemes)

Car parking

Ca1: Improve the car parking offer in the town centre

Develop a 'User Experience Strategy' for the car parks.
     

CPO Work with Property Services and Citiparks

Page 31



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Summary Report

239298-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$IEVTCODV.DOCX

Page 17

Action 
(‘*’ indicates that this action is dependent on the 
outcome of earlier actions)

Timescale 
(Lighter shading indicates that the timescale is 
dependent on the outcome of earlier actions)

Responsibility for 
action 
(in addition to WBC)

Resources required 
(in addition to staff time), potential funding sources

Decide on an evening car parking pricing structure.
     

CPO Work with Property Services and Citiparks

Implement any changes to evening car parking pricing.
    

CPO Minor capital cost 
CPO funded

Review and make changes to The Avenue pricing 
structure.*      

CPO Minor capital cost
Parking capital budget 

Research pay-by-phone (or alternative modern payment 
method) and suppliers.      

 Included within Parking Services Managers PDR + AJS

Introduce pay-by-phone (or alternative).
     

 Capital cost of procuring and implementing system 
Parking capital budget 

Implement and monitor the 'User Experience Strategy'.
     

CPO Capital cost of implementing changes 
CPO or parking capital budget funded

Review additional measures; add to the strategy where 
appropriate.      

 Capital cost of implementing any changes 
CPO or parking capital budget funded

Ca2: Formalise short-stay parking provision within the town centre

Explore short stay parking options; decide whether to 
progress any.      

private car park owners Started June 2015

Page 32



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Summary Report

239298-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$IEVTCODV.DOCX

Page 18

Action 
(‘*’ indicates that this action is dependent on the 
outcome of earlier actions)

Timescale 
(Lighter shading indicates that the timescale is 
dependent on the outcome of earlier actions)

Responsibility for 
action 
(in addition to WBC)

Resources required 
(in addition to staff time), potential funding sources

Implement new short stay parking arrangement.*
     

private car park owners Capital cost of implementing changes
Parking capital budget

Ca3: Implement ‘pay-by-phone’ or similar modern payment system at pay and display locations within Watford

Research pay-by-phone (or alternative modern payment 
method) and suppliers.      

 Parking Services Manager + Section Head introduce with 
new contract

Introduce pay-by-phone (or alternative).
    

 Capital cost of procuring and implementing system 
Parking capital budget 

Ca4: Continue reviewing options for the multi-storey car parks

Assess options for the multi-storey car parks.
     

including WBC property 
management staff  

Progress preferred option.
     

including WBC property 
management staff, CPO

Cost of associated interventions
Parking capital budget

Ca5: Ensure car parking revenue is used to fund transport interventions

Set up the process for using car parking revenues for 
transport.     

 Section Head and Traffic Engineer

Ca6: Work with businesses to encourage employees to commute by alternative modes to ease parking pressure and congestion

Contact businesses to gauge interest in a business travel 
planning forum.      

 Section Head and HCC

Page 33



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Summary Report

239298-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$IEVTCODV.DOCX

Page 19

Action 
(‘*’ indicates that this action is dependent on the 
outcome of earlier actions)

Timescale 
(Lighter shading indicates that the timescale is 
dependent on the outcome of earlier actions)

Responsibility for 
action 
(in addition to WBC)

Resources required 
(in addition to staff time), potential funding sources

Set up a business travel planning forum.
     

Watford businesses Revenue cost of setting up and running forum
S106 contributions, CIL + Watford 2025 project

Develop a town-wide Travel Plan.
     

 Cost of associated interventions
S106 contributions, CIL, council car park revenue

Ca7: Improvements to parking in residential CPZs and residential parking in the town centre

Identify locations for shared use bays or different CPZ 
operating hours near to local shops.      

 Section Head / Traffic Engineers / Portfolio Holder

Review whether parking for residents living in the town 
centre should be provided in town centre car parks.     

 Discussions had with Citiparks  and ongoing work with 
Property Team

Trial an e-permit system.
    

WPS/CPE Capital cost of procuring and implementing system
Parking capital budget

Consult on and implement changes to CPZs.
     

 Section Head and Traffic Engineers Capital cost
Parking capital budget

Implement changes to allow residents living in the town 
centre to park in the town centre car parks.*      

CPO Discussions had with Citiparks Capital cost
Parking capital budget

Ca8: Improvements to on-street parking outside the town centre

Page 34



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Summary Report

239298-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$IEVTCODV.DOCX

Page 20

Action 
(‘*’ indicates that this action is dependent on the 
outcome of earlier actions)

Timescale 
(Lighter shading indicates that the timescale is 
dependent on the outcome of earlier actions)

Responsibility for 
action 
(in addition to WBC)

Resources required 
(in addition to staff time), potential funding sources

Identify locations for reviewing on-street parking.
     

 Include within  TRO Programme discuss with Traffic 
Engineer and Portfolio Holder

Identify locations where inconsiderate parking is a 
problem and develop a strategy to tackle it.      

HCC/police Ongoing as part of TRO Reserve List Programme agree 
with  Traffic Engineers and Portfolio Holder

Review on-street parking outside the town centre.
     

HCC Include within  TRO Programme discuss with Traffic 
Engineer and Portfolio Holder

Implement changes to on-street parking.
     

HCC
On Going works - Agree with Members and Portfolio 
Holder Capital cost
Parking capital budget

Implement strategy for inconsiderate parking.
     

HCC Ongoing as part of TRO Reserve List Programme agree 
with  Traffic Engineers and Portfolio Holder

Blue Badge car parking and Shopmobility

BB1: Improve Blue Badge parking offer in the town centre

Review whether Blue Badge holders should be charged 
for using off-street car parking.      

 Report to be produced

Change Blue Badge holder charging.*
     

CPO Capital cost
CPO, parking capital budget

BB2: Improve Blue Badge parking offer in other key locations

Page 35



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Summary Report

239298-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$IEVTCODV.DOCX

Page 21

Action 
(‘*’ indicates that this action is dependent on the 
outcome of earlier actions)

Timescale 
(Lighter shading indicates that the timescale is 
dependent on the outcome of earlier actions)

Responsibility for 
action 
(in addition to WBC)

Resources required 
(in addition to staff time), potential funding sources

Meetings with the stations, hospital and other key 
locations to discuss Blue Badge parking.      

 Section Head to undertake at Sustainable meetings

Decide whether to carry out CPE of disabled car 
parking spaces in private car parks.      

WPS Traffic Engineer

Improve access to the Blue Badge parking at Watford 
Junction.      

LM/NR
Section Head to Work with London Midland and WJ 
Working Group. Capital cost 
NR/LM funding; apply for HCC funding

Review hospital Blue Badge parking.
     

WHHT
Section Head to Work with London Midland and WJ 
Working Group. Capital cost 
NR/LM funding; apply for HCC funding

Review Blue Badge parking at other key locations.
     

 
Section Head to Work with London Midland and WJ 
Working Group. Capital cost 
NR/LM funding; apply for HCC funding

Work with private car park owners to enforce disabled 
car parking spaces.*     

private car park owners Revenue cost (increased CPE)
Parking capital budget or general council funds

Increase Blue Badge parking at Watford Junction.
     

LM/NR
Work with London Midland and WJ Working  Group 
Capital cost 
NR/LM funding

Alter the provision of Blue Badge spaces/signage at the 
hospital.*      

WHHT Capital cost 
Parking capital budget, WHHT funding

Increase Blue Badge parking at other (non-Watford 
Junction) stations.      

NR/TfL/other rail 
stakeholders

Capital cost 
Parking capital budget, funding from partners

Page 36



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Summary Report

239298-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$IEVTCODV.DOCX

Page 22

Action 
(‘*’ indicates that this action is dependent on the 
outcome of earlier actions)

Timescale 
(Lighter shading indicates that the timescale is 
dependent on the outcome of earlier actions)

Responsibility for 
action 
(in addition to WBC)

Resources required 
(in addition to staff time), potential funding sources

Make changes to Blue Badge parking at other key 
locations.*      

Various partners Capital cost
Parking capital budget, funding from partners

Implement order(s) and begin enforcing disabled spaces 
in private car parks.*      

WPS/CPE Capital and revenue cost 
Parking capital budget or general council funds

BB3: Improvements to access to Shopmobility Watford

With Shopmobility Watford, review options for 
improving the pedestrian access route      

Shopmobility Watford Work with Citiparks and Property Services

Carry out detailed design of recommended option(s).
    

CPO  

Implement recommended option(s).
    

CPO Capital cost
CPO, parking capital budget

Include Shopmobility Watford in promotional material 
on accessing Watford.      

  

Powered Two Wheeler (PTW) parking

P1: Increase PTW parking at key locations and review existing parking

Page 37



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Summary Report

239298-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$IEVTCODV.DOCX

Page 23

Action 
(‘*’ indicates that this action is dependent on the 
outcome of earlier actions)

Timescale 
(Lighter shading indicates that the timescale is 
dependent on the outcome of earlier actions)

Responsibility for 
action 
(in addition to WBC)

Resources required 
(in addition to staff time), potential funding sources

Review existing PTW parking provision and identify 
suitable locations for further PTW parking.      

 Report to be produced

Make any changes to PTW parking provision.
     

 Section Head Capital cost
Parking capital budget

Detailed design for new PTW parking facilities.
     

 Section Head Capital cost
Parking capital budget

Implement new PTW parking.
     

HCC Section Head Capital cost
Parking capital budget

P2: Improved signage/information provision on parking for PTW users

Identify suitable locations for signs to PTW parking.
     

HCC Section Head Capital cost
Parking capital budget

Introduce new signs to PTW parking.
     

HCC Section Head Capital cost
Parking capital budget

Cycle parking

Cy1: Increase short stay cycle parking at key locations

Page 38



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Summary Report

239298-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$IEVTCODV.DOCX

Page 24

Action 
(‘*’ indicates that this action is dependent on the 
outcome of earlier actions)

Timescale 
(Lighter shading indicates that the timescale is 
dependent on the outcome of earlier actions)

Responsibility for 
action 
(in addition to WBC)

Resources required 
(in addition to staff time), potential funding sources

Assess how much cycle parking to introduce and where 
to locate it.      

  

Develop and follow design and implementation 
programme (locations within WBC control).      

 
Capital cost
S106 contributions, CIL, HCC sustainable transport 
funding

Work with partners; develop and follow design and 
implementation programme (locations outside WBC 
control).      

Various partners
Capital cost
S106 contributions, CIL, HCC sustainable transport 
funding, contributions from businesses

Review progress on installing cycle parking at locations 
within WBC control.      

  

Cy2: Develop a secure long-stay cycle parking facility in the town centre

Determine feasibility of introducing a secure cycle 
parking facility.     

 There may be an option to the use the old Church Street 
toilets building

Detailed design of facility, acquisition of property (if 
necessary), identification of funding sources.*      

Various partners
Design resources, potential land purchase
S106 contributions, CIL, HCC sustainable transport 
funding

Implement/build secure long-stay cycle parking 
facility.*      

  

Open the secure long-stay cycle parking facility.*
     

Various partners
Capital cost
S106 contributions, CIL, HCC sustainable transport 
funding, contributions from businesses

Cy3: Provide small-scale secure cycle parking at relevant locations

Page 39



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Summary Report

239298-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$IEVTCODV.DOCX

Page 25

Action 
(‘*’ indicates that this action is dependent on the 
outcome of earlier actions)

Timescale 
(Lighter shading indicates that the timescale is 
dependent on the outcome of earlier actions)

Responsibility for 
action 
(in addition to WBC)

Resources required 
(in addition to staff time), potential funding sources

Identify locations for small-scale secure cycle parking 
and begin coordinating with partners.      

Various partners  

Deliver secure cycle parking at the first location 
identified.      

Various partners
Capital cost
S106 contributions, CIL, HCC sustainable transport 
funding, contributions from businesses

Continue to deliver secure cycle parking at the other 
locations identified.      

 
Capital cost
S106 contributions, CIL, HCC sustainable transport 
funding, contributions from businesses

Cy4: Pilot secure residential cycle parking provision

Identify potential locations for secure residential cycle 
parking provision.      

housing providers/ 
residents  

Set up a system for design and implementation, as well 
as identifying further locations.      

  

Implement secure residential cycle parking provision 
according to the programme.

     

 
Capital cost
S106 contributions, CIL, HCC sustainable transport 
funding, contributions from housing associations

Taxi ranking, drop-off/pick-up

T1: Optimise taxi rank and drop-off/pick-up facility provision in line with other changes in the town centre

Complete assessment of on-street town centre space.
     

HCC Started June 2015

Page 40



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Summary Report

239298-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$IEVTCODV.DOCX

Page 26

Action 
(‘*’ indicates that this action is dependent on the 
outcome of earlier actions)

Timescale 
(Lighter shading indicates that the timescale is 
dependent on the outcome of earlier actions)

Responsibility for 
action 
(in addition to WBC)

Resources required 
(in addition to staff time), potential funding sources

Consult on proposed changes and design changes to taxi 
ranking.      

 Cost of any consultation materials
Standard funding for consultation

Implement changes to taxi ranking.
     

HCC Capital cost
Parking capital budget, HCC funding

T2: Improve signage to taxi ranks within the town centre

Review signage to taxi ranks.
    

 Section Head

Make any changes to taxi rank signage.
     

 Capital cost
Parking capital budget, HCC funding

Coach parking

Co1: Develop a coach drop off facility in the vicinity of the town centre and long stay coach parking

Scoping.
     

HCC Traffic Engineer look at Gade Avenyue and work with Intu 
Town Centre Manager

Detailed design, process for re-designating space for 
coaches.      

HCC  

Open the coach parking.
     

HCC Capital cost
S106 contributions, CIL

Freight vehicle parking, loading/unloading

F1: A pilot Delivery and Servicing Plan (DSP) for the council

Page 41



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Summary Report

239298-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$IEVTCODV.DOCX

Page 27

Action 
(‘*’ indicates that this action is dependent on the 
outcome of earlier actions)

Timescale 
(Lighter shading indicates that the timescale is 
dependent on the outcome of earlier actions)

Responsibility for 
action 
(in addition to WBC)

Resources required 
(in addition to staff time), potential funding sources

Assessment of current delivery and servicing practices, 
review of council business operations.      

including WBC 
procurement staff Started June 2015

Develop the interventions which will be included in the 
DSP.      

  

Implement the DSP.
     

  

Review the DSP.
     

  

Develop advice on DSPs for other organisations that are 
interested.      

  

Notes
CPE – Civil Parking Enforcement HCC – Hertfordshire County Council     NR – Network Rail                 WBC – Watford Borough Council     WHHT – West Hertfordshire Health Trust
CPO – car park operator LM – London Midland         TfL – Transport for London   WPS – Watford Parking Service

Page 42



Appendix A

Parking policies and objectives 
matrix

Key

Policy expected to contribute to realising this objective

Policy could contribute to realising this objective or include elements which would meet this objective

Page 43





                                                              Appendix 3

Watford Borough Council
Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00

Issue  | 15 July 2015

This report takes into account the particular 
instructions and requirements of our client.  

It is not intended for and should not be relied 
upon by any third party and no responsibility 
is undertaken to any third party.

Job number    238398-00

Ove Arup & Partners Ltd
13 Fitzroy Street
London
W1T 4BQ
United Kingdom
www.arup.com

Page 45



239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Document Verification

Job numberJob title Watford Parking Strategy
238398-00
File referenceDocument title Report

Document ref 239398-00
Revision Date Filename 20150130 draft Watford parking strategy.docx

Description First draft

Prepared by Checked by Approved by

Name Anne Clarke Susan Claris Susan Claris

Draft 1 30 Jan 
2015

Signature

Filename 20150708 Watford parking strategy final draft.docx
Description Final draft

Prepared by Checked by Approved by

Name Anne Clarke Susan Claris Susan Claris

Final draft 8 July 
2015

Signature

Filename 20150715 Watford parking strategy issue.docx
Description Issue

Prepared by Checked by Approved by

Name Anne Clarke Susan Claris Susan Claris

Issue 15 July 
2015

Signature

Filename
Description

Prepared by Checked by Approved by

Name

Signature

Issue Document Verification with Document 

Page 46



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Contents

Page

Executive Summary i

1 Introduction 1

2 Approach and Scope 1
2.1 Consultation 1
2.2 Historical parking policies 1
2.3 Scope 1

3 The Parking Strategy 1
3.1 Policy context 1
3.2 Studies which overlap with the Watford Parking Strategy 1
3.3 The local parking situation and problems, challenges and 

opportunities 1
3.4 Wider context 1
3.5 The parking strategy vision and objectives 1
3.6 Watford street type hierarchy 1

4 The Parking Policies 1
4.1 Street type matrix analysis 1
4.2 On-street space in the town centre 1
4.3 Car parking policies 1
4.4 Blue Badge car parking and Shopmobility policies 1
4.5 PTW parking policies 1
4.6 Cycle parking policies 1
4.7 Policies on taxi ranking and other taxi and private hire 

parking-related needs 1
4.8 Coach parking policies 1
4.9 Freight vehicle parking, loading and unloading policies 1
4.10 Multi-modal context 1
4.11 Working with partners 1
4.12 Future-proofing 1

5 The Parking Delivery Plan 1
5.1 Action Plan 1
5.2 Policy cost assessment 1
5.3 Potential funding sources for implementing parking strategy 

policies 1
5.4 Risks to delivering the parking strategy 1
5.5 Monitoring and review process 1

Page 47



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

5.6 Communication 1

Appendices

Appendix A
Stakeholder meetings

Appendix B
Summary of public consultation responses

Appendix C
Parking Design and Policy Guidance

Appendix D
Matrix of policies and objectives

 

Page 48



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page i

Executive Summary
The Watford Parking Strategy provides a framework and set of policies for 
parking in Watford. The parking strategy is multi-modal and covers car, bicycle, 
powered two wheeler (PTW), coach, taxi and freight parking and use of on-street 
space. The parking strategy framework will enable fair and objective-led decision-
making on all types of parking and use of on-street space now and in the future. 
The policies contained within the parking strategy address existing parking 
problems, challenges and opportunities.

The parking strategy is based on local, regional and national policy, stakeholder 
input and objectives from local policy and best practice guidance. The 
development of the parking strategy included stakeholder meetings, a public 
consultation questionnaire and meetings with Watford Borough and Hertfordshire 
County Council officers and Councillors. 

Key parking issues identified include: 

 The constrained space available in the town centre for different uses; 
 A lack of parking at key locations for Blue Badge holders, motorcycles and 

bicycles; 
 A lack of parking for coaches; 
 A lack of ranking and drop-off/pick-up space for the high number of taxis 

operating in Watford; 
 Significant scope for improvement for some of the town centre car parks in 

terms of overall quality and the pricing structure and payment methods 
available; 

 Constrained space for residential parking in several areas of Watford; 
 Constrained space for workplace parking at several locations in Watford; and
 Unwanted adverse effects of parking on other road users.

A key aspect of the parking strategy is the Watford street type hierarchy matrix, a 
framework for decision-making which has been based on work carried out for 
Transport for London by the Road’s Task Force,1 adapted for Watford. The street 
type hierarchy matrix will enable the classification of streets in Watford 
depending on their characteristics. This analysis will indicate what the priorities 
for each street should be and so what kind of policies for parking should be 
pursued on each street.

In addition to the Watford street type hierarchy matrix, a number of specific 
parking policies to address identified problems are included. The main parking 
policies which are included in the strategy are to:

 Optimise the use of space in the town centre (including the use of space for 
pedestrians, cyclists, buses, taxis, Blue Badge holders, freight and other 
vehicles) by applying the principles of the street type matrix;

1 Tfl. 2013. London’s street family: Theory and case studies [online]. Available from: 
https://www.tfl.gov.uk/corporate/about-tfl/how-we-work/planning-for-the-future/roads-task-
force/rtf-supporting-documents

Page 49

https://www.tfl.gov.uk/corporate/about-tfl/how-we-work/planning-for-the-future/roads-task-force/rtf-supporting-documents
https://www.tfl.gov.uk/corporate/about-tfl/how-we-work/planning-for-the-future/roads-task-force/rtf-supporting-documents


Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page ii

 Improve the existing car parking offer in the town centre;
 Identify and dedicate space for short stay town centre parking;
 Introduce modern payment methods in the town centre car parks and other 

pay-and-display locations;
 Continue reviewing options for the use of the multi-storey car parks;
 Ensure revenue generated from parking is used for transport;
 Develop a town-wide Travel Plan and other measures to relive pressure on 

workplace parking and generate other benefits from reduced peak car travel;
 Improve the residential parking situation;
 Improve Blue Badge parking provision;
 Increase cycle and PTW parking;
 Provide a secure cycle parking facility in the town centre;
 Pilot a scheme for implementing secure residential cycle parking;
 Improve taxi ranking and drop-off/pick-up facilities;
 Implement improvements to signage associated with different types of parking 

and taxi facilities;
 Provide coach parking facilities; and
 Pilot a Delivery and Servicing Plan within the Council.

A set of actions and targets for each policy has been developed. This will enable 
the objectives of the parking strategy to be met. It is intended that the parking 
strategy be regularly reviewed to ensure it remains up-to-date and relevant. A 
monitoring and review process has been developed which involves assessing 
progress against policy targets.

The Parking Delivery Plan also identifies potential funding sources and potential 
risks to the delivery of the Parking Strategy and provides an assessment of 
expected cost of implementing the policies. Most policies are low cost and so 
should be highly deliverable.

Table 7 from Section 4 (which lists all the parking policies in the parking 
strategy) is repeated below for reference.

A separate Watford Parking Strategy Summary Report has also been produced.

Page 50



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page iii

Table 1: Summary of parking policies
Mode for which 

the policy applies Policy

G1: Street type matrix analysisGeneral
(all modes) G2: On-street space in the town centre

Ca1: Improve the car parking offer in the town centre

Ca2: Formalise short-stay parking provision within the town centre

Ca3: Implement ‘pay-by-phone’ or similar modern payment system at pay 
and display locations within Watford

Ca4: Continue reviewing options for the multi-storey car parks

Ca5: Ensure car parking revenue is used to fund transport interventions

Ca6: Work with businesses to encourage employees to commute by 
alternative modes to ease parking pressure and congestion

Ca7: Improvements to parking in residential CPZs and residential parking 
in the town centre

Car

Ca8: Improvements to on-street parking outside the town centre

BB1: Improve Blue Badge parking offer in the town centre

BB2: Improve Blue Badge parking offer in other key locationsBlue Badge and 
Shopmobility

BB3: Improvements to access to Shopmobility Watford

P1: Increase PTW parking at key locations and review existing parking
PTW

P2: Improved signage/information provision on parking for PTW users

Cy1: Increase short stay cycle parking at key locations

Cy2: Develop a secure long-stay cycle parking facility in the town centre

Cy3: Provide small-scale secure cycle parking at relevant locations
Cycle

Cy4: Pilot secure residential cycle parking provision

T1: Optimise taxi rank and drop-off/pick-up facility provision in line with 
other changes in the town centreTaxi
T2: Improve signage to taxi ranks within the town centre

Coach Co1: Develop a coach drop off facility in the vicinity of the town centre 
and long stay coach parking

Freight vehicles F1: A pilot Delivery and Servicing Plan (DSP) for the council

Page 51



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 1

1 Introduction
Arup was commissioned by Watford Borough Council to develop a parking 
strategy for the borough in September 2014. This follows the production of a 
Parking Strategy Scoping Study which assessed the parking situation in Watford, 
the need for a parking strategy and the form the parking strategy and the process 
for its development should take. The Parking Strategy Scoping Study proposed 
that the parking strategy should be multimodal (car, bicycle, coach, taxi, freight 
etc.) because of the interrelationship between the different types of parking and 
that all types of parking (residential, workplace, retail, leisure as well as parking at 
other facilities such as parks and the hospital) should be covered in the strategy. 

The starting point for the development of the parking strategy was the Watford 
Borough Council Local Plan Core Strategy (adopted in 2013) which stated that 
the current parking strategy should be updated.

The parking strategy includes the following sections: 

 Section 2 outlines the approach to the development of the parking strategy 
as well as its scope;

 Section 3 outlines the parking strategy, focusing on the policy context, 
local parking situation and strategy vision and objectives;

 Section 4 sets out the policies for parking to enable the strategy to be 
realised, including the monitoring and review process for the strategy; and

 Section 5 sets out the delivery plan for the strategy.

In addition, four appendices provide supplementary information:

 Appendix A provides information about stakeholder meetings;

 Appendix B presents public consultation results;

 Appendix C outlines best practice guidance for the different types of 
parking; and

 Appendix D includes a matrix of parking policies and objectives.

A separate Watford Parking Strategy Summary Report has also been produced.

Page 52



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 2

2 Approach and Scope
The development of the parking strategy was based on four key principles:

 The importance of involving stakeholders early on in the process of 
developing the strategy in order to maximise the effectiveness of the 
strategy;

 The recognition that parking in Watford has a long history and that the 
parking situation in Watford has been shaped over time by other policies; 

 The recognition of the need for the strategy to consider the parking 
situation holistically and to recognise the interrelationship between 
parking and other land uses and parking and travel patterns; and

 That the purpose of the strategy document is to provide a framework for 
more detailed decisions.

2.1 Consultation
A key part of the development of the parking strategy was consultation with 
stakeholder representatives, the general public and officers from the Borough and 
County Councils. The parking strategy was also discussed at the Highway Forum 
(which is made up of Council Members from both the Borough and County 
Council) held on Tuesday 9th December 2014. 

2.1.1 Meetings with stakeholder representatives
A range of stakeholders was consulted to inform the development of the strategy 
(a full list is provided at Appendix A). Face to face ‘surgery-style’ meetings were 
held to get feedback, insight and suggestions on the different types of parking in 
Watford and have shaped several of the strategy policies and objectives.

2.1.2 Public consultation
An online public consultation survey was carried out to gain feedback from the 
general public on parking in Watford. The survey included questions on parking 
for different transport modes and questions on other topics related to accessing the 
town centre including wayfinding, taxi ranks and bus stops. The consultation was 
open for three weeks from 18 November 2014 and around 250 people responded. 
A summary of results can be found at Appendix B.

2.1.3 Meeting with Borough and County Council officers, the 
Watford Parking Services and parking enforcement 
operator (Vinci)

A meeting with officers of Watford Borough Council and Hertfordshire County 
Council, the Watford Parking Services and Vinci (the parking enforcement 
operator for Watford) was held to discuss the parking situation in Watford. This 
meeting also provided insight from the two Councils’ perspectives on the parking 
situation in Watford. 

Page 53



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 3

2.2 Historical parking policies
Parking policy in Watford is mature. Controlled Parking Zones were first 
introduced in 1996-7. Parking in Controlled Parking Zones (CPZs) is limited to 
certain vehicles at the times the zone is in operation. Watford now has 15 CPZs, 
one of which operates on match days only and six of which operate from Monday 
to Saturday and on match days.

The provision of parking in Watford has been influenced by parking policies 
which have changed over time. Since 2000, when the Watford District Plan was 
approved, maximum, demand-based car parking standards have been applied 
using a zonal system based on accessibility and proximity to local shopping 
facilities. Prior to this, guidelines had set minimum as well as maximum standards 
for car parking. Parking standards are now being reviewed as part of the 
development of Local Plan Part 2. This proposes maximum car parking standards 
and parking restraint factors for non-residential development based on 
accessibility. Minimum standards for residential developments outside of the 
controlled parking zones are proposed with the option of providing parking below 
this level if car club spaces and vehicles are provided.

Parking provision has also been influenced by the development of building stock 
in Watford. For example, most housing in West Watford is terraced and was built 
before car ownership and so on-street parking space is very limited, whereas in 
North Watford driveway parking is often available in front of semi-detached 
housing which was built more recently. This creates a different parking situation 
in different parts of Watford meaning that the parking strategy must be flexible to 
these different circumstances.

2.3 Scope
The parking strategy covers all types of parking and related kerbside activities 
where relevant. It covers parking for all the modes of transport which require 
parking (car, bicycle, powered two wheelers [PTWs],2 taxi, coach, servicing 
vehicles) and parking for different land uses (residential, retail, leisure, business). 
It does not cover parking standards for new development which are being 
developed separately as part of the Local Plan Part 2. However, the parking 
strategy includes detail on the objectives which these parking standards should 
aim to achieve.

2 Motorcycles, mopeds and scooters

Page 54



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 4

3 The Parking Strategy
This section sets out the policy context, an overview of other studies which have 
an overlap with this Watford Parking Strategy, the local parking situation 
(including problems, challenges and opportunities for the different types of 
parking the strategy covers) and the vision and objectives of the parking strategy.

Parking is a means to an end and should not be considered in isolation but in 
association with the factors which generate parking demand.  Therefore, the 
strategy is not intended to work independently from other policies but rather can 
only work effectively through integration with other policies (such as transport 
policies which enable an increased use of sustainable modes).

3.1 Policy context
Policy related to parking exists at national, regional and local level. The 
overarching policy is the National Planning and Policy Framework which was 
published by the Department for Communities and Local Government in 2012.

3.1.1 National policy context
In relation to town centre parking, the National Planning and Policy Framework 
(NPPF, DCLG, 2012) states that:

“Local authorities should seek to improve the quality of parking in town centres 
so that it is convenient, safe and secure, including appropriate provision for 
motorcycles. They should set appropriate parking charges that do not undermine 
the vitality of town centres. Parking enforcement should be proportionate.”

In relation to local parking standards, NPPF states that:

“If setting local parking standards for residential and non-residential development, 
local planning authorities should take into account:

 The accessibility of the development;
 The type, mix and use of development;
 The availability of and opportunities for public transport;
 Local car ownership levels; and
 An overall need to reduce the use of high-emission vehicles.”

In March 2015, the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 
released Planning Update: Written statement HCWS488 (DCLG, 2015). This 
statement supplements the NPPF guidance and states that:

 “Local Planning authorities should only impose local parking standards for 
residential and non-residential development where there is clear and compelling 
justification that it is necessary to manage their local road network.”

The statement also refers to an update to the DCLG Planning Practice Guidance 
web-based resource; this amendment clarifies that planning permission is not 

Page 55



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 5

needed for renting out parking spaces as long as doing so does not amount to a 
material change of use and as long as there are no other planning considerations.3 

This guidance is given within the broader context of the overall aim for transport 
policy of encouraging greater use of sustainable modes of transport.

In December 2013 the Department for Transport published a Consultation on 
local authority parking (DfT, 2013) document which stated that local authority 
parking strategies should:

 Be fair and reasonable;
 Be linked to local objectives and circumstances; 
 Take account of planning policies and transport powers;
 Consider the needs of the many and various road users in the area;
 Consider the appropriate scale and type of provision;
 Consider the balance between short and long term provision; and
 Consider the level of charges.

The Response to consultation on local authority parking (DfT, 2014) was 
published by the Department for Transport in June 2014. It outlines both the 
consultation responses and the government position on each of the foci of the 
consultation. Key planned changes include:

 Making changes so that local residents and firms can make their council 
review parking, including the provision of parking, parking charges and 
the use of yellow lines;

 Banning CCTV parking enforcement in legislation through the 
Deregulation Bill (currently before Parliament), except in circumstances 
where a vehicle is:

­ Stopped in restricted areas outside a school; 

­ Stopped (where prohibited) on a red route; 

­ Parked (where prohibited) in a bus lane; or

­ Stopped on a restricted bus stop or stand.

 Introducing a mandatory 10 minute free period at the end of paid-for and 
free on-street parking either through amendments to statutory guidance or 
regulations, with plans to also extend this to local authority off-street 
parking;

 Widening the power of parking adjudicators;

 Updating the guidance on costs related to appeals to “make it clearer what 
provisions there are available to the public”; 

3 DCLG. 2015. Para. 15: Is planning permission required to rent out a parking space? In: When is 
permission required? Planning Policy Guidance [online]. Available from: 
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/when-is-permission-required/what-
is-development/ 

Page 56

http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/when-is-permission-required/what-is-development/
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/when-is-permission-required/what-is-development/


Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 6

 Amending guidance to make it clear that motorists parking at an out-of-
order meter should not be issued a penalty charge where there are no 
alternative ways to pay; and

 Piloting a 25% discount for motorists who lose an appeal at tribunal level 
with a local authority, as recommended by the Transport Select 
Committee.

Some of these changes have been implemented in the updates to Operational 
guidance to local authorities: parking policy and enforcement (DfT, 2015) and 
Civil enforcement of parking contraventions (DfT, 2015). This includes the limit 
to CCTV parking enforcement outlined above, the introduction of a 10 minute 
‘grace period’ and guidance on out-of-order meters.

Operational guidance to local authorities: parking policy and enforcement (DfT, 
2015) sets out the policy framework for local authorities for setting and enforcing 
parking policies. The guidance includes requirements from the statutory guidance 
issued under section 87 of the 2004 Traffic Management Act4 which must be 
complied with as well as procedures which have been recommended by 
government. The guidance document is extensive (nearly 200 pages including 
appendices) and covers the following topics:

 Objectives of civil enforcement;
 Appraising, ensuring the effectiveness of and reporting on civil parking 

enforcement;
 Consultation and communication with the public;
 Training and professionalism in civil parking enforcement;
 Choice and certification of devices for camera enforcement;
 Enforcement;
 Exemptions, waivers and dispensations;
 Policy and administrative functions;
 Challenges, representations and appeals;
 Key criteria when applying for the power to enforce parking regulations;
 What an authority should do before taking on parking enforcement power;
 Financial assessment; and
 Application for a CEA designation order.

Civil enforcement of parking contraventions (DfT, 2015) sets out the policy 
framework for civil parking enforcement and constitutes statutory guidance under 
section 87 of the 2004 Traffic Management Act. It is broadly a summary of the 
civil enforcement sections of the more extensive Civil enforcement of parking 
contraventions (DfT, 2015). Authorities must have regard to the guidance when 
exercising their functions.

4 DfT. 2008. Traffic Management Act 2004: The Secretary of State’s statutory guidance to local
authorities on the civil enforcement of parking contraventions [online]. Available from: 
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120904033926/http://assets.dft.gov.uk/publications/t
ma-part-6-cpe-statutory-guidance/betterprkstatutoryguid.pdf 

Page 57

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120904033926/http://assets.dft.gov.uk/publications/tma-part-6-cpe-statutory-guidance/betterprkstatutoryguid.pdf
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120904033926/http://assets.dft.gov.uk/publications/tma-part-6-cpe-statutory-guidance/betterprkstatutoryguid.pdf


Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 7

3.1.2 Regional Policy Context
Hertfordshire’s third Local Transport Plan LTP3 (Hertfordshire County Council, 
2011) sets out the transport strategy for Hertfordshire to 2031. Parking-related 
policies within LTP3 include:

 Giving consideration to “providing power sockets for electric vehicles at 
selected car parks to facilitate operation of such vehicles in the county”; 
and

 Encouraging “the provision of adequate and secure parking facilities for 
powered two-wheelers”.

 Other related policies include restricting parking along urban main 
distributor roads, implementing and enforcing parking restrictions to 
facilitate access to commercial premises, a number of lorry-specific 
parking restrictions, and “preventing vehicles parking so as to impede the 
footway” to encourage walking.

The statement of commitment to LTP3 from Watford Borough Council within 
Volume 1 of LTP3 (the Strategy Document) includes operating “a parking policy 
which aims to discourage car use by limiting the availability of town centre 
parking”.

Hertfordshire County Council’s Active Travel Strategy (HCC, 2013) states the 
importance of providing secure cycle parking (especially at key trip locations) in 
order to make active travel viable and perceived to be so.

The Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership Strategic Economic Plan 
(Hertfordshire LEP, 2014) includes a ‘Watford Urban Futures’ transport package: 
“a package of travel choice measures to assist employees with low cost travel 
alternatives to access key areas of growth and employment in Watford”. The 
Hertfordshire Growth Deal (Cabinet Office, July 2014) includes funding for 
Watford Business Park pedestrian and cycle access enhancements among other 
transport schemes for the M1/M25 growth area. There is a general focus on travel 
choice enhancement (as well as targeted congestion reduction), which will 
enhance opportunities for travel by non-car modes and reduce the demand for car 
parking.

3.1.3 Local Policy Context
Watford Borough Council’s Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy (WBC, 2013) 
suggested the following elements should be included as part of a car parking 
strategy:

 Restricting the amount of car parking which is part of new development;
 Reviewing public car parking charges;
 Restricting on-street parking through the use of Controlled Parking Zones; 

and
 Investigating the possibility of using out of centre car parks to provide 

mini-park and ride sites.

These elements were reviewed during the strategy development process. It was 
decided that car parking standards (which control the amount of parking allowed 

Page 58



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 8

or required at new developments) would be separately developed as part of the 
Local Plan Part 2. Public car parking charges have been reviewed in the 
development of the strategy and policies relating to public car parking are set out 
in Section 4, as are overarching policies for CPZ areas. The possibility of using 
out of centre car parks to provide mini-park and ride sites was examined but no 
suitable sites were identified. Therefore, this policy has not been included in this 
Watford Parking Strategy on the basis that it could be reintroduced in future if 
suitable sites were identified or a suitable operating model using sites outside the 
borough boundaries was developed.

Watford Borough Council’s Local Plan Part 2 includes the proposed policies and 
site allocations to support the delivery of the Core Strategy vision and objectives. 
The second consultation on Local Plan Part 2 opened on 17 December 2014 and 
closes on 4 February 2015. Proposed car parking standards include maximum 
standards for the majority of land uses, with minimum standards proposed for 
residential land uses in non-Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) i.e. less central areas. 
Residents of new developments in CPZ areas will not be permitted to purchase 
parking permits, to prevent an increase in pressure on on-street parking as a result 
of new residential developments. Car-free developments in CPZ areas will be 
acceptable in principle. Dedicated car club spaces will be required at 
developments proposed in non-CPZ areas where car parking provision below the 
minimum standard is proposed. Residential developments in Special Policy Areas 
(SPAs) where more than 20 car parking spaces are proposed will also be expected 
to make provision for car clubs. Table 2 shows the proposed standards for 
residential land uses.

Table 2: Proposed residential car parking standards for Watford borough
Size of property Within CPZ (maximum 

provision)
Outside CPZ (minimum 
provision)

1 & 2 bedroom 1.25 spaces 1.25 spaces

3+ bedroom 2.25 spaces 2.25 spaces

Standards for electric vehicle charging points are also proposed. Charging points 
will be expected at residential developments providing dedicated parking. Table 3 
sets out the standards proposed for electric vehicle charging points at non-
residential developments. The proposed standards equate to electric vehicle 
charging facilities for 2% of car parking spaces where more than 20 car parking 
spaces are being provided.

Table 3: Proposed standards for electric vehicle charging points for Watford 
borough
Number of car parking spaces Number of electric vehicle charging points

0-20 spaces No provision

20-50 spaces 1 charging point

50-100 spaces 2 charging points

Every additional 50 spaces 1 additional charging point

The Local Plan Part 2 also proposes cycle parking standards for different land 
uses which are split into long stay and short stay provision.

Page 59



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 9

3.1.4 Policy summary
The key policy objectives across national, regional and local levels of policy are, 
very broadly: 

 Promoting sustainable transport, including low emission vehicles; 
 Improving sustainable travel networks;
 Reducing the need to travel;
 Reducing congestion and making the transport network resilient; 
 Making best use of the existing network through the use of intelligent 

transport systems (ITS) and targeted improvements where necessary e.g. to 
support development;

 Reducing the negative impacts of transport on the economy, environment, 
health and quality of life;

 Supporting economic growth; and
 Promoting equality of opportunity and improved [sustainable] 

accessibility. 

Policy objectives specifically for parking include:

 Providing adequate high quality town centre parking provision (including 
for the mobility impaired, cycles and powered two wheelers);

 Providing charging points for electric vehicles; and

 Parking standards which are flexible to local circumstances (within a 
broader context of restricting developments which generate significant 
movements to accessible locations, providing mitigating measures to 
address problems arising from parking demand, and using Travel Plans to 
manage movement and encourage use of sustainable transport modes).

3.2 Studies which overlap with the Watford Parking 
Strategy

3.2.1 The Watford Town Centre Multi Modal Review (HCC, 
2014)

In 2014 HCC produced a Watford Town Centre Multi Modal Review. The review 
assessed the provision of disabled on-street parking, cycle parking, bus stops, taxi 
ranks and loading bays and dropped kerbs/other pedestrian provision in light of 
existing proposals which will affect the use of on-street space in the town centre 
(such as the proposed contraflow cycle lanes in the town centre).

The review makes specific recommendations in relation to potential relocations of 
parking, loading and taxi ranking facilities in response to planned changes in the 
town centre as well as proposing locations for new covered cycle parking. 

Page 60



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 10

3.2.2 Taxi Review for Watford Borough Council (Douglas 
Brodie Ltd, 2014) and subsequent reports

The Taxi Review recommended taking advantage of opportunities to increase taxi 
ranking in Watford town centre due to the lack of taxi ranking facilities at present. 
Subsequently, a proposal for alterations to loading bays has been consulted on 
informally and a survey of the King Street loading bay (one of the potential 
locations for taxi ranking at certain times of day) has been carried out. This survey 
concluded that this loading bay would need to be retained as a loading bay during 
daytime hours (until 5pm).

3.2.3 Working with partners
WBC will work with HCC and other partners to progress the schemes within the 
Watford Town Centre Multi Modal Review, the Taxi Review and this Watford 
Parking Strategy in tandem, to ensure a synergy between the schemes being 
implemented and a shared overall approach to the designation of space in Watford 
town centre. 

3.3 The local parking situation and problems, 
challenges and opportunities

Some areas of parking are already performing well whilst other areas could be 
improved. The various parking problems, challenges and opportunities are set out 
in the following sections. For each type of parking, the problems, challenges and 
opportunities have been assessed for significance (see key presented in Table 4). 
Opportunities include both things which could be acted on immediately as well as 
things that could be taken advantage of at a later date.

The majority of parking provision across Watford is for cars rather than for other 
modes such as bicycles and PTWs. Within the town centre over 5,000 public car 
parking spaces are available. Further car parking is provided at supermarkets, 
retail/business parks, workplaces, parks, the hospital and other key locations. 
Controlled or uncontrolled on-street car parking exists on the majority of 
Watford’s streets; this is used primarily for residential parking. There is a limited 
number of roads where on-street car parking is not available (generally the main 
routes into and through Watford).

Table 4: Key to colour coding classification of parking problems, challenges and 
opportunities
Section Colour Meaning

Significant problem
Problems

Moderate or minor problem

Significant challenge
Challenges

Moderate or minor challenge

Significant opportunity

Opportunities Moderate opportunity or 
opportunity with greater 
potential in future

Page 61



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 11

On-street space in the town centre – existing 
situation

Overview The space in the town centre is used for bus stops, cycle lanes, taxi 
ranks, loading bays, disabled parking, short stay pay and display parking, 
general carriageway and footway/pedestrian space. Several competing 
demands on this space exist.

There is a lack of space to meet the demands of all users.

Blue Badge holders have problems parking on-street in the town centre 
at times.

The timing of bay designations is confusing.

The space which could be used for taxi ranking is limited.

Problems

Parking obstructs bus movements in the town centre.

There is limited space and it is not possible to meet all users’ needs fully 
and so compromise is necessary.Challenges

A contra-flow cycle lane along the High Street and Lower High Street is 
planned, which will reduce the space available for taxi ranking and Blue 
Badge parking along this alignment

A user hierarchy approach can ensure that space is allocated fairly and as 
efficiently as possible and that the most essential needs (that cannot be 
met through alternative locations or arrangements) are met adequately.

On-street space in the town centre is being reconfigured to implement 
the contra-flow cycle lane along the High Street and Lower High Street. 
This presents an opportunity for further changes to be implemented 
alongside these changes.

Opportunities

Improving the public realm by managing parking has economic benefits.

Page 62



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 12

Town centre car parking – existing situation

Overview Watford town centre has over 5,000 car parking spaces, the majority of 
which are provided in multi-storey car parks. Three of the multi-storey 
car parks are controlled by Intu and have direct access into the Intu 
Watford shopping centre, whilst the remaining three are controlled by 
the Council. Two surface car parks are available in the town centre area, 
The Avenue car park and Town Hall car park, which is only open to the 
general public outside of the Council’s opening hours. A limited amount 
of on-street pay and display car parking is available around the town 
centre. Figure 1 shows the location of car parking in Watford town 
centre.
During the week car park demand is well below capacity with only 
around half of spaces at multi-storey car parks filled during the day. The 
car parks are much more utilised at weekends and especially during busy 
times of year (such as in the run up to Christmas) due to Watford’s 
substantial catchment area for shopping.

The non-Intu car parks are poor quality and badly maintained which 
means that car parks users have an unpleasant experience (especially at 
night time) and the first impressions for people accessing Watford by car 
and using these car parks is poor. 

The pricing structure does not encourage evening visits to Watford or 
longer visits to Watford.

The payment methods are not user-friendly or time-efficient and can lead 
to people queuing to leave the car parks.

There is insufficient signage to and from the parking both on the roads 
for people going to the car parks and in the town centre for people 
returning to the car parks.  

The town centre car parks are very close to the town centre and the 
majority are accessed from the ring road, which means that everyone 
travelling to the town centre by car makes use of the road network right 
in the central area. This creates problems related to the number of cars 
on the roads. Also, the need to maintain the existing road network to 
enable this movement conflicts with aspirations to make the urban 
environment around the town centre less car-centric.

Problems

The multi-storey car parks are not well-utilised on weekdays but 
capacity is more heavily utilised at peak times such as at the weekend in 
the run up to Christmas.

Challenges The Council is limited in what can be achieved in relation to town centre 
car parking because not all car parks are controlled by the Council.

The Council has started a new contract with a car park operator which 
includes the refurbishment of the three multi-storey car parks it now 
controls. 

Technology to streamline the payment process (such as pay by phone) is 
available.

Opportunities

Control of three of the multi-storey car parks will enable some 
management of town centre parking by the Council.

Page 63



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 13

Figure 1: Town centre car parks5 

5 WBC. 2013. Car parks in Watford [map]. Available from: 
http://www.watford.gov.uk/ccm/content/parking/watford-car-parks.en 

Page 64

http://www.watford.gov.uk/ccm/content/parking/watford-car-parks.en


Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 14

Residential car parking – existing situation

Overview Many of the residential streets in Watford are controlled by CPZs which 
restrict the vehicles that can park in them. CPZs have been implemented to 
give priority to residents and to prevent nuisance parking from non-
residents e.g. commuters, football supporters or those wanting to park to 
reach destinations such as the station or town centre. A review of CPZs 
was carried out in 2013. Except for minor alterations to the operating 
hours of existing CPZs the Council Cabinet resolved that CPZ controls 
relating to operating hours, permits, visitor vouchers and vehicle size 
restrictions should remain unchanged. 
Figure 2 shows the locations of CPZs in Watford.
Many of the residential streets in Watford are narrow and have no off-
street parking. In these locations there is high demand for parking space 
which can exceed supply.

In several residential streets there is a lack of parking space.Problems
Amendments to CPZs can be controversial. There is not a complete 
consensus among residents on any particular street as to whether or not a 
CPZ should be implemented or retained. 

There is limited space available for parking on many residential roads in 
Watford.Challenges

Optimising use of space, especially in CPZs, is challenging.

The CPZ system is already well-established in Watford.

There are opportunities to make residential parking more flexible for other 
uses at off-peak times of day e.g. for people to access local shops.

Residential parking standards can ensure new developments are ‘future-
proofed’ by ensuring adequate parking provision is made for low-emission 
vehicles, bicycles and powered two wheelers.

Opportunities

In future there may be an opportunity to introduce a residential car club 
which would enable lower car ownership.

Page 65



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 15

Figure 2: Controlled Parking Zones6

6 WBC. 2013. Controlled Parking Zones in Watford [map]. Available from: 
http://www.watford.gov.uk/ccm/content/parking/watford-controlled-parking-zones-map.en 

Page 66

http://www.watford.gov.uk/ccm/content/parking/watford-controlled-parking-zones-map.en


Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 16

Workplace car parking – existing situation

Overview High demand for workplace parking is a problem for many businesses in 
Watford. Private non-residential parking (especially where it is provided 
free, as it typically is at workplaces) is also responsible for encouraging 
travel by car and therefore contributes to the negative effects of car travel 
including congestion, pollution and severance. Encouraging employees to 
travel by alternative modes (and to take up other travel behaviours which 
are more sustainable than single occupancy car use, such as car sharing) 
has benefits both for businesses and society as a whole. 

Free workplace parking encourages travel by car causing congestion and 
other negative impacts.Problems

Many employers have problems with over-subscribed parking.

The Council cannot control workplace car parking.Challenges
Balancing the provision of adequate parking for expected growth whilst 
using parking as a travel demand management tool is challenging.

Business interests in Watford are keen for solutions to the problem of 
demand exceeding capacity for this type of parking.

A town-wide Travel Plan could be developed to strategically work with 
businesses to reduce unnecessary car travel and increase the efficiency of 
car travel (e.g. through car sharing) which would reduce associated 
parking problems.

Opportunities

‘Park and pedal’ (which operates like park and ride but with users cycling 
instead of using a bus) could be an option for reducing peak hour 
congestion and encouraging mode shift, if a suitable location could be 
found. This scheme has been introduced in York.7

7 See: http://www.itravelyork.info/park-and-ride/cycling-with-park-and-ride 

Page 67

http://www.itravelyork.info/park-and-ride/cycling-with-park-and-ride


Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 17

Parking outside local shops – existing situation

Overview There are several local shopping streets outside of Watford town centre, 
most of which have some on-street parking for shoppers.

The two key problems with parking outside local shops are highly 
interlinked: 

 People wanting to park outside local shops have problems 
related to the limited availability of parking; and

 People parking inconsiderately or dangerously because parking 
spaces are not available cause problems for other road users. 

Where parking is charged for the cash payment method is considered to 
be inconvenient. 

Deliveries are perceived to create safety risks for other road users. 

Problems

On streets with high traffic flow (e.g. St Albans Road), parking to access 
the shops delays vehicle movement.

There is limited space available outside local shops for providing 
parking.

Many local shops are in residential areas where CPZs are in operation 
which makes providing customer parking more challenging.

Challenges

According to consultation responses, most parking enforcement takes 
place during the day but it is in the evening when parking problems 
related to people parking outside local shops are most common.

There are opportunities to change the time limits of existing parking 
(both parking for shopping and CPZ parking) to increase its availability 
for people wanting to use local shops.

There are opportunities to improve the layout of parking outside local 
shops so that it is used more efficiently e.g. by marking out bays.

Changing the time limits of existing parking could enable more efficient 
parking enforcement.

Opportunities

Providing more high quality cycle parking outside local shops would 
support local businesses and would encourage people to do local 
shopping trips by bicycle instead of car which could ease pressure on car 
parking.

Page 68



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 18

Blue Badge parking – existing situation

Overview Within the town centre Blue Badge parking is available on the High 
Street. Designated Blue Badge parking bays are also available in the 
multi-storey and surface car parks. Parking charges are applicable in the 
car parks but a car park concessionary scheme (exempting the pass-
holder from parking charges) is available for Blue Badge holders who 
are in receipt of income-related benefits who either live or work in 
Watford, at a cost of £10 per annum.

A lack of spaces at key locations: 
 The High Street
 The stations
 The hospital
 The main library
 The mosques 
 Various local shopping locations. 

The distance between Shopmobility and on-street parking locations was 
perceived to be a problem by Blue Badge holders.

Access to Watford Junction parking for Blue Badge holders is poor. 

Bay designations (especially of dual use bays) causes confusion. 

The limitation of the concessionary car park pass scheme to Watford 
residents and employees only was perceived to be a disadvantage for 
non-Watford residents with disabilities.

A number of non-Blue Badge holders felt that there was too much Blue 
Badge parking in the High Street which detracted from the pedestrian-
only environment.

Insufficient parking in some areas of the High St (e.g. outside banks, 
lower High St). 

Problems

The Blue Badge bays in The Avenue car park are not utilised due to 
being in an inaccessible location.

There is only limited space to provide for all road users’ needs including 
Blue Badge holders.Challenges

The extension of contraflow cycle facilities along High Street/Lower 
High Street will further reduce the space which is currently available for 
Blue Badge parking.

There are opportunities to improve the parking situation in the town 
centre for Blue Badge holders and other users by applying a hierarchy to 
determine how kerbside space should be used. 

There are opportunities to make the time designations of shared use bays 
clearer.

There are opportunities to use the Blue Badge bays in The Avenue car 
park for alternative uses and provide equivalent Blue Badge parking in a 
more suitable location.

Opportunities

The Council control of Church, Gade and Sutton multi-storey car parks 
provides opportunities to increase or redesign disabled parking bays in 
these car parks. 

Page 69



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 19

Shopmobility Watford – existing situation

Overview Shopmobility Watford loans manual and battery powered wheelchairs 
and scooters free of charge to people with mobility problems. It enables 
people with mobility problems to access local amenities in the town 
centre which they might otherwise struggle to access. Users arrive by 
bus, taxi or car. 
There are currently 15 allocated car parking spaces for Shopmobility 
users within Church car park. The spaces are managed to ensure that 
only Shopmobility Watford customers use them. The provision of 
parking spaces is generally adequate for Shopmobility Watford’s service 
users (it can get busy at certain times of year such as in the lead up to 
Christmas).
Shopmobility receives funding from Watford Borough Council but also 
raises a substantial part of their income through fundraising activities 
which allows them to offer the service for free to their customers.

Problems The safety of the pedestrian access route is compromised by some cars 
failing to stop at the traffic light within the car park which has been 
implemented for this purpose.

Challenges Shopmobility Watford could have a higher profile within Watford and be 
better publicised so more people know about its services.

Opportunities The Council control of Church multi-storey car park is an opportunity to 
improve the pedestrian access route to Shopmobility Watford.

Page 70



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 20

Other car parking problems, challenges and 
opportunities – existing situation

Overview There is a number of other problems, challenges and opportunities 
related to car parking which does not fall under any of the above 
categories. 

The free movement of buses is obstructed by parking (both legal and 
illegal). This is particularly the case in the town centre and for routes 
through West Watford, where there is often insufficient space for two 
buses to pass each other or for a bus to pass general traffic travelling in 
the opposite direction. This impacts on bus service quality and the ability 
of buses to keep to time and provide an efficient service. This is a 
particular problem at peak times where there is more traffic on the road. 
This will impact upon the attractiveness of bus services which could 
encourage greater car use, exacerbating the situation.

The demand for parking at the hospital exceeds supply and there is not 
an availability of on-street parking space in the area surrounding the 
hospital because it is a CPZ. 

The Colosseum was aware of customers who considered the distance 
from The Colosseum to the multi-storey car parking in the town centre 
too great. Social safety concerns in relation to returning to the car parks 
from evening performances had been raised. 

There is a lack of parking for coaches and tour vehicles available in 
Watford.

Problems

Parking and car use have negative impacts on society, the environment 
and the economy (e.g. through the costs of congestion). Infrastructure for 
cars (including car parks as well as road infrastructure) is 
environmentally intrusive and creates access and severance problems for 
those travelling by alternative modes.

Car is the dominant mode of travel and people expect facilities to be 
provided accordingly.

Some of the routes buses take are down residential streets; it would be 
challenging to alter car parking arrangements to improve bus 
movements.

Challenges

There is limited space available for parking provision at the hospital.

Managing on-street parking can improve the public realm which has 
economic benefits.

Providing parking for alternative modes such as bicycles would benefit 
buses and other road users by enabling and encouraging mode shift away 
from car travel.

There are opportunities to improve bus routes by altering parking 
arrangements to ensure the free movement of buses is possible. For 
example, in West Watford it might be possible to make some streets one-
way and/or introduce contraflow bus lanes. This could help to maximise 
parking space available as well as helping buses. There may be options 
to introduce ‘red routes’ in some areas to prevent vehicles stopping at the 
kerbside to provide free movement for buses and other vehicles.

Opportunities

The new Watford Health Campus will improve parking provision as well 
as improving the provision for accessing the hospital via alternative 
modes of transport. This will include green routes for pedestrians and 
cyclists, the Croxley Rail Link (with a station ten minutes’ walk from the 
hospital) and potentially increased bus services to the hospital. This 
should alleviate existing parking problems in this area.

Page 71



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 21

Powered Two Wheeler (PTW) parking 
(motorcycles, mopeds and scooters)– existing 
situation

Overview Within the town centre are six motorcycle parks, providing a total of 37 
spaces. Ten of these spaces are limited to a maximum one hour stay time. 
Free motorcycle parking is also available in bays in The Avenue car park 
and Town Hall car park (during public opening hours).

Very little PTW parking is available overall and especially in the town 
centre and at Watford Junction station. 

PTW users noted a lack of signage and information provision related to 
the PTW parking facilities in Watford. 

Problems

Security concerns with some of the existing PTW parking were also 
raised.

Challenges Currently PTWs cannot park in the multi-storey car parks but the majority 
of parking space is located in the multi-storey car parks.

Two of the key problems with existing PTW parking (signage and 
security) are relatively straightforward to improve.

Watford has a lot of space allocated to car parking which means that there 
should be scope to increase PTW parking provision by reallocating car 
parking space to PTW parking space.

PTW parking is more space efficient than car parking.

Opportunities

Several of the multi-storey car parks are now council-controlled and so 
there may be greater scope to introduce PTW parking in these car parks.

Page 72



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 22

Cycle parking – existing situation

Overview Most public cycle parking is provided in the form of Sheffield stands, 
with several stands in the town centre and at key trip attractors such as 
Watford Junction station. 

Insufficient spaces in key locations:
 The town centre 
 The stations 
 Local shopping streets such as St Albans Road
 Employment areas including Watford Business Park
 Key leisure facilities such as Watford’s parks, green spaces and 

sports facilities

Security concerns and problems with thefts – a problem for existing 
cyclists and a major deterrent to higher cycling levels in Watford.

Problems

Abandoned bicycles (this also exacerbates the lack of cycle parking 
spaces in some locations).

Some areas where demand for cycle parking exceeds supply are not 
under Watford Borough Council’s control (e.g. Watford Junction station 
and the business parks). 

Challenges

There is no clear responsibility or existing system for managing security 
features such as CCTV coverage of cycle parking and if these were 
implemented this would need to be addressed.

It is relatively easy and cheap to install more cycle parking.

Many locations where there is a demand for more cycle parking easily 
have enough space to install more parking without affecting other users 
e.g. on the High Street.

Good best practice design guidance on cycle parking is already available.

Provision of cycle parking at bus stops could encourage integrated bus 
and bicycle journeys.

Problems with car parking demand on industrial estates are an incentive 
to install cycle parking.

The Council’s Sports Facilities Strategy is an opportunity to ensure 
cycle parking is included at sports facilities.

Secure residential cycle parking for properties without storage facilities 
could be piloted at Council/Housing Association Estates.

There may be an opportunity to install a Brompton dock at Watford 
Junction.8 

Opportunities

There are opportunities to take advantage of innovative designs for 
secure cycle parking in Watford. For example, swipe card-operated cycle 
parking which is more secure and makes carrying a bicycle lock 
unnecessary9 or an automated parking system.10

8 See http://www.bromptonbikehire.com/about-us/ 
9 See 
http://www.bikeoff.org/design_resource/dr_PDF/dr_facilities_transport_finsburypark_short.pdf 
10 See http://www.falco.co.uk/products/advanced-cycle-products/velominck-automated-cycle-
parking-system/ 

Page 73

http://www.bromptonbikehire.com/about-us/
http://www.bikeoff.org/design_resource/dr_PDF/dr_facilities_transport_finsburypark_short.pdf
http://www.falco.co.uk/products/advanced-cycle-products/velominck-automated-cycle-parking-system/
http://www.falco.co.uk/products/advanced-cycle-products/velominck-automated-cycle-parking-system/


Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 23

Taxi and private hire parking and ranking – 
existing situation

Overview Watford has a high number of taxis and a small number of taxi ranks or 
taxi waiting areas. This causes problems for both taxi drivers, taxi users 
and other road users since the space where taxis can wait is limited. 
Three taxi ranks are available in the town centre (High Street, New 
Street and Church Street) and a taxi rank is also available at Watford 
Junction and Watford High Street stations. Dropping off and picking up 
facilities for taxi and private hire operators are also limited. 

The space provided for taxi ranks in the town centre and at Watford 
Junction station is inadequate for the number of taxis operating in 
Watford.

The majority of people feel that there are too many taxis in Watford 
(including taxi drivers themselves).

The signage to the taxi ranks is poor.

Taxis stopping or parking outside of designated taxi ranking create 
problems for other road users, particularly outside Watford Junction 
station and in the town centre. However, current taxi ranks provide 
insufficient space for taxis to be accommodated.

Problems

There is a lack of designated space for drop-off/pick-up (both for taxis 
and cars) in the town centre.

Challenges The options for creating more space for taxis to wait around the town 
centre is limited.

It will be relatively easy to improve signage to taxi ranks.

A redesign of the space outside Watford Junction is anticipated. This 
should improve the situation in relation to taxis in this location.

Opportunities

Transport for London (TfL) has published guidelines on taxi ranks at 
major interchanges which could be consulted in any redesign of the 
space outside Watford Junction station to ensure that taxi rank facilities 
fulfil the needs of taxi users and operators.

Page 74



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 24

Coach parking – existing situation

Overview At present limited coach parking is available in Watford. Coach parking 
is available at the Central Leisure Centre but it is understood that the 
Leisure Centre would like to convert this to staff parking. There are 
limited other locations where a coach can be parked including Ascot 
Road, Occupation Lane (private, used by the Football Club) and Shady 
Lane.

Problems Current coach parking provision is very limited, creating issues for those 
groups and businesses accessing Watford by coach (including coaches 
for performers at shows at the Colosseum, visiting football fans and 
other trips including school trips to the pantomime).

Challenges Finding a suitable location for more coach parking is challenging.

Opportunities There is the potential for more coach trips to Watford which would 
benefit the local economy if the coaches could be accommodated.

Page 75



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 25

Freight vehicle parking, loading and unloading – 
existing situation

Overview Servicing in Watford takes place in both on-street and off-street 
locations. On-street loading bays are available in the town centre and on 
some local shopping streets. Freight transport is an area where there are 
several options for improving operations by introducing new policies and 
strategies. This can reduce the impact on other road users (and society 
more broadly) of freight vehicles using on- and off-street space to load 
and unload, whilst supporting businesses’ needs.

The current loading situation in Watford town centre is sub-optimal 
because of a lack of management of off-street loading areas meaning that 
more loading happens on street unnecessarily.

There is a lack of overnight parking for large vehicles in Watford. This is 
particularly relevant for support vehicles e.g. for shows at the 
Colosseum.

Problems

There is no provision in CPZs for delivery vehicles.

Challenges Personal deliveries to work are a key challenge for the freight industry 
due to the increase in the number of deliveries to business premises that 
they create.

There are options for reconfiguring existing loading bays to improve the 
situation for freight operators and other road users.

Transport for London has published several best practice guidance 
documents related to freight management (see Appendix C). These can 
be used for developing strategies for Watford (which has similar issues 
to London but on a smaller scale).

There are opportunities to consolidate deliveries through working with 
businesses or piloting strategies within the Council.

There are opportunities to retime deliveries to minimise the impact of 
servicing e.g. in the town centre.

Opportunities

There are opportunities to alter restrictions depending on the time of day 
to optimise delivery patterns e.g. so that deliveries which take longer are 
carried out at quieter times of day.

3.4 Wider context
Watford is expected to grow substantially in coming years: the Local Plan Core 
Strategy (WBC, 2013) target for housing delivery is 6,500 homes from 2006-2031 
(an average of 260 dwellings per annum) and the target for jobs growth over the 
same period is 7,000. Major development proposals in Watford include: 

 The Watford Health Campus (a mixed-use development including 
enhanced hospital facilities, public space, employment space and housing);

 The redevelopment of Charter Place (which will provide new retail space, 
a cinema, leisure complex, restaurants and public space); and 

 The Croxley Rail Link11 which will improve east-west public transport 
connections in Watford and provide an important public transport link to 

11 The extension of the London Underground Metropolitan line from Croxley to Watford Junction 
via Watford High Street, with new stations at Ascot Road (Cassiobridge) and at Vicarage Road.

Page 76



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 26

the hospital as well as having several other benefits for Watford. By 
providing an alternative to travel by private car for some journeys, this will 
reduce demand for car parking in some areas.

There are also aspirations related to redevelopment of the area around Watford 
Junction and the Western Gateway (an area focused on Watford Business Park) to 
provide more housing, employment space and other land uses. The Strategy also 
includes an aspiration to increase the number of jobs within the wider town centre 
area.

A pilot Growth & Transport Plan has been developed by Hertfordshire County 
Council to ensure that growth in Watford is both planned for and capitalised on in 
transport terms. The Plan proposes transport capacity enhancement schemes and 
other supporting measures to maximise the efficiency of use of the existing 
transport network.  

Within this context of expected growth, the Parking Strategy aligns with Watford 
Borough Council’s approach to transport provision (which is to reduce 
congestion, to promote environmentally sustainable movement and to reduce the 
overall need to travel, see further details below). It focuses on making the best use 
of existing space and provision within a framework which prioritises travel 
behaviour which is sustainable (environmentally, socially and economically).

In addition, as noted above, HCC has produced a Watford Town Centre Multi 
Modal Review. It is expected that the proposals recommended in this review will, 
subject to consultation and funding availability, be implemented in the near future 
(the review mentions 2015/16 delivery). It will be important to work with HCC to 
ensure that these proposals and the parking policies outlined in Section 4 work in 
tandem.

3.5 The parking strategy vision and objectives
The parking strategy vision and objectives are based on the local objectives for 
transport in Watford and national best practice guidance objectives for parking 
strategies and policies.

3.5.1 Watford Core Strategy vision and objectives 
The Core Strategy (WBC, 2013) vision includes the following elements:

“Watford will offer a modern highly sustainable environment providing easy 
access to jobs and services… Watford town centre will strengthen its regional 
role by developing further its vibrant mix of shops, offices, leisure and 
cultural activities, within a highly accessible pedestrian and cycle friendly 
environment… Residents will have the opportunity to choose healthier 
lifestyles with access to a range of leisure opportunities, as well as more 
opportunity to walk or cycle.”12

12 WBC. 2013. Watford's Local Plan: Part 1: Core Strategy [online], pp. 12-13. Available from: 
http://www.watford.gov.uk/ccm/content/planning-and-development/core-strategy/adopted-local-
plan-core-strategy.en 

Page 77

http://www.watford.gov.uk/ccm/content/planning-and-development/core-strategy/adopted-local-plan-core-strategy.en
http://www.watford.gov.uk/ccm/content/planning-and-development/core-strategy/adopted-local-plan-core-strategy.en


Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 27

The overarching vision and objectives for transport in Watford are to reduce 
congestion, to promote environmentally sustainable movement and to reduce the 
overall need to travel.13 The Core Strategy vision has a clear focus on developing 
and improving sustainable transport links which will enable people to make 
greater use of alternatives to the car. The parking strategy can support the Core 
Strategy vision and objectives by:

 Ensuring adequate space is allocated for environmentally sustainable 
modes of transport e.g. through cycle parking, ensuring space for parking 
is not provided at pedestrians’ expense, and the provision of bus stops;

 Ensuring interchange facilities are provided to enable use of public 
transport (such as cycle parking at stations and convenient bus 
interchange);

 Minimising the impact of parking on movement along the road network 
through policies which influence the use, design and location of parking 
and access to parking;

 Minimising the impact of car parking and car use on the ability of people 
to use alternatives modes of transport including cycling, walking and using 
public transport;

 Influencing travel patterns in Watford through the various parking policies 
contained within the strategy; and

 Providing for services which reduce the overall need to travel (such as 
space for home delivery vehicles in residential areas).

13 WBC. 2013. Watford's Local Plan: Part 1: Core Strategy [online], p. 84. Available from: 
http://www.watford.gov.uk/ccm/content/planning-and-development/core-strategy/adopted-local-
plan-core-strategy.en 

Page 78

http://www.watford.gov.uk/ccm/content/planning-and-development/core-strategy/adopted-local-plan-core-strategy.en
http://www.watford.gov.uk/ccm/content/planning-and-development/core-strategy/adopted-local-plan-core-strategy.en


Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 28

3.5.2 Best practice guidance objectives for parking
The objectives of the parking strategy are broadly based upon those listed in 
Parking Strategies and Management (IHT, 2005) and are set out in Table 5. 

Table 5: Best practice guidance objectives for parking
Main objective Sub-objective

To retain a reasonable level of access by private car.

To enhance access by other modes of transport.

To promote a quantity and type of parking stock which is in accordance with 
the two objectives above.

To allocate space in locations appropriately to achieve the two objectives 
above (e.g. locating short stay more conveniently than long stay parking).

Accessibility

To ensure parking at new developments achieves these objectives.

To facilitate good access by all modes.

To manage parking to encourage short stay/leisure or retail visits (rather 
than commuting) to the town centre and at local shopping destinations.

To set charging to ensure a reasonable balance between supply and demand 
at all times.

Economic 
vitality

To ensure parking revenues cover parking costs.

To pursue use of shared parking where possible, particularly at new 
developments.

To explore where parking controls could be used to ensure road space is 
used more efficiently e.g. to provide space for bus or cycle lanes.

To prevent inconsiderate or inappropriate parking activity obstructing other 
road users.

To increase the proportion of parking that is under local authority control.

Efficiency

To use Travel Plans to reduce demand for private non-residential parking.

To minimise visual intrusion caused by parked cars.
Environmental 
quality To design parking areas, structures, signs and markings so they don’t detract 

from the surrounding environment (and adapting existing ones).

To improve the quality and standard of car parking provision.

To prevent inconsiderate or inappropriate parking activity endangering other 
road users.

Safety and 
security

To achieve Secured Car Park status for all Watford car parks.

To ensure priority for pedestrian movement over parking at new 
developments.

To ensure on-street space is used fairly by considering a hierarchy of needs.Social inclusion 
and equity

To ensure guidance on parking fits within an overall hierarchy for the 
allocation of space in the town centre which reflect wider objectives.

Page 79



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 29

3.5.3 Watford-specific parking objectives
The objectives for the specific types of parking in Watford were developed by 
considering the best practice guidance objectives in relation to the parking 
situation in Watford for the different types of parking. They are set out in Table 6. 
Table 6: Objectives for specific types of parking in Watford
Type of 
parking

Objective Reason

To ensure that there is a balance between supply and 
demand.

To ensure parking does not occur in inappropriate 
locations and create traffic problems.

The control and 
management of 
residential 
parking (existing 
and future) To ensure that the limited space available is used in 

the most efficient way possible.

To reduce the problems associated with car 
commuting e.g. congestion, air quality, detraction of 
the local environment.

Using parking 
policy to achieve a 
reduction in 
unsustainable car 
commuting into 
Watford

To strengthen Watford economically by optimising 
use of the road network, ensuring businesses continue 
to be attracted to Watford and encouraging healthier 
commute patterns among the workforce.

There is not enough space in the centre of town to 
fully meet the demands of those who wish to use this 
space, and so compromise is necessary.

Ensuring limited 
town centre 
kerbside space is 
allocated to those 
who need it most

In combination with other policies being taken 
forward on this, the parking strategy can support a 
hierarchical approach which can be applied to 
determine the best use of town centre space.

Supporting retail 
viability through 
parking policy 
(town centre and 
local shops)

To ensure there is adequate parking for shoppers who 
arrive by car whilst taking a balanced approach, so that 
parking policy also encourages the use of more 
sustainable modes.

To ensure the parking needs of Blue badge holders are 
considered.

To ensure adequate cycle parking is provided to 
facilitate mode shift to cycling.

To ensure the parking needs of powered two wheeler 
users are considered, including the provision of secure 
locking points where provision for powered two 
wheelers is made.

To ensure space is available for other parking needs 
and kerbside uses, such as loading and taxi bays and 
bus stops.

Ensuring the 
parking strategy 
enables provision 
of parking for 
different modes 
and space for 
different kerbside 
uses

To ensure that parking policy supports more 
sustainable types of car travel (e.g. car club/car share 
vehicles and electric vehicles).

Page 80



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 30

3.6 Watford street type hierarchy
In order to determine what type and level of parking should be provided on 
different roads, a street type hierarchy for Watford has been developed and forms 
the basis for the parking strategy as a whole. This forms the basis for other 
parking strategy policies. The hierarchy includes a matrix of street types which 
can be used to classify streets based on their place and movement qualities. Each 
street type has a set of general and parking-specific priorities which should be 
considered when determining how to allocate limited road space fairly. Six types 
of street functions are used to define the challenges for each street type and five 
types of tools for addressing the challenges have been identified.  

The street type hierarchy is based on the Transport for London Roads Task 
Force’s ‘London’s street family’ (TfL, 2013),14 adapted for Watford. The street 
type hierarchy provides a framework for balancing different demands, functions 
and priorities on streets and makes ‘trade-offs’ a transparent, conscious and easily 
understood part of decision-making process. 

The hierarchy also allows a flexible approach to parking policy for different 
streets. Policy can be flexible to the variety in road space uses at certain times of 
day or days of the week so that the use of space can be optimised. The hierarchy 
can also be used to structure changes to a street where an aspiration for it to serve 
a different function to its existing configuration exists, or where its type will 
change as a result of development. 

The street type matrix is intended to be used to consider both network- and 
location-specific needs so that the local and strategic priorities of a street are 
considered. A single road may be more than one street type along its length as its 
function and configuration changes. For example, the single carriageway and dual 
carriageway sections of St Albans Road would be different street types.

Applying the Watford street type hierarchy to the roads in the borough will enable 
balanced solutions to parking and other transport challenges on Watford’s streets. 
It is recommended that an early exercise related to the parking strategy should be 
to classify all roads within Watford borough using the matrix. This exercise will 
be useful for the development and implementation of other types of transport 
policies as well as parking policy if the council should wish to extend the matrix 
of priorities beyond parking.

3.6.1 Street type hierarchy matrix
Figure 3 shows the street type hierarchy matrix for Watford. 

14 Tfl. 2013. London’s street family: Theory and case studies [online]. Available from: 
https://www.tfl.gov.uk/corporate/about-tfl/how-we-work/planning-for-the-future/roads-task-
force/rtf-supporting-documents 

Page 81

https://www.tfl.gov.uk/corporate/about-tfl/how-we-work/planning-for-the-future/roads-task-force/rtf-supporting-documents
https://www.tfl.gov.uk/corporate/about-tfl/how-we-work/planning-for-the-future/roads-task-force/rtf-supporting-documents


Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 31

Figure 3: Watford street type hierarchy 15

15 Source for images: Google. 2015. Google Streetview; http://www.watfordobserver.co.uk/news/9740512.Plans_for_revamped_Parade_unveiled/?ref=rss (The Parade) 
[original source unknown]

Page 82

http://www.watfordobserver.co.uk/news/9740512.Plans_for_revamped_Parade_unveiled/?ref=rss


Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 32

3.6.2 Functions of the road network
The road network is multifunctional and has the following functions:16 

 Moving – people, goods and services;

 Living – streets need to be welcoming and inclusive and support 
economic, cultural and community activities to fulfil their ‘place’ role;

 Unlocking – improving accessibility, connectivity and quality of areas 
earmarked for major growth;

 Functioning – ensuring essential access for goods and services and 
upgrading of utilities under the roads;

 Protecting – improving safety and reducing collisions (especially those 
which involve vulnerable road users) and ensuring people feel secure; and

 Sustaining – reducing emissions and supporting greener, cleaner, quieter 
streets and a healthier, more active town.

The matrix’s ‘movement’ axis relates to the road network’s moving function 
whilst the ‘place’ axis relates to living, unlocking and functioning functions. 
Protecting and sustaining are related to both axes. The challenges related to the 
different street types can be categorised into these key functions.

The priorities and challenges for each street type (both in terms of general 
priorities and parking-specific priorities) are set out in Section 3.6.3. Some 
general tools for addressing challenges which apply to all street types are set out 
in Section 3.6.4.

3.6.3 Priorities and challenges
Each street type has a distinct set of general and parking-specific priorities and 
challenges as set out below. The general priorities and challenges are based on the 
priorities and challenges for the different street types as identified in the TfL 
London’s Street Family (TfL, 2013),17 adapted for the Watford street type 
hierarchy. The parking-specific priorities and challenges have been identified 
based on the general priorities and challenges, the results of stakeholder 
consultation and best practice guidance. In each case priorities are listed in order 
of importance, although in some circumstances their relative importance might 
vary from this order. Due to the relative responsibilities of Watford Borough 
Council and Hertfordshire County Council, not all of the priorities are within 
Watford Borough Council’s remit. Those which are under WBC’s responsibility 
are highlighted in bold and those which both authorities have some responsibility 
for are highlighted in italics.

16 Based on Tfl. 2013. London’s street family: Theory and case studies [online]. Available from: 
https://www.tfl.gov.uk/corporate/about-tfl/how-we-work/planning-for-the-future/roads-task-
force/rtf-supporting-documents. Transport for London’s Road Task Force identified six general 
functions of streets and five types of tools for addressing challenges related to streets. These 
functions and tools are generic and transferable to non-London contexts.
17 Tfl. 2013. London’s street family: Theory and case studies [online]. Available from: 
https://www.tfl.gov.uk/corporate/about-tfl/how-we-work/planning-for-the-future/roads-task-
force/rtf-supporting-documents.

Page 83

https://www.tfl.gov.uk/corporate/about-tfl/how-we-work/planning-for-the-future/roads-task-force/rtf-supporting-documents
https://www.tfl.gov.uk/corporate/about-tfl/how-we-work/planning-for-the-future/roads-task-force/rtf-supporting-documents
https://www.tfl.gov.uk/corporate/about-tfl/how-we-work/planning-for-the-future/roads-task-force/rtf-supporting-documents
https://www.tfl.gov.uk/corporate/about-tfl/how-we-work/planning-for-the-future/roads-task-force/rtf-supporting-documents


Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 33

ARTERIAL ROAD

GENERAL

Priorities Challenges

 More reliable vehicular journey times;

 Less congestion;

 Sufficient capacity for private vehicles 
and freight; and

 Mitigating local impacts e.g. 
severance.

 Congestion during peak periods;

 Daily customer experience needs to be 
more consistent; and

 Severance between the areas they pass 
through.

PARKING SPECIFIC

Priorities Challenges

 N/A - no parking or other kerbside 
facilities would be provided on an 
arterial road.

 N/A - no parking or other kerbside facilities 
would be provided on an arterial road.

Page 84



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 34

HIGH ROAD

GENERAL

Priorities Challenges

 Reliable journeys for vehicles;

 Bus priority;

 Safer, inclusive and higher quality 
pedestrian environment (including 
20mph limit);

 Accessibility of local services, shops 
and access for freight.

 Congestion causes delays and, combined 
with high traffic volumes, can create 
severance/reduced amenity;

 Poor urban realm;

 Road safety can be poor as the intensity of 
interactions can result in a high number of 
collisions.

PARKING SPECIFIC

Priorities Challenges

 The clear movement of vehicles. 
Parking should not cause delay to 
vehicle movement, particularly buses;18

 Parking should not endanger other 
road users, particularly cyclists;

 Loading facilities for any premises on 
the high road where off-street loading 
facilities are not provided;

 Cycle parking provision; 

 Bus stops (if a bus service passes along 
the street);

 Short stay disabled parking 
provision;

 PTW parking provision;

 Drop-off/pick-up area;

 General short stay parking.

 Providing parking along high roads impacts 
upon vehicle movement;

 Providing loading facilities; and

 Allocating space between different users 
generally.

18 The police also have responsibility in relation to parked vehicles which cause safety hazards 
under criminal law (Reference: Butcher, 2014. Parking: policy - Commons Library Standard Note 
SN02235. Available online: http://www.parliament.uk/briefing-papers/SN02235/parking-policy)

Page 85

http://www.parliament.uk/briefing-papers/SN02235/parking-policy


Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 35

TRANSPORT HUB*

GENERAL

Priorities Challenges

 Transport interchange (e.g. between 
train and bus or train and bicycle);

 Access for buses;

 High-quality environment for 
pedestrians and cyclists;

 Urban realm to support regeneration 
and attract redevelopment (where 
applicable);

 Improved safety and environmental 
quality;

 Sufficient movement for network 
functioning.

 The volume, complexity and diversity of 
demands makes the balance hardest to strike 
here;

 It is common for transport hub locations to 
under-perform against the ‘place’ functions.

PARKING SPECIFIC

Priorities Challenges

 Sufficient bus stop provision for routes 
serving the station;

 Sufficient high-quality and secure 
cycle parking for bike-rail 
commuters;

 Sufficient secure PTW parking;

 Designated controlled taxi ranking 
which does not obstruct vehicle 
movement, particularly buses;

 Convenient drop-off/pick-up area 
which does not obstruct vehicle 
movement, particularly buses;

 Adequate disabled parking provision 
(short stay and long stay);

 Parking should not endanger other 
road users, particularly pedestrians 
and cyclists; and

 An appropriate level of short and 
long stay general car parking for 
station users.**

 Prioritising limited space in the vicinity of a 
transport interchange between different 
uses; 

 Ensuring parking provided does not impede 
movement or compromise on safety around 
the transport interchange; and

 Providing solutions where needs cannot be 
adequately met in the space available.

Page 86



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 36

*The ‘Transport hub’ street type
At present Watford Junction is the only major transport hub in Watford. In future Croxley 
Rail Link stations (e.g. Cassiobridge station) could become significant transport hubs. 
The principles for a transport hub also hold true for the smaller stations within Watford 
such as Watford High Street and Watford North stations although the movement and 
place functions of these locations would be much lower than at Watford Junction.

**Station car parking provision
The Evaluation of the pilot programme of Station Travel Plans (RSSB, 2012) found 
evidence of increased car use at stations where there were large increases in car parking 
provision. However, there was also a substantial growth in patronage at these stations (for 
a range of reasons). This suggests that in certain locations car parking enables people to 
use car-and-rail rather than car-all-the-way. Because there are several stations in close 
proximity to each other in the Watford area it is less likely that people would need to 
drive into Watford from outlying areas in order to be able to catch a train. Over-providing 
car parking could therefore encourage unnecessary car use.

Page 87



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 37

CONNECTOR

GENERAL

Priorities Challenges

 Providing reliable journeys for 
motorised vehicles;

 Good environment for pedestrians 
and cyclists;

 Reliable bus journeys where bus 
routes pass through connectors; and

 Road safety.

 Congestion in peak periods in particular in 
close proximity to junctions with more 
strategic roads;

 Wayfinding and legibility;

 Street lighting.

PARKING SPECIFIC

Priorities Challenges

 The clear movement of vehicles. 
Parking should not cause delay to 
vehicle movement, particularly 
buses;

 Parking should not endanger other 
road users, particularly cyclists;

 Bus stops (if a bus route passes along 
the street);

 Provision of residential cycle 
parking if there is housing along 
the route which does not have 
dedicated storage space (e.g. garage 
or garden shed with direct access 
on to the road);

 Provision of secure residential car 
and PTW parking where it will not 
delay vehicle movement (if there is 
housing along the route).

 Provision of disabled customer 
parking if there are any local 
facilities (such as a Doctors 
Surgery) situated along a connector 
road, if possible.

 Providing parking along connectors impacts 
upon vehicle movement.

Page 88



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 38

HIGH STREET

GENERAL

Priorities Challenges

 A high-quality environment for 
pedestrians, with good and frequent 
(informal) crossings;

 Good facilities for service vehicles to 
ensure local businesses can easily 
receive deliveries;

 Road safety and a slower speed 
environment; 

 Accessibility for sustainable modes, 
for example, buses and cyclists.

 Congestion;

 Road safety;

 Inadequate provision for deliveries and 
servicing;

 Quality of place.

PARKING SPECIFIC

Priorities Challenges

 Sufficient bus stop provision for 
routes serving the high street;

 Cycle parking provision;

 Parking should not endanger other 
road users, particularly cyclists;

 Loading facilities for any premises 
on the high street where off-street 
loading facilities are not provided;

 Short stay disabled parking 
provision;

 PTW parking provision;

 Drop-off/pick-up area;

 General short-stay car parking for 
business customers.

 [Residential parking after 
businesses have closed if there are 
also residential properties along the 
high street (e.g. above shops)]

 Providing facilities for loading;

 Getting the balance right between parking 
provision to support the economy of local 
high streets and other priorities on high 
streets.

Page 89



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 39

LOCAL STREET

GENERAL

Priorities Challenges

 Accessible and safe pedestrian 
environment;

 Parking for residents and car 
clubs/car sharing; 

 Providing an environment serving 
the diverse needs of local residents 
including older people and children;

 Through movement of traffic should 
be discouraged with connectors 
providing better alternative routes.

 Rat-running;

 Poor lighting; 

 Management and maintenance issues.

PARKING SPECIFIC

Priorities Challenges

 Provision of secure residential 
cycle parking if there is housing 
along the route which does not 
have dedicated storage space (e.g. 
garage or garden shed with direct 
access on to the road);

 Car club/car sharing spaces;

 PTW parking provision for 
residents;

 Car parking provision for 
residents;

 Space for freight vehicles to stop 
e.g. for home deliveries, waste 
collection, people moving house;

 Parking should not endanger 
other road users, particularly 
pedestrians and cyclists; 

 Parking should not obstruct the 
footway.

 Designating space for bicycle storage (where 
this is necessary);

 The overall amount of kerbside space (where 
no off-street residential parking is available);

 Providing space for home deliveries; 

 No car club is currently operating in Watford.

Page 90



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 40

TOWN SQUARE/STREET

GENERAL

Priorities Challenges

 Free pedestrian movement in a high quality environment;

 Safe and secure urban environment;

 User satisfaction/footfall/ambience;

 Good connections at the edges such as cycle parking, bus 
stops and parking spaces;

 Adequate delivery/servicing facilities through inset 
loading bays, delivery and servicing plans, and timed 
access (servicing should ideally take place out-of-hours).

 Difficult to provide 
good facilities for 
delivery and servicing 
during particular times 
of the day when 
footfall is high; 

 Poor-quality urban 
environment can 
impact the vibrancy of 
these streets.

PARKING SPECIFIC

Priorities (at the edges of town squares/streets) Challenges

 Sufficient bus stop provision for routes serving the town 
centre;

 Sufficient cycle parking provision, both high quality short 
stay cycle parking in the public realm and secure long 
stay cycle parking facilities;

 Sufficient secure PTW parking;

 Designated controlled taxi ranking which does not 
obstruct vehicle movement, particularly buses;

 Convenient drop-off/pick-up area which does not 
obstruct vehicle movement, particularly buses;

 Loading facilities for high street premises that do not 
have off-street loading facilities. Loading bays inset where 
possible to improve ease of servicing and deliveries;

 Adequate and accessible disabled parking provision 
(short stay and long stay) within a reasonable distance of 
the town centre, with some short-stay provision in the 
immediate vicinity of essential facilities;

 Parking should not endanger other road users, 
particularly pedestrians and cyclists;

 Parking should not obstruct pedestrian movement.

 If possible, facilities for coach drop off should be 
provided; long stay coach parking should be provided at 
a separate location.

 Overall design of 
space to maximise 
efficiency of use; 

 Balancing the need for 
quality pedestrianised 
public realm with 
providing some 
parking facilities for 
the prioritised uses;

 Designating space 
(and time) adequately 
between the different 
prioritised uses.

Page 91



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 41

3.6.3.1 Flexibility
In order to accommodate multiple street functions it will be appropriate to treat 
road space differently depending on the time of day in many locations. This could 
include, for example, enabling short stay shopper parking on local streets adjacent 
to high roads or high streets to support businesses and to decrease the impact of 
parking manoeuvres on movement along high roads/streets, or varying the use of 
kerbside space at different times of day.

3.6.4 Tools 
In order to improve streets so that they better fulfil their different functions, 
several tools are available. The key tools available to improve streets were 
identified by the TfL Roads Task Force. These are:19

 Infrastructure and assets fit for the future e.g. enhanced safety features, 
use of innovative materials/technology, future flexibility, basic street 
improvements, greener streets;

 More efficient/flexible use of space e.g. more efficient people movement, 
safe speed environment, fun and active streets, providing space for 
stopping, re-imagined streets and places;

 Intelligent systems and management e.g. more dynamic on-street 
information, a stronger customer focus, congestion hotspot busting, better 
targeted enforcement;

 Changing behaviour/managing demand e.g. retiming freight, re-moding 
freight/services [shifting freight and other servicing activities to other 
modes], smart work centres and practices, next generation travel demand 
schemes, active network management, parking policy, land use planning; 
and

 Substitute/re-located/enhanced capacity.

All these tools are relevant for addressing parking challenges and several of the 
parking policies in Section 4 make use of these tools in some way.

3.6.4.1 Additional parking needs
In addition to the parking priorities for the different street types outlined above, 
other specialist parking requirements need to be included in the strategy to address 
the problems identified in Section 3.2. Designated parking for coaches and other 
large vehicles is needed to support the local economy and is essential for venues 
such as the Colosseum and the Football Club. Section 4 sets out policy related to 
this.

19 TfL (Roads Task Force). 2013. London’s street family: Theory and case studies [online]. 
Available from: https://www.tfl.gov.uk/corporate/about-tfl/how-we-work/planning-for-the-
future/roads-task-force/rtf-supporting-documents; TfL (Roads Task Force). 2013. ‘Chapter 2 Part 
2: The toolbox’. In: The vision and direction for London’s streets and roads [online]. Available 
from: https://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/rtf-report-chapter-2-part-2.pdf 

Page 92

https://www.tfl.gov.uk/corporate/about-tfl/how-we-work/planning-for-the-future/roads-task-force/rtf-supporting-documents
https://www.tfl.gov.uk/corporate/about-tfl/how-we-work/planning-for-the-future/roads-task-force/rtf-supporting-documents


Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 42

4 The Parking Policies
A set of policies has been developed based on the street type matrix parking 
priorities as well as the problems and opportunities identified through consultation 
and analysis of the existing parking situation. A matrix of the parking strategy 
policies and objectives has also been produced (see Appendix D); this shows how 
the parking policies will meet the objectives outlined in Section 3.5. 

It is intended that the parking policies contained within the strategy be reviewed 
on a regular basis and refreshed to take into account progress on initial policies, 
new policy aspirations and changes to the parking situation which may mean that 
proposed policies are no longer relevant (see Section 5.5 on the monitoring and 
review process). Table 7 sets out the policies and Sections 4.1 to 4.9 give details 
on each of the policies.

Table 7: Summary of parking policies
Mode Policy

G1: Street type matrix analysisGeneral
(all modes) G2: On-street space in the town centre

Ca1: Improve the car parking offer in the town centre

Ca2: Formalise short-stay parking provision within the town centre

Ca3: Implement ‘pay-by-phone’ or similar modern payment system at pay 
and display locations within Watford

Ca4: Continue reviewing options for the multi-storey car parks

Ca5: Ensure car parking revenue is used to fund transport interventions

Ca6: Work with businesses to encourage employees to commute by 
alternative modes to ease parking pressure and congestion

Ca7: Improvements to parking in residential CPZs and residential parking 
in the town centre

Car

Ca8: Improvements to on-street parking outside the town centre

BB1: Improve Blue Badge parking offer in the town centre

BB2: Improve Blue Badge parking offer in other key locationsBlue Badge and 
Shopmobility

BB3: Improvements to access to Shopmobility Watford

P1: Increase PTW parking at key locations and review existing parking
PTW

P2: Improved signage/information provision on parking for PTW users

Cy1: Increase short stay cycle parking at key locations

Cy2: Develop a secure long-stay cycle parking facility in the town centre

Cy3: Provide small-scale secure cycle parking at relevant locations
Cycle

Cy4: Pilot secure residential cycle parking provision

T1: Optimise taxi rank and drop-off/pick-up facility provision in line with 
other changes in the town centreTaxi
T2: Improve signage to taxi ranks within the town centre

Coach Co1: Develop a coach drop off facility in the vicinity of the town centre 
and long stay coach parking

Freight vehicles F1: A pilot Delivery and Servicing Plan (DSP) for the council

Page 93



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 43

4.1 Street type matrix analysis

Policy G1: Street type matrix analysis

DETAIL

The Watford street type matrix provides a framework for decisions related to parking. The 
matrix should be used to classify all of Watford’s streets to form the basis for future decision-
making (with the understanding that streets could move from one street type to another if there 
was an aspiration for this and appropriate interventions to change the nature of the street were 
put in place). 
It is recommended that a workshop with key transport officers is organised for the street-type 
classification process. It would be advisable to provide officers with information on the matrix 
prior to this session so they have the opportunity to familiarise themselves with the concept. 
Both information contained within this strategy and existing Transport for London documents20 
would be useful for this purpose. 

OUTCOMES

This policy will enable effective and fair decision making in relation to how to prioritise space 
on Watford’s streets. It can also be used to explain or justify the rationale for proposed parking 
interventions and can be used as a tool in consultation discussions.

ACTIONS TARGETS

1. Classify all of Watford’s streets using the street type matrix. Within six months

20 https://www.tfl.gov.uk/corporate/about-tfl/how-we-work/planning-for-the-future/roads-task-
force/rtf-supporting-documents 

Page 94

https://www.tfl.gov.uk/corporate/about-tfl/how-we-work/planning-for-the-future/roads-task-force/rtf-supporting-documents
https://www.tfl.gov.uk/corporate/about-tfl/how-we-work/planning-for-the-future/roads-task-force/rtf-supporting-documents


Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 44

4.2 On-street space in the town centre

Policy G2: On-street space in the town centre

DETAIL

Taking in to consideration:
1. The space available in the town centre (based on existing layout and planned changes); 
2. The street type matrix priorities for ‘town square/street’; and 
3. The proposals for changes to space allocation contained in the short term in the Watford 

Town Centre Multi Modal Review and the Watford Taxi Review and subsequent work
a comprehensive plan of desired space allocation in the town centre should be developed, in 
collaboration with HCC and other partners. This should then be implemented via progression 
through the necessary consultation and design processes.
Focusing on the High Street, based on the priorities and needs for a town square/street, it might 
be appropriate to:
 Reserve space near to key amenities for those with severe mobility impairments;
 Reduce general space available for Blue Badge parking for those who do not have severe 

mobility impairments, whilst providing an equivalent quantity of Blue Badge parking in 
other convenient locations to counteract any reduction;

 Provide regulated space for drop-off/pick-up (whilst minimising any negative impacts of 
taxi/private hire vehicle movements as far as possible through the location and design of 
drop off/pick up facilities);

 Provide more space for cycle parking (this can be accommodated off the carriageway and 
therefore does not need to take space away from other kerbside uses);

 Redesign space to facilitate smooth bus movement through the area (e.g. by reviewing 
access and egress of buses to bus stops and changing any space allocation or restrictions 
to make improvements);

 Designate some space for PTW parking in an appropriate location (e.g. in the non-
pedestrianised section of the High Street);

 Introduce loading bay management for existing loading bays; and
 Research the opportunity for more deliveries to take place at off-street loading facilities 

that may currently be underutilised.
Especially where overall space allocation has changed, a stringent review process will need to 
be followed to ensure that any unintended impacts can be addressed. It may be appropriate to 
address concerns about the confusion caused by bay designation times as part of the redesign of 
the High Street. 

OUTCOMES

The re-designation exercise will allow the space within the town centre to be assessed 
holistically. Once any changes are implemented the use of space in the town centre should be 
more fairly split between the different users.

ACTIONS TARGETS

1. Create a plan of the desired allocation of space in the town centre. Within one year

2. Identify where any displaced parking/kerbside uses will be 
relocated where relevant.

Within one year

3. Detailed design and consultation. Within two years

4. Implementation. Within three years

FUTURE

It may be appropriate to repeat this exercise for local shopping streets in Watford as a way of 
rationally organising the on-street space available for the needs of different users.

Page 95



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 45

4.3 Car parking policies

Policy Ca1: Improve the car parking offer in the town centre

DETAIL

There are four main areas of improvement for the town centre car parks and two potential 
additional measures. The four main areas of improvement are:

1. Car park quality
The quality of the non-Intu multi-storey car parks is being raised as part of the new 
management contract. This should include cosmetic improvements and regular cleaning (with a 
particular focus for both on stairwells, lifts and underpasses) as well as enhanced security 
features such as better lighting and CCTV. A user experience strategy should be developed to 
structure improvements (effectively a formalisation of the changes which are planned to occur 
anyway as well as identification on any supporting measures required e.g. signage). 

2. Pricing structure
The evening pricing structure should be amended. The out of hours charge (applied to cars 
parked between 1am and 7am at £1 an hour up to £6) should be removed. The evening rate 
should be amended to reflect the fact that there is no need to deter commuters at this time and 
that there are fewer options for accessing the town centre (e.g. public transport services) at this 
time. This could involve a flat rate for evening parking or charging in half hour increments.
It may be appropriate to alter the pricing structure for The Avenue car park so that it is more 
similar to the multi-storey car parks since there is no reason for the difference in price at this car 
park. Alternatively, it might be appropriate to limit daytime parking (e.g. to a maximum stay of 
four hours) to provide more short-stay parking near to the Town Hall, library, leisure centre etc.

3. Payment methods
Pay-and-display is perceived to be inconvenient and outdated by users and several stakeholders 
suggested alternative payment methods such as pay by phone. The potential to introduce a pay-
by-phone system should be explored. In addition, the potential to upgrade from pay-and-display 
at The Avenue and Town Hall car parks should be explored.

4. Signage and wayfinding
Signage and wayfinding measures should be improved to make it easier for people to find their 
way to and from the car parks both on foot and when driving. This should include: 
 Signage from the car parks to key destinations (possibly by extending the existing 

monolith/minilith mapping to the car parks); 
 Signage making the entrances to the car parks more prominent and to help drivers 

determine which lane to use for accessing each car park; and
 Signage to help drivers decide which car park to use depending on their final destination.

Potential additional measures
Evening car parking changes
In order to provide a higher quality evening experience in the car parks, it might be possible to 
close one of the car parks at night-time. This would increase footfall at the car parks which did 
remain open which would increase feelings of social safety and would make some operational 
aspects (e.g. staff presence) more economical to provide. Staff patrols of the car parks at night 
was proposed in public consultation responses as a measure to improve the experience of using 
the car parks in the evening, as was an at-grade pedestrian access route to The Avenue (rather 
than current access arrangements which are by subway only). 
Parking space size and layout review
As part of the refurbishment of the car park, the size and layout of parking bays should be 
reviewed; if parking is hard to use it will be off-putting and could lead to people parking 
elsewhere or travelling to an alternative destination. A general suggestion in the public 
consultation results was to have wider bays in the car parks to prevent damage to vehicles. 

Page 96



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 46

OUTCOMES

Improving the quality, pricing and payment experience of the car parks will improve the 
experience of people visiting Watford by car and ensure Watford is perceived to be an attractive 
place to visit. Improving signage will make it easier to get to and from the car parks.

ACTIONS TARGETS

1. Develop a user experience strategy for the car parks (in 
collaboration with the car park operator). The strategy should 
include signage/wayfinding. Review the size and layout of the 
spaces as part of the strategy.

Within two years

2. Work with the car park operator to implement and monitor the 
implementation of the user experience strategy.

Over the period of 
improvement

3. Decide on an evening car parking pricing structure. Within two years

4. Implement any changes to evening car parking pricing. Within three years

5. Review and make changes (if applicable) to The Avenue pricing 
structure.

Within three years

6. Research pay-by-phone/alternative methods and suppliers. Within one year

7. Introduce pay-by-phone (or alternative). Within two years

8. Review additional measures. If relevant, set targets 
for them as part of 
the review and 
monitoring process

FUTURE

In future there may be a need to balance parking provision with demand for land in central 
locations. It may be justifiable to redevelop one of the multi-storey car park sites.
It may also be appropriate to increase the number of parking/charging points for electric 
vehicles.
In future there may be opportunities to take advantage of connected car technology for 
providing parking information to people accessing the town centre by car.

Page 97



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 47

Policy Ca2: Formalise short-stay car parking provision within 
the town centre

DETAILS

At present there is no parking in the town centre which is specifically designated for short stay 
use. Options for providing short stay parking (e.g. 1-2 hours) include:

 Converting The Avenue car park for short stay use;
 Making ‘shared use’ arrangements with a private car park (e.g. the Sainsburys on 

Gaumont Approach). This could involve introducing charges and a time restriction in 
the car park with customers of the supermarket getting a refund on parking, and CPE 
being carried out by the existing CPE team. This could be a complex arrangement to 
implement in practice;

 Designating lower floors of one or more of the multi-storey car parks for short stay 
users. This could also be hard to enforce.

OUTCOMES

This will ensure short stay parking is convenient e.g. for people parking to access facilities such 
as banks, the leisure centre etc.

ACTIONS TARGETS

1. Explore options for short stay parking and reach a decision on 
whether one of them should be pursued.

Within one year

2. If applicable, implement the new short stay parking arrangement. Within two years

Policy Ca3: Implement ‘pay-by-phone’ or similar modern 
payment system at pay and display car parking locations 
within Watford

DETAIL

Implement ‘pay-by-phone’ or similar modern payment system at pay and display locations 
within Watford to make paying for parking more convenient for users.

OUTCOMES

This will ensure that paid-for parking is convenient to use.

ACTIONS TARGETS

1. Research pay-by-phone/alternative methods and suppliers. Within two years

2. Introduce pay-by-phone (or alternative). Within three years

Page 98



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 48

Policy Ca4: Continue reviewing options for the multi-storey 
car parks

DETAIL

The options for the multi-storey car parks need to be reviewed in more detail against transport, 
economic and financial objectives. Public consultation respondents were split on whether or not 
they were in favour of the proposals for Gade and Sutton (long-stay shopper, commuter parking 
and box storage, and commuter parking and contracted parking for hotels respectively). Many 
respondents commented that they like using Sutton for shopper parking because they could 
avoid using the ring road. In relation to parking for hotels, many respondents commented that a 
better option would be to introduce favourable rates for hotels/allow hotels to refund guests for 
parking so that parking was available for other users when hotels weren’t full. The need for 
publicly-provided commuter parking in Watford town centre should be reviewed. It would be 
beneficial to agree a review process with the Council property team e.g. the development of an 
assessment framework to rate alternative options against objectives. 

OUTCOMES

Further review of options for use of the multi-storey car parks will ensure that any changes will 
meet transport, economic and financial objectives.

ACTIONS TARGETS

1. Complete option assessment for the multi-storey 
car parks. 

Within two years (dependent on 
overall timeframes for changes and 
liaison with the property team).

2. Progress preferred option. Within three to four years

Policy Ca5: Ensure car parking revenue is used to fund 
transport interventions 

DETAIL

Rather than providing general Council revenue, the revenue raised from car parking charges 
should be designated for use for other transport schemes, especially those that support mode 
shift away from private car use. This revenue could also be used to fund the policies 
recommended in this Watford Parking Strategy.

OUTCOMES

This will ensure that revenue raised from parking is used for transport.

ACTIONS TARGETS

1. Review existing process and amend it where necessary so that car 
parking revenues are allocated for transport improvements. 

Within two years

Page 99



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 49

Policy Ca6: Work with businesses to encourage employees to 
commute by alternative modes to ease car parking pressure 
and congestion

DETAIL

Businesses in Watford are keen to work together and with the Council to reach solutions to 
reduce car commuting and the pressures it places on workplace parking space. Links between 
businesses and existing initiatives such as Network Watford should be enhanced. Options for 
sharing experiences of promoting and supporting sustainable transport (e.g. via a business travel 
planning forum) should be explored. A town-wide Travel Plan could be developed as a 
mechanism for coordinating the promotion of sustainable transport and setting targets etc. This 
could provide a framework for information provision and marketing, behaviour change/smart 
choice initiatives, improvements to support mode shift (e.g. pedestrian signage, real time 
information for bus services) and target-setting.

OUTCOMES

This will encourage mode shift away from single occupancy car travel, reduce car use at peak 
times and reduce pressure on business parking which will have economic, environmental and 
social benefits.

ACTIONS TARGETS

1. Contact businesses to gauge interest in a business travel planning 
forum.

Within six months

2. Set up a business travel planning forum. Within one year

3. Develop a town-wide Travel Plan. Within two to five 
years

Policy Ca7: Improvements to car parking in residential CPZs 
and residential car parking in the town centre

DETAIL

The CPZ review (carried out in 2013) found that support among residents for ‘shared use’ pay 
and display bays in residential roads around shops was almost evenly split, with 37% against, 
37% for and 14% stating ‘don’t mind’ (the remainder did not answer or answered ‘don’t 
know’). Locations for introducing ‘shared use’ pay and display bays in residential roads around 
shops should be identified and developed. 
Alternatively, it may be possible to alter CPZ operating hours to prevent commuter parking in 
residential areas whilst allowing parking space to be used more flexibly during the day (e.g. by 
having a CPZ operational only during part of the day would effectively prevent commuters 
parking in it for the whole day). This would also allow enforcement resources to be deployed 
more effectively. Review of other CPZ schemes suggests that the majority of Local Authorities 
opt for a day-long scheme so it is hard to gauge how this would work in practice. 
Several town centre residents suggested in consultation responses that a scheme could be 
introduced to allow town centre residents to use the town centre multi-storey car parks for 
residential parking e.g. via a dedicated permit scheme. This idea should be investigated further 
to assess whether it would contribute positively or negatively to overall transport objectives.
There may be options to streamline the operation of residential permit schemes to reduce 
administration costs. The London Borough of Islington has an e-permit system with CPE 
carried out via ANPR systems in hand-held computers.21 An e-permit system could be trialled 

21 http://present.brighton-
hove.gov.uk/Published/C00000726/M00004119/AI00030781/$Item26AppendixBbestpracticesurv
ey.pdfA.ps.pdf 

Page 100

http://present.brighton-hove.gov.uk/Published/C00000726/M00004119/AI00030781/$Item26AppendixBbestpracticesurvey.pdfA.ps.pdf
http://present.brighton-hove.gov.uk/Published/C00000726/M00004119/AI00030781/$Item26AppendixBbestpracticesurvey.pdfA.ps.pdf
http://present.brighton-hove.gov.uk/Published/C00000726/M00004119/AI00030781/$Item26AppendixBbestpracticesurvey.pdfA.ps.pdf


Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 50

within one or two CPZs and then adopted more widely if it was found to be efficient.
Development planning of new residential developments should consider the design of parking 
and refer to best practice guidance (e.g. Manual for Streets, see Appendix C). For example, 
providing parking communally rather than for each individual dwelling is more flexible and has 
greater potential for conversion at a later date if appropriate e.g. to provide more green 
infrastructure or public realm.

OUTCOMES

This policy will ensure parking space for residents is provided and used fairly and efficiently.

ACTIONS TARGETS

1. Identify locations for shared use bays or different CPZ operating 
hours. 

Within one to two 
years

2. Carry out consultation and implement changes. Within one to 
four years

3. Review whether parking for residents living in the town centre 
should be provided in town centre car parks. 

Within two years

4. Implement any changes to allow residents living in the town centre to 
park in the town centre car parks (if applicable). 

Within two to 
three years

5. In collaboration with Watford Parking Services and the CPE operator 
(Vinci), to trial an e-permit system.

Within 18 months

FUTURE

The CPZ review found that 13% of respondents would make use of a car share or car pool 
scheme and another 20% of respondents would possibly make use of such a scheme. The 
potential for a car club to be introduced in Watford should be periodically reviewed as a 
solution to reducing parking pressure. Social enterprise car club operators exist and may 
provide a more viable option for implementing a car club in Watford.22 
The majority of respondents to the CPZ review (carried out in 2013) were in favour of the 
current allowance of up to two residential permits per household. The number of permit holders 
exceeds the number of parking spaces on some streets making it difficult for people to find a 
parking space on their road. Limiting the number of permits to equal the number of spaces 
available on each street would be one way to overcome this problem but would reduce the 
efficiency of parking space utilisation. The permit allowance could be reviewed in future if the 
problem related to a lack of spaces becomes greater or residents indicate that they would like 
this to be reviewed.

22 See for example http://www.co-wheels.org.uk/about_us 

Page 101

http://www.co-wheels.org.uk/about_us


Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 51

Policy Ca8: Improvements to on-street car parking outside the 
town centre

DETAIL

There are opportunities to improve on-street car parking provision outside the town centre (for 
example outside key amenities such as local shops). This could include amending the layout of 
parking to ensure space is used as efficiently as possible (e.g. by marking out bays), altering 
time restrictions to ensure optimum use of spaces or providing signs indicating where 
alternative parking is available in locations where inconsiderate parking is a problem.
A strategy should be developed for locations where inconsiderate parking is a known problem. 
This could include parking around schools and outside local shops/takeaways. Potential 
measures could include signing to a nearby alternative parking location, altering markings to 
prevent parking in inappropriate places and increased enforcement at times where problems are 
known to occur (e.g. in the evening). 

OUTCOMES

This policy will improve parking provision outside local amenities and reduce inconsiderate 
parking which will make streets pleasanter and safer.

ACTIONS TARGETS

1. Identify locations for reviewing on-street parking. Within one to 
four years

2. Carry out reviews of on-street parking. Within one to 
four years

3. Implement any changes to on-street parking. Within two to 
four years

4. Identify locations where inconsiderate parking is a problem and 
developing a strategy for tackling inconsiderate parking.

Within one to 
four years

5. Implement any changes related to the strategy for inconsiderate 
parking.

Within one to 
four years

Page 102



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 52

4.4 Blue Badge car parking and Shopmobility 
policies

Policy BB1: Improve Blue Badge parking offer in the town 
centre

DETAIL

The existing parking situation in the town centre for Blue Badge holders could be improved by 
altering existing parking allocation in a number of ways.
High Street Blue Badge parking
One of the issues raised during consultation was that Blue Badge holders sometimes found it 
hard to find a parking space on the High Street. In combination with Policy G2 on on-street 
space in the town centre, the allocation of space for Blue Badge holders could be modified to 
ensure that those with the greatest need to park closest to amenities along the High Street were 
able to find a parking space when they needed to. Nottinghamshire County Council operates a 
‘special access pass’ scheme whereby people who have particular mobility difficulties are 
allowed to park in pedestrian areas.23 A similar approach could be taken for parking on the High 
Street in Watford to ensure the spaces closest to amenities had greater availability for those with 
more limited mobility. Alternatively there might be the opportunity to introduce shorter time 
restrictions for Blue Badge holders in on-street locations whilst allowing longer time 
restrictions for those with a ‘special access pass’. 
Off-street Blue Badge parking
Charging
Disabled Motoring UK believes that off-street car parking should be free for up to three hours 
for Blue Badge holders.24 One of the reasons put forward is that “when car parks charge it 
encourages more badge holders to park on the street which is more dangerous and could 
possibly cause traffic problems”.25 Conversely, providing free off-street parking for Blue Badge 
holders would increase the incentive for abuse of the system. An assessment of the impact of 
making off-street Blue Badge parking free (in terms of utilisation of on- and off-street spaces, 
increased demand for spaces, accessibility, parking revenue and so on) should be carried out. 
Based on the results of the assessment a decision should be reached on whether to continue 
charging for off-street parking for Blue Badge users. Assessment could include reviewing the 
Disabled Drivers Car Park Pass Scheme to make it available to more Blue Badge holders. 
Making off-street parking free might also make it more likely for the on-street spaces in the 
town centre to be left free for those with the most limited mobility.
Provision
A review of the provision for Blue Badge holders in the Council-owned car parks should be 
carried out. This should include reviewing the number of Blue Badge spaces at the different car 
parks, the usage of Blue Badge spaces, the design and layout of the spaces, the pedestrian routes 
from them to the car park exit and the route from the pedestrian entrance/exit to the town centre. 
Potential changes as a result of such a review could include: redesigning spaces to increase the 
space for getting into/out of vehicles; increasing the number of spaces at Church car park 
(which is where Shopmobility Watford is located and is the closest car park to the central town 
centre area); increasing the Blue Badge space allocation in the Town Hall Visitor car park; and 
removing the Blue Badge spaces in The Avenue car park (which are inaccessible) and providing 
an equivalent number of spaces at one of the other car parks.
Any changes to the Blue Badge parking in the town centre (particularly along the High Street) 
will need to take into account the HCC plans for the contraflow cycle lane and the interventions 

23 See http://www.nottinghamshire.gov.uk/travelling/parking/special-access-permits/ for further 
information.
24 http://www.disabledmotoring.org/downloads/campaigns/improving-car-parks/Policy-05-Off-
street-car-parks.pdf 
25 http://www.disabledmotoring.org/downloads/campaigns/improving-car-parks/Policy-05-Off-
street-car-parks.pdf [para. 2.3].

Page 103

http://www.nottinghamshire.gov.uk/travelling/parking/special-access-permits/
http://www.disabledmotoring.org/downloads/campaigns/improving-car-parks/Policy-05-Off-street-car-parks.pdf
http://www.disabledmotoring.org/downloads/campaigns/improving-car-parks/Policy-05-Off-street-car-parks.pdf
http://www.disabledmotoring.org/downloads/campaigns/improving-car-parks/Policy-05-Off-street-car-parks.pdf
http://www.disabledmotoring.org/downloads/campaigns/improving-car-parks/Policy-05-Off-street-car-parks.pdf


Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 53

outlined in the Watford Town Centre Multi Modal Review.

OUTCOMES

The combination of measures in this policy will improve the situation for Blue Badge holders 
who need to park in the town centre by improving the existing parking available (including 
accessibility, layout, quality and potentially quantity) and ensuring that the most convenient 
parking is available for those Blue Badge holders who have the greatest need for it.

ACTIONS TARGETS

1. Modify the Blue Badge parking on the High Street. Within the same timeframe 
as the broader changes to 
on-street space in the town 
centre

2. Complete a review of whether Blue Badge holders should 
be charged for using off-street car parking.

Within one to two years (in 
concurrence with the 
redesign of the High Street)

3. Implement changes to charging (if applicable). Within two years (and in 
line with any changes to 
Blue Badge parking 
provision on the High 
Street)

Page 104



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 54

Policy BB2: Improve Blue Badge parking offer in other key 
locations

DETAIL

A number of locations were identified by Blue Badge holders or those who travelled with a 
Blue Badge holder as having insufficient Blue Badge parking provision. These include the 
stations, the hospital, the main library, Watford’s mosques and local shopping locations (at off-
street car parks this was often the result of a lack of enforcement of allocated disabled parking 
spaces). These locations should be reviewed (in collaboration with partners where necessary) to 
determine solutions for increasing the availability of parking for Blue Badge holders.
The stations
The Council should work with other stakeholders (Network Rail, London Midland, Transport 
for London) to increase the Blue Badge parking available at the stations or, if this is not 
possible, to identify locations for Blue Badge parking near to the stations. The access to the 
Blue Badge parking at Watford Junction is a problem for Blue Badge holders and this should be 
addressed through work with Network Rail, London Midland and in collaboration with Blue 
Badge users.
The hospital
The Council should work with WHHT to make it easier for Blue Badge holders to park at 
Watford General Hospital. This might include reviewing the utilisation of spaces through a car 
park survey and, if this suggests more spaces are required, reallocating some general parking for 
Blue Badge users. It could be that part of the problem is related to awareness of the Blue Badge 
parking available (there are three hospital car parks which have Blue Badge bays)26 and so a 
strategy for communicating the locations of Blue Badge parking to Blue Badge holders might 
be more appropriate. This might include reviewing pedestrian signage to the different hospital 
facilities from the three parking locations to ensure it is adequate. It might also be appropriate to 
alter where the Blue Badge parking is located across the hospital car parks to ensure sufficient 
spaces are available in close proximity to the buildings being visited by Blue Badge holders.
Other key locations
A review of other locations (e.g. the library, mosques and local shopping streets) should be 
carried out to assess existing provision for Blue Badge holders, usage, and the potential to 
convert other space for Blue Badge parking. Based on this review changes should be made as 
appropriate.
Enforcement
A lack of enforcement of allocated disabled spaces (meaning that they were used by drivers 
without disabilities) was identified as an issue causing problems for people trying to 
legitimately use disabled parking provision in some private off-street car parks. Disabled 
Motoring UK has the following advice: “It is… possible in law for the owners of a private car 
park to agree with the local authority that a parking place order be made in respect of that car 
park…Conditions of use can then be enforced as if it were a local authority car park, with 
penalties or excess charges levied on offenders.”27 The Council should review whether it should 
work with owners of car parks where this is an identified problem to introduce such an order.

OUTCOMES

This policy will ensure the quality of life of Blue Badge holders is not impacted by an inability 
to park to access key amenities.

ACTIONS TARGETS

1. Hold meetings with the bodies that control parking at the locations 
highlighted to discuss Blue Badge parking.

Within six months

2. Improve access to the Blue Badge parking at Watford Junction. Within one year

26 http://www.westhertshospitals.nhs.uk/about/documents/wgh_map_may10.pdf 
27 http://www.disabledmotoring.org/downloads/campaigns/improving-car-parks/Policy-05-Off-
street-car-parks.pdf para. 3.3, 3.4.

Page 105

http://www.westhertshospitals.nhs.uk/about/documents/wgh_map_may10.pdf
http://www.disabledmotoring.org/downloads/campaigns/improving-car-parks/Policy-05-Off-street-car-parks.pdf
http://www.disabledmotoring.org/downloads/campaigns/improving-car-parks/Policy-05-Off-street-car-parks.pdf


Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 55

3. Increase Blue Badge parking at Watford Junction. Within two years

4. Increase Blue Badge parking at other stations. Within two years

5. Review hospital Blue Badge parking. Within one year

6. Alter the provision of Blue Badge spaces/signage at the hospital (if 
necessary).

Within two years

7. Review Blue Badge parking at other key locations. Within one year

8. Make changes to Blue Badge parking at other key locations (if 
applicable).

Within two years

9. Decide whether to carry out CPE of disabled car parking spaces in 
private car parks.

Within six months

10. Work with private car park owners to enforce disabled car parking 
spaces within their car park (if applicable).

Within one year

11. Implement the order(s) and coordinate with the CPE team to begin 
enforcement (if applicable).

Within two years

FUTURE

Blue Badge parking provision for planned developments (including the Croxley Rail Link and 
Watford Health Campus) should be monitored and adapted as necessary.

Page 106



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 56

Policy BB3: Improvements to access to Shopmobility Watford

DETAIL

Pedestrian access to Shopmobility Watford is via an entrance off New Street; a push-button 
operated traffic light system is used to stop cars whilst pedestrians are using the route through 
the car park. Despite three prominent signs and flashing red traffic lights, cars often fail to stop 
and approach that part of the car park at some speed. 
There are several measures which could be implemented to improve the safety of this access 
route. These could include:

 Improvements to the existing signage (e.g. indicating that people with disabilities will 
be using the route);

 Introduction of chevrons on the barrier so it is clearer that drivers are required to turn 
and to encourage them to slow down;

 A speed hump to slow vehicles; and/or
 A modification to the traffic light system to make it look more like a standard traffic 

light.
The viability and effectiveness of these potential measures should be assessed and any suitable 
options should be progressed. This process should be undertaken in collaboration with 
Shopmobility Watford. 
In addition, it would be beneficial to raise the profile of Shopmobility where appropriate when 
other parking- or town centre-related promotion or marketing is underway, as there are still 
several people who are not aware that the service exists. This should be done on an ad hoc 
basis.

OUTCOMES

This policy will ensure that safe, adequate access for those using Shopmobility’s services and 
an increase in the awareness of its existence.

ACTIONS TARGETS

1. Review options for improving the pedestrian access route in 
collaboration with Shopmobility Watford.

Within two years

2. Carry out detailed design of recommended option(s). Within three years

3. Implement recommended option(s). Within four years

4. Include Shopmobility Watford in promotional material on accessing 
Watford.

On an ad hoc 
basis

FUTURE

In future, it may be necessary to allocate more parking within Church car park for Shopmobility 
customers, since growth in usage of their services would be expected in line with general 
growth of visitors to Watford anticipated in relation to the Charter Place redevelopment and 
other developments in the town centre. This could potentially be provided by making more of 
the spaces on the ground floor available for Shopmobility users either exclusively or as joint 
Shopmobility/general disabled parking spaces.

Page 107



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 57

4.5 PTW parking policies

Policy P1: Increase PTW parking at key locations and review 
existing parking

DETAIL

Current PTW parking provision is low. As a proportion of overall parking relative to mode 
split, it is not provided at the same level as car parking. The need for more PTW parking in the 
town centre and at Watford Junction station was raised in the public consultation survey results. 
PTW parking is a more efficient use of space than car parking; efforts should be made to 
identify locations where increased parking could be situated. The location and design of 
facilities should take into account existing guidance.28

Currently small numbers of PTW parking spaces are distributed over several locations. When 
locating facilities in future a balance between the facilities being in a convenient location and 
the likelihood of being able to find a space should be made. Larger parking facilities are more 
user-friendly because the chance of there being a free space is higher and confidence that a 
PTW won’t be stolen is also higher.
Options for locating increased PTW parking could include on-street or off-street locations, on 
the carriageway or the footway, e.g.:

 The WBC-managed multi-storey car parks;
 Between Albert Road South and The Parade. 

In relation to Watford Junction station, WBC should work with London Midland and the 
Watford Junction station car park managers to identify how PTW parking provision could be 
increased.
Existing parking should be reviewed in terms of time restrictions and security provision. The 
time limit for PTW parking on Queen’s Road/The Broadway should be reviewed to determine 
whether a longer time period in this location could offer an additional facility for town centre 
visitors arriving by PTW. In order to get views from people who use the PTW parking in 
Watford it may be appropriate to set up a feedback process for them to provide insight into 
existing parking provision.

OUTCOMES

The provision of more PTW parking will benefit those who travel by PTW in Watford and will 
ensure that space is available for them to park at their destination.

ACTIONS TARGETS

1. Review existing PTW parking provision and identify suitable 
locations for further PTW parking (based on an initial scoping 
exercise and site visits).

Within one year

2. Make any changes to PTW parking provision. Within two to 
three years

3. Conduct more detailed design for new PTW parking facilities. Within two years

4. Implement the new parking. Within three years

28 http://www.theihe.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/10/MG-Chapter-5-Parking-v1.0.pdf 

Page 108

http://www.theihe.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/10/MG-Chapter-5-Parking-v1.0.pdf


Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 58

Policy P2: Improved signage/information provision on parking 
for PTW users

DETAIL

Lack of signage to PTW parking facilities was one issue raised during the consultation. PTW 
parking should be included on directional signage on the approach to the town centre. 
Pedestrian signage from the town centre to the parking would also be beneficial for visitors to 
the town who arrive by PTW.

OUTCOMES

Improved signage will make it easier for motorcyclists to access parking provided for them in 
Watford.

ACTIONS TARGETS

Identify suitable locations for signs. Within one year

Introduce new signs. Within two years

Page 109



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 59

4.6 Cycle parking policies
The policies for cycle parking are set out below. In all instances some provision 
for non-standard bicycles (such as hand bicycles, tricycles, tandems and 
cargo/family bicycles) should be made.29

Policy Cy1: Increase short stay cycle parking at key locations

DETAIL

Consultation revealed that there were several locations where the demand for cycle parking 
outstrips supply. Cycle parking is space efficient and relatively cheap to install. Encouraging 
cycling can lead to a more efficient use of road space which can alleviate problems such as 
congestion. It is relatively easy to add attractive cycle parking within the public realm without 
causing an obstruction to pedestrians. Reference should be made to cycle parking design 
guidance (see Appendix C) when installing new cycle parking.
The key locations where more short stay cycle parking should be installed include:
 The town centre (both along the main High Street and further out particularly to the north 

of the town including Clarendon Road and Albert Road);
 The stations (especially Watford Junction);
 Local shopping streets and retail centres (including St Albans Road, Queens Road/The 

Broadway, Kingswood, Garston and Meriden shopping centre precincts and Century retail 
park);

 Employment areas including Watford Business Park; and
 Key leisure facilities such as Watford’s parks, green spaces and sports facilities (including 

the central leisure centre and Cassiobury Park).
For locations where Watford Borough Council (WBC) has control, it is recommended that each 
location is assessed for suitable locations for cycle parking and then the usual process for design 
and installation is followed. As well as the locations listed above similar type of trip attractors 
which have not been explicitly mentioned should also be assessed since it is likely that there 
will be a demand for cycle parking at these locations too. 
For locations outside of WBC control (such as the stations) it is recommended that meetings 
with the relevant body are organised to work towards increasing cycle parking provision in 
these locations. It may be relevant for WBC to offer to contribute towards the costs of installing 
cycle parking since it will enable wider Council objectives to be met.
The funding that is available for small businesses to install cycle parking should also be 
promoted more widely so that cycle parking can be introduced in a ‘bottom-up’ manner too.

OUTCOMES

Providing more cycle parking at key locations will enable more people to cycle more often 
which will contribute to meeting several transport and health-related objectives. Bicycles are by 
their very nature much less secure than cars to leave in public places and cycle parking 
provision in Watford should reflect this.

ACTIONS TARGETS

1. Assess how much cycle parking to introduce and where to locate it. Within six months 

2. Develop and follow a programme for design and implementation 
(locations within WBC control).

Within six months 

3. Hold a meeting with the relevant body and develop and follow a 
programme for design and implementation (locations outside WBC 

Within one year

29 The London Cycling Design Guidance (TfL, 2014) provides guidance on parking for non-
standard bicycles, which can normally be provided via widely spaced stands. It may be appropriate 
to mark the stands for use by non-standard or larger cycles to prevent use by standard bicycles.

Page 110



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 60

control). The amount WBC would be willing to contribute towards 
installing cycle parking should be determined prior to this initial 
meeting.

4. Review progress. At one year

Page 111



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 61

Policy Cy2: Develop a secure long-stay cycle parking facility 
in the town centre

DETAIL

Consultation revealed a strong demand for secure cycle parking in the town centre. Potential 
locations and set ups should be researched as a first step. Existing secure cycle facilities in the 
UK include staffed and unstaffed options. Staffed options can be paid for30 or free.31 Most are 
provided as part of wider cycle facility provision (e.g. repairs, showers, lockers) and are often 
provided by charitable trusts. Many locations offer partially staffed cycle parking facilities 
which allow users to gain initial access in staffed opening hours and then have 24-hour access 
to the facility through swipe card or fob access.32 Some completely unstaffed facilities have 
been introduced whereby users register online to gain access and have been provided as both 
free and paid-for facilities.33 Unstaffed automated facilities have been introduced in other 
countries but no such system has been installed in the UK to date.34 Underground options are 
available and have space saving advantages since only the access point is situated at ground 
level. Automated systems would have higher installations costs but could be cheaper to run in 
the long term.
A standalone facility could potentially be situated in one of the multi-storey car parks if safe 
access for cyclists could be provided. A managed system could be located at suitable premises 
in the town centre and combined with other services (this could involve Watford Cycle Hub and 
their existing services). Several other complementary services could be offered e.g. people 
cycling in with a young child in a child seat could be offered loan of a pushchair for use in the 
town centre. Card-operated systems are available which mean that cyclists do not need to carry 
a lock with them (e.g. Finsbury Park).
Businesses in Watford town centre may also be willing to fund spaces for their employees.

OUTCOMES

A secure cycle parking facility would enable greater levels of cycling in Watford since fear of 
theft is a major deterrent to cycling and provide a much-demanded facility.

ACTIONS TARGETS

1. Determine feasibility of introducing this facility (including further 
consideration of how a facility might operate (with reference to 
existing facilities elsewhere), how it could be financed (whether 
LSTF or similar funding would be available), where it could be 
located and how many spaces should be provided).

Within two years

2. If the facility is feasible, work with partners for detailed design, 
acquisition of any necessary property to provide the facility and 
identification of funding sources.

Within three 
years

3. Implement/build the secure long-stay cycle parking facility Within four to 
five years

4. Open the secure long-stay cycle parking facility in the town centre. Within five years

FUTURE

Public transport interchanges are locations where a demand for secure cycle parking is likely. 
Opportunities for providing secure cycle parking should be explored as part of the planned 
changes to Watford Junction.

30 E.g. http://www.itravelyork.info/cycling/cycle-parking/hub-station 
31 E.g. http://middlesbrough.cylex-uk.co.uk/company/middlesbrough-cycle-centre-17856891.html
32 E.g. http://www.cycle-heaven.co.uk/secure-parking/, 
http://www.haringey.gov.uk/finsbury_park_cycle_parking_1_.pdf
33 E.g. http://www.merseyrail.org/plan-your-journey/getting-to-our-stations/bike.aspx, 
http://cycling.tfgm.com/Pages/join-a-hub.aspx
34 See for example http://www.falco.co.uk/products/advanced-cycle-products/velominck-
automated-cycle-parking-system/

Page 112

http://www.itravelyork.info/cycling/cycle-parking/hub-station
http://middlesbrough.cylex-uk.co.uk/company/middlesbrough-cycle-centre-17856891.html
http://www.cycle-heaven.co.uk/secure-parking/
http://www.haringey.gov.uk/finsbury_park_cycle_parking_1_.pdf
http://www.merseyrail.org/plan-your-journey/getting-to-our-stations/bike.aspx
http://cycling.tfgm.com/Pages/join-a-hub.aspx
http://www.falco.co.uk/products/advanced-cycle-products/velominck-automated-cycle-parking-system/
http://www.falco.co.uk/products/advanced-cycle-products/velominck-automated-cycle-parking-system/


Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 62

Policy Cy3: Provide small-scale secure cycle parking at 
relevant locations

DETAILS

There are several locations that cyclists might wish to cycle to in the evening and leave their 
bicycle for a few hours (e.g. a sports centre). Especially where these locations will not have 
high footfall providing natural security, small-scale secure cycle parking should be considered. 
This could take the form of lockers or a small covered facility. Management of the facility will 
need to be considered.

OUTCOMES

This will support cycling for journeys that otherwise may have been made by car or will enable 
journeys by bicycle that otherwise might not have been made.

ACTIONS TARGETS

1. Identify locations for secure cycle parking and begin coordinating 
with partners.

Within one year

2. Deliver secure cycle parking at the first location identified. Within two years

3. Continue to deliver secure cycle parking at the other locations 
identified.

Ongoing

Policy Cy4: Pilot secure residential cycle parking provision

DETAILS

At present there are several locations in Watford where people may feel unable to cycle because 
of a lack of secure storage options for bicycles at home. Council or housing trust properties 
would be an ideal location to pilot the provision of secure residential cycle parking provision. If 
popular, installations of the facilities could be offered more widely.
Several options for secure residential parking are available. Purpose-built secure compounds, 
lockers or cages could be provided on communal land inside or outside the properties. Some 
internal areas such as garages, bin stores or pram sheds could be converted to cycle parking if 
they are under-utilised. On-street secure options are available;35 these could be offered as a 
paid-for facility. The Hackney Residential Cycle Parking Project installed several small and 
larger-scale residential parking solutions in different types of residential properties.36

OUTCOMES

Installation of secure residential cycle parking provision will enable more people to cycle 
contributing to social, environmental, economic and health objectives.

ACTIONS TARGETS

1. Identify potential locations for secure residential cycle parking 
(involving stakeholders including residents, housing providers etc.).

Within two 
years

2. Set up a system and develop a programme for design and 
implementation, as well as identifying further locations.

Within three 
years

3. Implement secure residential cycle parking provision according to the 
programme.

Ongoing

35 http://lambeth.gov.uk/parking-transport-and-streets/cycling/cycle-parking-scheme-
guide#lambeth-bikehangar
36 http://www.hackney-cyclists.org.uk/homebikepark/hackney_homebikepark_report_2004-
06_v0.2.pdf. The report includes examples including options considered and costs.

Page 113

http://lambeth.gov.uk/parking-transport-and-streets/cycling/cycle-parking-scheme-guide#lambeth-bikehangar
http://lambeth.gov.uk/parking-transport-and-streets/cycling/cycle-parking-scheme-guide#lambeth-bikehangar
http://www.hackney-cyclists.org.uk/homebikepark/hackney_homebikepark_report_2004-06_v0.2.pdf
http://www.hackney-cyclists.org.uk/homebikepark/hackney_homebikepark_report_2004-06_v0.2.pdf


Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 63

4.7 Policies on taxi ranking and other taxi and 
private hire parking-related needs

Policy T1: Optimise taxi rank and drop-off/pick-up facility 
provision in line with other changes in the town centre

DETAILS

This policy is based on an aspiration to provide efficient taxi and private hire facilities for 
people accessing key locations by taxi or private hire vehicle (PHV). Taxis and PHVs form an 
important part of transport provision in Watford and it is important that facilities reflect taxi 
users’ needs. The overall objective for this policy is to provide an appropriate amount of space 
for taxi ranking and drop-off/pick-up facilities near to key trip attractors (including within the 
town centre and at Watford Junction station). Reasonable provision of further space for taxi 
operators to wait and have rest and refreshment breaks should also be made (this does not 
always need to be near to the rank). 
The design of taxi facilities should reflect the need for passengers to be picked up and dropped 
off near to their location whilst recognising the high demand for space that exists at key trip 
attractors. In assessing the use of space within the town centre, the efficiency of use as well as 
the priority of uses from the street type hierarchy should be considered. Bus stops, taxi ranks 
and loading bays are by their nature more efficient than parking spaces since a greater number 
of people can make use of them. It may be appropriate to re-designate the taxi rank on the High 
Street as a drop-off/pick-up facility. This will probably need managing to prevent waiting; 
camera enforcement would offer an efficient way to manage this facility. 
Where taxis stopping or waiting outside of designated areas is a problem, restrictions should be 
amended to prevent this (whilst recognising that insufficient space is available at present for all 
taxis operating at any one time in Watford and there is a need for somewhere for them to wait).

OUTCOMES

Improved taxi rank and drop-off/pick-up facilities would benefit all road users by making taxi 
operations in key locations more efficient and rational and would improve availability of taxis 
for users.

ACTIONS TARGETS

1. Complete assessment of on-street town centre space. Within one year

2. Consult on proposed changes and design changes. Within two years

3. Implement changes. Within three years

FUTURE

As part of the redesign of the space outside Watford Junction station the potential to improve 
taxi rank provision should be considered.

Page 114



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 64

Policy T2: Improve signage to taxi ranks within the town 
centre

DETAILS

Most respondents to the consultation felt that signage to taxi ranks could be improved. Within 
the town centre existing pedestrian signage should be reviewed and the need to make taxi 
signage more prominent should be assessed. Based on this review changes to existing signage 
should be made.

OUTCOMES

Improved signage to taxi ranks will make it easier for people to access the town centre by taxi.

ACTIONS TARGETS

1. Review signage. Within two to 
three years

2. Make any changes. Within two to 
three years

Page 115



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 65

4.8 Coach parking policies

Policy Co1: Develop a coach drop off facility in the vicinity of 
the town centre and long stay coach parking

DETAIL

People accessing Watford by coach are generally either football fans travelling to the stadium, 
groups coming to see a show (e.g. a pantomime) or school groups. There is an aspiration for a 
greater number of coach trips to come to Watford town centre to take advantage of the various 
attractions Watford offers. There is a lack of suitable locations for coaches in Watford (both for 
drop-off and long stay parking) and previous locations are no longer available. 
A suitable location for coach drop-off/pick up near to the town centre should be identified. This 
exercise will involve considering distance to the town centre, availability of other facilities for 
passengers (such as toilets), pedestrian and coach access routes, site characteristics and other 
constraints. Appendix C provides further information on guidance on the design and location of 
coach facilities which has been developed by the Confederation of Passenger Transport UK 
(CPT).
A location for long stay coach parking (and potentially other large vehicles associated with 
shows visiting Watford) should be identified. This will involve considering what locations 
would be accessible to coaches and when space could be available at different times. There may 
be opportunities to allow coaches to park in locations used for other purposes at other times. For 
example, many locations exist with road geometry which has been designed to accommodate 
larger vehicles e.g. the roads serving the retail parks south of the town centre. It may be possible 
to identify space which could be designated for coach parking in these locations.
As a first step, scoping exercises for the different potential locations should be carried out. 
These should then be assessed for suitability (this could involve aspects such as carrying out 
vehicle swept path analysis to determine whether coaches could manoeuvre in the space 
available). Once a suitable location is identified next steps would include detailed design and 
going through processes to change the designation of space to a coach bay (either time 
restricted or permanent). It may be necessary to develop a booking system which could be 
communicated to coach operators via CPT.

OUTCOMES

Development of suitable coach drop-off/pick-up and long stay parking facilities will contribute 
to supporting Watford’s economy and enable access to Watford by coach.

ACTIONS TARGETS

1. Carry out scoping exercises. Within one year

2. Carry out detailed design and begin the process of 
getting space re-designated for coaches.

Within two years

3. Open the coach parking. Time dependent on how long 
consultation/ approval takes

4.9 Freight vehicle parking, loading and unloading 
policies

It is relevant to include freight-specific policies in the parking strategy because of 
the interaction between freight vehicles and other vehicles in their demand for 
kerbside space and the multi-modal nature of the parking strategy. However, other 
opportunities for the development of freight strategies distinct from the parking 
strategy exist which could manage freight in Watford more extensively. The 

Page 116



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 66

following sets out policies to be implemented as part of the parking strategy. 
There are several other freight management policies that could be introduced in 
Watford to improve freight activities, including the development of a Freight 
Quality Partnership, promotion of the Fleet Operators Recognition Scheme for 
delivery and collection companies working in Watford and several freight 
consolidation and restriction measures.

Policy F1: A pilot Delivery and Servicing Plan (DSP) for the 
council

DETAILS

Delivery and Servicing Plans (DSPs) enable organisations to make efficiency savings by 
altering existing practices relating to servicing and delivery. These have benefits for the 
organisation and its suppliers including time and financial savings, improved reliability, 
improved safety and reduced environmental impact. They also benefit society by reducing 
congestion, improving local air quality, reducing risk of collisions occurring and reducing noise 
and intrusion.
Delivery and Servicing Plans can include several measures such as:

 Introducing a delivery booking system;
 Rescheduling deliveries to outside of peak or normal working hours;
 Reducing delivery, servicing and collection frequencies;
 Establishing a centralised ordering system;
 Use the procurement process to promote sustainable freight activity;
 Reducing or consolidate the number of suppliers used by the council;
 Reviewing waste and courier collections; and
 Encouraging best practice scheme membership amongst suppliers.

OUTCOMES

Several organisations in Watford would benefit from implementing a DSP. Piloting the DSP 
development process within the Council would enable the Council to benefit from the savings it 
would bring as well as demonstrating the benefits of DSPs to other organisations in Watford. 
This would enable the Council to offer a support service for other organisations interested in 
implementing DSPs (which would be justified by the wider benefits of DSPs). Other 
organisations where a DSP could be particularly beneficial are the college and hospital.

ACTIONS TARGETS

1. Complete an assessment of current delivery and servicing 
practices and review business operations at the council.

Within one year

2. Develop the interventions which will be included in the DSP. Within 18 months

3. Implement the DSP. Within two years

4. Review the DSP. Once it has been 
operational for one year

5. Develop advice on DSPs for other organisations that are 
interested.

After the DSP has been 
in operation for two 
years

FUTURE

Once there is some familiarity with the DSP process a DSP for Watford town centre could be 
developed to make freight movements within the town centre more efficient.

Page 117



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 67

4.10 Multi-modal context
Several of the objectives of the parking strategy relate to using car parking policy 
to improve access by other modes of transport. It is important that the multi-modal 
nature of the parking strategy is used to make alternatives to the car attractive. It is 
also important to ensure that the parking strategy works in tandem with other 
transport strategies and policies which enable greater use of alternatives to the car. 

4.11 Working with partners
Working with partners will be critical for the successful delivery of the parking 
strategy. Responsibilities for the roads in Watford are split between Watford 
Borough Council and Hertfordshire County Council (for example the Watford 
Parking Service is responsible for the enforcement and management of parking 
restrictions and schemes whilst Hertfordshire County Council is responsible for 
other aspects of highway management and maintenance). There are several 
schemes (such as those included in the Watford Town Centre Multi Modal 
Review) which will interact with schemes proposed in this parking strategy and so 
a high level of coordination will be required.

Much of the parking in Watford, for example the parking at the stations and 
parking provided by workplaces for their staff, is not directly within Watford 
Borough Council’s remit. It will be important to ensure objectives are shared with 
partners and good relationships are established early on. 

4.12 Future-proofing
To ensure the parking strategy remains relevant it is important that it is 
periodically reviewed and updated. This will allow the overall approach to be 
reassessed and for individual policies to be added or removed as necessary. The 
review process outlined in Section 0 will ensure that this is achieved and the 
parking strategy can be updated regularly to remain relevant. 

Page 118



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 68

5 The Parking Delivery Plan
This section sets out the Delivery Plan for the Parking Strategy. It includes an Action Plan, information about the likely cost of implementing policies and 
potential funding sources, information about risks, a monitoring and review process and a section on communication.

5.1 Action Plan
Table 8 sets out the Parking Strategy Action Plan.

Table 8: Parking Strategy Action Plan

Timescale (lighter shading indicates that the 
timescale is dependent on the outcome of 
earlier actions)Action (‘*’ indicates that this action is dependent on the 

outcome of earlier actions)
2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Responsibility for 
action 
(in addition to WBC)

Resources required 
(in addition to staff time), potential funding 
sources

General

G1: Street type matrix analysis

Classify all of Watford’s streets using the street type 
matrix.      

 Use HCC Traffic Sensitive Roads as a guide

G2: On-street space in the town centre

Create a plan of the desired allocation of space in the 
town centre area.      

HCC Started June 2015

Identify where any displaced parking/kerbside uses will 
be relocated.      

HCC Started June 2015

Detailed design and consultation on changes to on-street 
space.      

HCC
Design resources 
HCC funding (if combined with HCC 
schemes)

Page 119



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 69

Action (‘*’ indicates that this action is dependent on the 
outcome of earlier actions)

Timescale (lighter shading indicates that the 
timescale is dependent on the outcome of 
earlier actions)

Responsibility for 
action 
(in addition to WBC)

Resources required 
(in addition to staff time), potential funding 
sources

Implementation of changes to on-street space.
     

HCC
Capital cost of implementing changes 
HCC funding (if combined with HCC 
schemes)

Car parking

Ca1: Improve the car parking offer in the town centre

Develop a 'User Experience Strategy' for the car parks.
     

CPO Work with Property Services and Citiparks

Decide on an evening car parking pricing structure.
     

CPO Work with Property Services and Citiparks

Implement any changes to evening car parking pricing.
    

CPO Minor capital cost 
CPO funded

Review and make changes to The Avenue pricing 
structure.*      

CPO Minor capital cost
Parking capital budget 

Research pay-by-phone (or alternative modern payment 
method) and suppliers.      

 Included within Parking Services Managers 
PDR + AJS

Introduce pay-by-phone (or alternative).
     

 Capital cost of procuring and implementing 
system Parking capital budget 

Implement and monitor the 'User Experience Strategy'.
     

CPO Capital cost of implementing changes 
CPO or parking capital budget funded

Page 120



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 70

Action (‘*’ indicates that this action is dependent on the 
outcome of earlier actions)

Timescale (lighter shading indicates that the 
timescale is dependent on the outcome of 
earlier actions)

Responsibility for 
action 
(in addition to WBC)

Resources required 
(in addition to staff time), potential funding 
sources

Review additional measures; add to the strategy where 
appropriate.      

 Capital cost of implementing any changes 
CPO or parking capital budget funded

Ca2: Formalise short-stay parking provision within the town centre

Explore short stay parking options; decide whether to 
progress any.      

private car park owners Started June 2015

Implement new short stay parking arrangement.*
     

private car park owners Capital cost of implementing changes
Parking capital budget

Ca3: Implement ‘pay-by-phone’ or similar modern payment system at pay and display locations within Watford

Research pay-by-phone (or alternative modern payment 
method) and suppliers.      

 Parking Services Manager + Section Head 
introduce with new contract

Introduce pay-by-phone (or alternative).
    

 Capital cost of procuring and implementing 
system Parking capital budget 

Ca4: Continue reviewing options for the multi-storey car parks

Assess options for the multi-storey car parks.
     

including WBC property 
management staff  

Progress preferred option.
     

including WBC property 
management staff, CPO

Cost of associated interventions
Parking capital budget

Ca5: Ensure car parking revenue is used to fund transport interventions

Page 121



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 71

Action (‘*’ indicates that this action is dependent on the 
outcome of earlier actions)

Timescale (lighter shading indicates that the 
timescale is dependent on the outcome of 
earlier actions)

Responsibility for 
action 
(in addition to WBC)

Resources required 
(in addition to staff time), potential funding 
sources

Set up the process for using car parking revenues for 
transport.     

 Section Head and Traffic Engineer

Ca6: Work with businesses to encourage employees to commute by alternative modes to ease parking pressure and congestion

Contact businesses to gauge interest in a business travel 
planning forum.      

 Section Head and HCC

Set up a business travel planning forum.
     

Watford businesses
Revenue cost of setting up and running forum
S106 contributions, CIL + Watford 2025 
project

Develop a town-wide Travel Plan.
     

 
Cost of associated interventions
S106 contributions, CIL, council car park 
revenue

Ca7: Improvements to parking in residential CPZs and residential parking in the town centre

Identify locations for shared use bays or different CPZ 
operating hours near to local shops.      

 Section Head / Traffic Engineers / Portfolio 
Holder

Review whether parking for residents living in the town 
centre should be provided in town centre car parks.     

 Discussions had with Citiparks  and ongoing 
work with Property Team

Trial an e-permit system.
    

WPS/CPE
Capital cost of procuring and implementing 
system
Parking capital budget

Consult on and implement changes to CPZs.
     

 
Section Head and Traffic Engineers Capital 
cost
Parking capital budget

Page 122



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 72

Action (‘*’ indicates that this action is dependent on the 
outcome of earlier actions)

Timescale (lighter shading indicates that the 
timescale is dependent on the outcome of 
earlier actions)

Responsibility for 
action 
(in addition to WBC)

Resources required 
(in addition to staff time), potential funding 
sources

Implement changes to allow residents living in the town 
centre to park in the town centre car parks.*      

CPO Discussions had with Citiparks Capital cost
Parking capital budget

Ca8: Improvements to on-street parking outside the town centre

Identify locations for reviewing on-street parking.
     

 Include within  TRO Programme discuss with 
Traffic Engineer and Portfolio Holder

Identify locations where inconsiderate parking is a 
problem and develop a strategy to tackle it.      

HCC/police
Ongoing as part of TRO Reserve List 
Programme agree with  Traffic Engineers and 
Portfolio Holder

Review on-street parking outside the town centre.
     

HCC Include within  TRO Programme discuss with 
Traffic Engineer and Portfolio Holder

Implement changes to on-street parking.
     

HCC
On Going works - Agree with Members and 
Portfolio Holder Capital cost
Parking capital budget

Implement strategy for inconsiderate parking.
     

HCC
Ongoing as part of TRO Reserve List 
Programme agree with  Traffic Engineers and 
Portfolio Holder

Blue Badge car parking and Shopmobility

BB1: Improve Blue Badge parking offer in the town centre

Page 123



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 73

Action (‘*’ indicates that this action is dependent on the 
outcome of earlier actions)

Timescale (lighter shading indicates that the 
timescale is dependent on the outcome of 
earlier actions)

Responsibility for 
action 
(in addition to WBC)

Resources required 
(in addition to staff time), potential funding 
sources

Review whether Blue Badge holders should be charged 
for using off-street car parking.      

 DB to produce report

Change Blue Badge holder charging.*
     

CPO Capital cost
CPO, parking capital budget

BB2: Improve Blue Badge parking offer in other key locations

Meetings with the stations, hospital and other key 
locations to discuss Blue Badge parking.      

 Section Head to undertake at Sustainable 
meetings

Decide whether to carry out CPE of disabled car parking 
spaces in private car parks.      

WPS Traffic Engineer

Improve access to the Blue Badge parking at Watford 
Junction.      

LM/NR
Section Head to Work with London Midland 
and WJ Working Group. Capital cost 
NR/LM funding; apply for HCC funding

Review hospital Blue Badge parking.
     

WHHT
Section Head to Work with London Midland 
and WJ Working Group. Capital cost 
NR/LM funding; apply for HCC funding

Review Blue Badge parking at other key locations.
     

 
Section Head to Work with London Midland 
and WJ Working Group. Capital cost 
NR/LM funding; apply for HCC funding

Work with private car park owners to enforce disabled 
car parking spaces.*     

private car park owners
Revenue cost (increased CPE)
Parking capital budget or general council 
funds

Increase Blue Badge parking at Watford Junction.
     

LM/NR
Work with London Midland and WJ Working  
Group Capital cost 
NR/LM funding

Page 124



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 74

Action (‘*’ indicates that this action is dependent on the 
outcome of earlier actions)

Timescale (lighter shading indicates that the 
timescale is dependent on the outcome of 
earlier actions)

Responsibility for 
action 
(in addition to WBC)

Resources required 
(in addition to staff time), potential funding 
sources

Alter the provision of Blue Badge spaces/signage at the 
hospital.*      

WHHT Capital cost 
Parking capital budget, WHHT funding

Increase Blue Badge parking at other (non-Watford 
Junction) stations.      

NR/TfL/other rail 
stakeholders

Capital cost 
Parking capital budget, funding from partners

Make changes to Blue Badge parking at other key 
locations.*      

Various partners Capital cost
Parking capital budget, funding from partners

Implement order(s) and begin enforcing disabled spaces 
in private car parks.*      

WPS/CPE
Capital and revenue cost 
Parking capital budget or general council 
funds

BB3: Improvements to access to Shopmobility Watford

With Shopmobility Watford, review options for 
improving the pedestrian access route      

Shopmobility Watford Work with Citiparks and Property Services

Carry out detailed design of recommended option(s).
    

CPO  

Implement recommended option(s).
    

CPO Capital cost
CPO, parking capital budget

Include Shopmobility Watford in promotional material 
on accessing Watford.      

  

Powered Two Wheeler (PTW) parking

P1: Increase PTW parking at key locations and review existing parking

Page 125



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 75

Action (‘*’ indicates that this action is dependent on the 
outcome of earlier actions)

Timescale (lighter shading indicates that the 
timescale is dependent on the outcome of 
earlier actions)

Responsibility for 
action 
(in addition to WBC)

Resources required 
(in addition to staff time), potential funding 
sources

Review existing PTW parking provision and identify 
suitable locations for further PTW parking.      

 Report to be produced

Make any changes to PTW parking provision.
     

 Section Head Capital cost
Parking capital budget

Detailed design for new PTW parking facilities.
     

 Section Head Capital cost
Parking capital budget

Implement new PTW parking.
     

HCC Section Head Capital cost
Parking capital budget

P2: Improved signage/information provision on parking for PTW users

Identify suitable locations for signs to PTW parking.
     

HCC Section Head Capital cost
Parking capital budget

Introduce new signs to PTW parking.
     

HCC Sction Head Capital cost
Parking capital budget

Cycle parking

Cy1: Increase short stay cycle parking at key locations

Assess how much cycle parking to introduce and where 
to locate it.      

  

Develop and follow design and implementation 
programme (locations within WBC control).      

 
Capital cost
S106 contributions, CIL, HCC sustainable 
transport funding

Page 126



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 76

Action (‘*’ indicates that this action is dependent on the 
outcome of earlier actions)

Timescale (lighter shading indicates that the 
timescale is dependent on the outcome of 
earlier actions)

Responsibility for 
action 
(in addition to WBC)

Resources required 
(in addition to staff time), potential funding 
sources

Work with partners; develop and follow design and 
implementation programme (locations outside WBC 
control).      

Various partners

Capital cost
S106 contributions, CIL, HCC sustainable 
transport funding, contributions from 
businesses

Review progress on installing cycle parking at locations 
within WBC control.      

  

Cy2: Develop a secure long-stay cycle parking facility in the town centre

Determine feasibility of introducing a secure cycle 
parking facility.     

 There may be an option to the use the old 
Church Street toilets building

Detailed design of facility, acquisition of property (if 
necessary), identification of funding sources.*      

Various partners
Design resources, potential land purchase
S106 contributions, CIL, HCC sustainable 
transport funding

Implement/build secure long-stay cycle parking 
facility.*      

  

Open the secure long-stay cycle parking facility.*

     

Various partners

Capital cost
S106 contributions, CIL, HCC sustainable 
transport funding, contributions from 
businesses

Cy3: Provide small-scale secure cycle parking at relevant locations

Identify locations for small-scale secure cycle parking 
and begin coordinating with partners.      

Various partners  

Deliver secure cycle parking at the first location 
identified.      

Various partners
Capital cost
S106 contributions, CIL, HCC sustainable 
transport funding, contributions from 

Page 127



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 77

Action (‘*’ indicates that this action is dependent on the 
outcome of earlier actions)

Timescale (lighter shading indicates that the 
timescale is dependent on the outcome of 
earlier actions)

Responsibility for 
action 
(in addition to WBC)

Resources required 
(in addition to staff time), potential funding 
sourcesbusinesses

Continue to deliver secure cycle parking at the other 
locations identified.

     

 

Capital cost
S106 contributions, CIL, HCC sustainable 
transport funding, contributions from 
businesses

Cy4: Pilot secure residential cycle parking provision

Identify potential locations for secure residential cycle 
parking provision.      

housing providers/ 
residents  

Set up a system for design and implementation, as well 
as identifying further locations.      

  

Implement secure residential cycle parking provision 
according to the programme.

     

 

Capital cost
S106 contributions, CIL, HCC sustainable 
transport funding, contributions from housing 
associations

Taxi ranking, drop-off/pick-up

T1: Optimise taxi rank and drop-off/pick-up facility provision in line with other changes in the town centre

Complete assessment of on-street town centre space.
     

HCC Started June 2015

Consult on proposed changes and design changes to taxi 
ranking.      

 Cost of any consultation materials
Standard funding for consultation

Implement changes to taxi ranking.
     

HCC Capital cost
Parking capital budget, HCC funding

Page 128



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 78

Action (‘*’ indicates that this action is dependent on the 
outcome of earlier actions)

Timescale (lighter shading indicates that the 
timescale is dependent on the outcome of 
earlier actions)

Responsibility for 
action 
(in addition to WBC)

Resources required 
(in addition to staff time), potential funding 
sources

T2: Improve signage to taxi ranks within the town centre

Review signage to taxi ranks.
    

 Section Head

Make any changes to taxi rank signage.
     

 Capital cost
Parking capital budget, HCC funding

Coach parking

Co1: Develop a coach drop off facility in the vicinity of the town centre and long stay coach parking

Scoping.
     

HCC Traffic Engineer look at Gade Avenyue and 
work with Intu Town Centre Manager

Detailed design, process for re-designating space for 
coaches.      

HCC  

Open the coach parking.
     

HCC Capital cost
S106 contributions, CIL

Freight vehicle parking, loading/unloading

F1: A pilot Delivery and Servicing Plan (DSP) for the council

Page 129



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 79

Action (‘*’ indicates that this action is dependent on the 
outcome of earlier actions)

Timescale (lighter shading indicates that the 
timescale is dependent on the outcome of 
earlier actions)

Responsibility for 
action 
(in addition to WBC)

Resources required 
(in addition to staff time), potential funding 
sources

Assessment of current delivery and servicing practices, 
review of council business operations.      

including WBC 
procurement staff Started June 2015

Develop the interventions which will be included in the 
DSP.      

  

Implement the DSP.
     

  

Review the DSP.
     

  

Develop advice on DSPs for other organisations that are 
interested.      

  

Notes:
CPE – Civil Parking Enforcement   HCC – Hertfordshire County Council     NR – Network Rail           WBC – Watford Borough Council       WPS – Watford Parking Service
CPO – car park operator   LM – London Midland            TfL – Transport for London     WHHT – West Hertfordshire Health Trust

Page 130



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 80

5.2 Policy cost assessment
Table 9 provides an indication of whether the implementation of proposed 
policies will have a substantial cost and whether the cost is a one-off or would be 
ongoing. The two policies which have a significant cost are ‘Ca1: Improve the car 
parking offer in the town centre’ and ‘Cy2: Develop a secure long-stay cycle 
parking facility in the town centre’. The improvements to the town centre car 
parks are expected to be funded through the agreement with the car park operator. 
No specific funding for the secure cycle parking has been identified but this type 
of facility would be a good candidate for local sustainable transport funding.

Table 9: Policy cost assessment
Mode for 
which the 

policy applies Policy
Cost type, level and 

duration

G1: Street type matrix analysis Low capital cost
One-off

G2: On-street space in the town centre Low capital cost 
One-off

Ca1: Improve the car parking offer in the town 
centre

High capital cost 
On-going for duration of 
improvements

Ca2: Formalise short-stay parking provision 
within the town centre

Low capital cost
One-off

Ca3: Implement ‘pay-by-phone’ or similar 
modern payment system at pay and display 
locations within Watford

Medium capital cost 
One-off
Low revenue cost 
On-going (running costs)

Ca4: Continue reviewing options for the multi-
storey car parks

Staff time only (until 
recommendations 
progressed)

Ca5: Ensure car parking revenue is used to 
fund transport interventions

Negative – generates 
revenue
On-going

Ca6: Work with businesses to encourage 
employees to commute by alternative modes to 
ease parking pressure and congestion

Low revenue cost
On-going

Ca7: Improvements to parking in residential 
CPZs and residential parking in the town 
centre

Low capital cost
Low revenue cost if e-
permits introduced (but 
savings expected overall)

Ca8: Improvements to on-street parking 
outside the town centre

Low capital cost
One-off
Medium revenue cost 
(increased CPE)
On-going

Page 131



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 81

Mode for 
which the 

policy applies Policy
Cost type, level and 

duration

BB1: Improve Blue Badge parking offer in the 
town centre

Low capital cost
One-off

BB2: Improve Blue Badge parking offer in 
other key locations

Low capital cost
One-off

BB3: Improvements to access to Shopmobility 
Watford

Low capital cost
One-off

P1: Increase PTW parking at key locations 
and review existing parking

Medium capital cost
One-off

P2: Improved signage/information provision 
on parking for PTW users

Low capital cost
One-off

Cy1: Increase short stay cycle parking at key 
locations

Low capital cost
One-off

Cy2: Develop a secure long-stay cycle parking 
facility in the town centre

High capital cost
One-off

Cy3: Provide small-scale secure cycle parking 
at relevant locations

Low capital cost
One-off

Cy4: Pilot secure residential cycle parking 
provision

Low to medium capital 
cost
One-off

T1: Optimise taxi rank and drop-off/pick-up 
facility provision in line with other changes in 
the town centre

Low capital cost 
One-off

T2: Improve signage to taxi ranks within the 
town centre

Low capital cost 
One-off

Co1: Develop a coach drop off facility in the 
vicinity of the town centre and long stay coach 
parking

Low capital cost 
One-off

F1: Pilot Delivery and Servicing Plan (DSP) 
for the council

Primarily staff time, may 
require small capital 
outlays
On-going

5.3 Potential funding sources for implementing 
parking strategy policies

5.3.1 Key resources required
The key resources required for implementing the parking strategy policies are:

 WBC staff time for further research, liaison with partners such as HCC, 
consultation and detailed design of schemes;

 Civil Parking Enforcement staff time for increased enforcement activities; 
and

Page 132



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 82

  Funding for:

 Consultation materials/publication;

 Improvements to parking including changes to road layouts, 
upgrading or installing new infrastructure (e.g. parking payment 
system, cycle parking stands);

 Improvements related to parking such as signage; and

 Setting up and managing policy initiatives such as a town-wide 
Travel Plan.

5.3.2 Potential funding sources
Potential funding sources include:

 Funding from parking revenue (e.g. for car park refurbishment);

 Renting out advertising space associated with parking facilities;

 Return on investment (e.g. people making greater use of the refurbished 
car parks, generating increased car park revenue);

 Developer contributions (S106 and CIL);

 Contributions from or funding by partners who will benefit from an 
improved parking offer for certain types of parking (e.g. at the stations);

 Local transport funding schemes (e.g. LSTF equivalent);

 Integrated Transport Block funding, via HCC; and

 LEP Growth Deal funding.

5.4 Risks to delivering the parking strategy
Risks associated with delivering the parking strategy include:

 Funding. If suitable funding cannot be identified it may not be possible to 
deliver some of the parking policies.

 Working with partners. Several of the policies will require partner buy-
in to be delivered and will be dependent on securing funding sources or 
permissions outside of WBC control.

 Consultation. The consultation process may hinder progress on some of 
the parking policies.

5.5 Monitoring and review process
Progress against the Action Plan should be monitored at the end of each 
timeframe for action (e.g. six months, one year, eighteen months etc.). If an action 
has not been completed within the target timeframe it should be reviewed and 
amended. 

Page 133



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page 83

As well as assessing progress against targets, monitoring should assess the 
impacts of the parking policies against the parking strategy objectives and policy-
specific objectives. Any unforeseen adverse effects should also be identified as 
part of the monitoring process to inform any amendments to the parking strategy 
and to enable any remedial actions to be taken. Monitoring information should be 
reported internally within the Council to relevant Council officers. 

The parking strategy policies should be reviewed regularly to ensure that the 
strategy remains up to date. This will include removing policies which have been 
fully delivered and adding new policies which are relevant to a current parking 
situation. The objectives of the parking strategy should also be periodically 
reviewed.

An annual review should be reported to Council Members either at the end of the 
calendar year or at the end of the financial year. This could be incorporated with 
the Watford Parking Services annual report to form a general parking review 
report or could be reported separately alongside the Watford Parking Service 
annual report.

5.6 Communication
Communication will be important for the success of the parking strategy. Once the 
strategy is adopted it should be publicised via the Council website, Twitter feed 
and so on. Communication will also be important for continued buy-in to the 
parking strategy from stakeholders, who have had a significant role in the 
development of the strategy. Communication of information about the parking 
strategy is necessary to engage and inform the public. Information should serve 
two purposes: helping people to use the parking in Watford; and explaining the 
reasoning behind certain parking policies (e.g. by emphasising the positive 
outcomes that are expected).

Page 134



Appendix A

Stakeholder meetings

Page 135



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page A1

A1 Stakeholder meetings
The following stakeholders were met as part of the consultation process:

 Town Centre Partnership
 Federation of Small Businesses
 Watford Colosseum
 Watford Football Club
 Freight Transport Association
 Disability Watford
 Spokes
 Watford Cycle Hub
 Sustrans
 Living Streets
 Arriva Buses

In addition, the British Motorcycle Federation and Watford Palace Theatre 
provided input via email.

Page 136



Appendix B

Summary of public consultation 
responses

Page 137



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page B1

Summary of public consultation responses
This appendix sets out the key results of the public consultation questionnaire. 
The consultation was open for three weeks from 18 November 2014 and around 
250 people responded. Responses were filtered depending on whether respondents 
had knowledge or experience of a particular type of parking. As a result, sample 
sizes for some types of parking were small (for example only 18 respondents used 
motorcycle parking). 

B1.1 Town centre car parking

B1.1.1 Overview
Around 150 people used the town centre car parks which the survey focused on 
(Church, Gade, Sutton, Town Hall and The Avenue). Around a third of 
respondents did not use any of the town centre car parks listed, around a third 
used Church and/or Gade car parks, around a fifth used Sutton car park and about 
15% used Town Hall and/or The Avenue car park. Most respondents used these 
car parks less than once a week with 14-23% using the car parks at least once a 
week. Car parks were most likely to be used for shopping or entertainment trips 
although several respondents also used them to access facilities such as the leisure 
centre, library, dentists or doctors. Respondents used Church, Sutton and Gade car 
parks most frequently in the morning or evening at the weekend. Respondents 
were more likely to use the Town Hall car park in the evening (as would be 
expected since this is when the general car park becomes available to the general 
public) and respondents were most likely to use the Avenue on weekend evenings.  

One respondent noted that there were insufficient carer and child bays in Gade car 
park and also mentioned the lack of carer and child bays in the Town Hall car 
park. The size of the bays in Gade car park was also raised as an issue due to 
making it hard to get children in and out of cars. 

B1.1.2 Use of on-street space in the town centre
The majority of respondents felt that the use of on-street space in the town centre 
could be improved. Respondents were most likely to think that the space could be 
better used to help local businesses or for public parking (45% and 41% 
respectively). 16% thought the space available was currently used effectively and 
15% answered ‘don’t know’. 13% of respondents through that the space could be 
used better for disabled parking, 11% thought that it could be used better for bus 
users and 7% thought that it could be used better for taxi users.

Respondents’ suggestions for improving the use of on-street space in the town 
centre were varied and often conflicting, showing the complexity of determining 
how this limited space could be best used. Suggestions included:

 ‘Drop-off’ type short-stay parking and/or shorter time limits for bays 
(including for Blue Badge holders);

 More motorcycle parking;
 Better marking out of spaces to make use more efficient;

Page 138



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page B2

 Changing some permit parking to dual use so that more short stay parking 
could be made available near to the town centre (e.g. Queen Street);

 Better provision for cyclists and pedestrians;
 Limiting the main high street to pedestrian only, bus and pedestrian only, or 

bicycles and pedestrians only, with more disabled parking being made 
available on back roads;

 Limited loading hours (e.g. before 9am);
 Less parking restrictions in the evenings so on-street space could be used by 

people going to restaurants etc. in the town centre;
 Reviewing yellow lines and other road markings both to determine whether 

more space could be used for parking and where current markings cause 
problems such as obstructive parking; and 

 ‘Gateway treatment’ of the entrance to the restricted area from the lower end 
of High Street to slow vehicles down.

Respondents were split on some issues, particularly Blue Badge parking, taxis and 
buses. Some respondents felt that Blue Badge parking should be more limited or 
removed completely from the High Street whereas others felt that there was not 
enough. Some respondents suggested more space should be made available for 
taxis whereas others said that taxis took up too much space in the town centre. 
Some respondents suggested there should be more space for buses so that bus 
movement and provision of bus stops in the town centre could be improved and 
some respondents suggested that buses should be removed from the High Street 
with stops relocated to the ring road.

B1.1.3 Suggested changes to the multi-storey car parks
It has been proposed that the use of Church, Sutton and Gade multi-storey car 
parks be altered now that the Council has gained control over them. The suggested 
uses are shopper parking at Church car park (as is the case at present), commuter 
parking and contracted parking for hotels at Sutton car park and long-stay 
shopper, commuter parking and box storage at Gade car park. The majority of 
respondents were in favour of keeping Church as a shopper car park with 92% of 
respondents in favour (excluding those who answered ‘don’t know’ which was 
around a fifth of all respondents). Respondents were evenly split between those 
who agreed and those who disagreed with the proposals for Sutton car park with 
more respondents strongly disagreeing than strongly agreeing with the proposals 
(nearly a third of respondents strongly disagreed with the proposals). More 
respondents agreed than disagreed with the proposals for Gade car park; over a 
quarter of respondents strongly disagreed with the proposals.

B1.1.4 Using the multi-storey car parks in the evening/at night
Most respondents who used parking in the town centre in the evening either used 
an on-street location or Gade car park. Church car park was the next most popular 
option followed by Sutton car park, Town Hall car park and The Avenue car park, 
which were all used a similar amount. The primary reason for respondents’ choice 
of parking location was convenience (around 50-75% of answers). Price was a 
reason for choosing parking at on-street locations (22% of answers) and The 
Avenue car park (14% of answers). Several respondents noted that they felt they 

Page 139



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page B3

had no choice in where to park as a certain car park was the only option near to 
their destination. 

In terms of the cost of parking in the multi-storey car parks in the evening, around 
a third of respondents felt that the cost was about right, around half felt it was too 
expensive, a minority felt it was too cheap and about 10% answered ‘don’t know’. 
Several respondents suggested that parking in the evening should be free, 
especially for Watford residents. Others suggested a set price would be better, 
suggesting that this would increase the use of the car parks as opposed to on-street 
locations which could make the car parks feel safer (because they would be 
busier) and prevent inappropriate parking in on-street locations. Others also 
suggested allowing residents to use the car parks in the evening to alleviate 
parking problems on the residential streets around the town centre where there is 
limited parking. A number of respondents suggested that charges should be 
increased to cover the cost of improvements to the car parks and other respondents 
noted the discrepancy between the cost of parking and the quality of the parking.

Of those that used the multi-storey car parks in the evening, around 5% of 
respondents felt that the car parks were ‘very safe’, around 40% felt that they were 
‘safe’, around 30-40% felt that they were unsafe and around 15-20% felt that they 
were ‘very unsafe’.

B1.1.5 Using the surface car parks in the evening/at night
In terms of the cost of parking in the surface car parks in the evening, around 70% 
felt that the cost was about right, about 12% felt that it was too expensive, about 
5% felt that it was too cheap and about 12% answered ‘don’t know’. Comments 
related to the surface car parks included that the parking should be free in the 
evening, that the parking time should be extended beyond midnight to cover visits 
to night clubs, that improvements could be made to make the car parks feel safer, 
that the car parks should be publicised more, that cost should be increased to 
cover improvements and that payment should not be cash-only. Several 
respondents questioned why the cost of parking in the surface car parks differed 
from the multi-storey car parks.

In terms of safety, 12-13% of respondents who used the car parks felt that they 
were ‘very safe’, 59-65% of respondents felt that they were ‘safe’, 17-22% of 
respondents felt that they were ‘unsafe’ and 6-7% felt that they were ‘very 
unsafe’. The Avenue was felt to be less safe than Town Hall car park overall by 
respondents.

B1.1.6 Suggested improvements to the evening environment in 
the car parks (surface and multi-storey)

Suggested improvements to the evening/night time environment in the car parks 
included having greater security such as staff patrolling the car parks, better 
lighting and CCTV, more payment machines (Gade and Church), regular 
cleaning, more signage/information provision, more parking options near evening 
entertainment locations, improvements to the environment in stairwells, lifts and 
underpasses, an overground pedestrian access route to The Avenue, and cheaper 
overnight rates (running in to the next day). A general suggestion was to have 
wider bays in the car parks to prevent damage to vehicles.

Page 140



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page B4

B1.2 Car parking outside local shops
Around 130 respondents used parking outside local shops. 37% of respondents 
felt that there was enough car parking outside local shops, 49% felt that more was 
required and 14% of respondents answered ‘don’t know’. 67% of those who used 
car parking outside local shops did not pay to park, 26% of respondents paid to 
park and 7% answered ‘unsure’. 38% of those who paid to park outside local 
shops felt that the cost was about right, whilst 56% felt that it was too expensive 
(6% answered ‘don’t know’).

Suggestions related to car parking outside local shops included:

 Marking out bays so that parking space could be optimised;
 A short period of free parking to encourage ‘drop in’ trips;
 Mixed use parking to relive pressure on parking e.g. using pub car parking for 

shoppers during the day on weekdays;
 More flexibility for parking outside local shops in CPZs; 
 Encouraging the use of different modes for local shopping trips to reduce 

parking pressure;
 Better parking enforcement around local shops to prevent dangerous and 

obstructive parking (examples of parking problems included parking on 
double yellow lines or too near to a junction, double parking and parking on 
the pavement);

 Stronger deterrents for people without Blue Badges using disabled parking 
bays; and

 More enforcement activity for illegal parking in the evenings when parking 
problems are worse.

Several respondents noted the inconvenience of cash-only pay and display 
parking. 

Key locations with parking problems (both in terms of availability of spaces and 
the impact of inconsiderate parking on other road users) are set out in Table 10 
which includes a summary of the nature of the issues identified. 

Table 10: Issues raised relating to parking outside local shops
Location Issue(s)

Whippendell 
Road

Parking not convenient
Inconsiderate parking
Delivery lorry movement – pedestrian safety

Garston Parade Limited spaces
Pavement parking – pedestrian safety

Courtlands Drive Limited spaces
Delivery lorries using parking spaces – impact on capacity, safety 
implications

St. Albans Road Limited spaces
Inconvenient cash-only pay and display
Inconsiderate/dangerous parking in the evening e.g. parking on double yellow 
lines, pavements, zig-zag lines

Page 141



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page B5

Location Issue(s)
Parking manoeuvres delaying vehicle movement

Bushey Mill Lane Limited spaces
Parking across driveways, too close to junctions 

Cassiobury shops Mixed parking experience (lots of respondents noted the need to monitor this 
area since changes to the parking layout)

Queen’s Road Lack of parking nearby

Market Street Limited spaces, short time period for parking

Tolpits Lane Lack of spaces
Dangerous/obstructive parking on road

B1.3 Blue Badge/disabled parking
Around 50 respondents used Blue Badge parking (either as a Blue Badge holder 
themselves or travelling with a Blue Badge holder). Of those respondents who 
were either a Blue Badge holder themselves or travelled with someone who was a 
Blue Badge holder, 65% felt that there is good disabled bay parking provision for 
Blue Badge holders in Watford and 29% did not (6% answered ‘don’t know’). 
Blue Badge holders were much more likely to feel that there was not good 
disabled bay parking provision than those who travelled with Blue Badge holders 
(60% compared with 21%). 36% stated that they found locations inaccessible 
because of a lack of Blue Badge parking nearby. 

Locations with insufficient Blue Badge parking included several locations in the 
town centre along the main High Street, Watford’s stations (especially Watford 
Junction), local shopping streets such as the Cassiobury shops, Queens Road (The 
Broadway) and St Albans Road and the Town Hall car park. The Central Library 
and Watford’s mosques were also highlighted as locations where more disabled 
parking provision would be beneficial. 

A lack of enforcement of allocated disabled spaces (meaning that they were used 
by drivers without disabilities) was identified as an issue causing problems for 
people trying to legitimately use disabled parking provision in shopping centre 
and supermarket car parks. The lack of space for people with disabilities to be 
picked up or dropped off on residential streets was also an issue for some 
respondents.

Only ten respondents used disabled parking provision at the multi-storey car 
parks. Four thought that the quality of disabled parking provision at Church car 
park was either good or very good; two thought that it was poor. Two respondents 
felt that the disabled parking provision at Gade car park was good or very good; 
three felt that it was poor or very poor. One respondent felt that the disabled 
parking provision at Sutton car park was very good; four felt that it was poor or 
very poor. 

Suggestions for improvements included making spaces wider (especially between 
pillars where opening doors could be problematic), more spaces (especially 
general disabled bays in Church car park on a flat surface) and general 
improvements to the car parking environment not specifically related to the 
disabled parking provision. 

Page 142



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page B6

B1.4 Motorcycle parking
Eighteen respondents used motorcycle parking. Of these, 17% thought that there 
was good parking provision for motorcycles in Watford but 83% felt that there 
was not. Two thirds found that there were locations in Watford where they wished 
to park but were unable to do so because of inadequate parking provision. Key 
locations identified by respondents were focused around the town centre. These 
included locations with existing motorcycle parking such as Queen’s Road, the 
Central Library and some of the multi-storey cay parks where motorcycle parking 
is provided. Watford Junction was also mentioned as a location with insufficient 
motorcycle parking. A lack of signage to existing parking locations was also 
highlighted as an issue. 

B1.5 Cycle parking
Around 100 respondents used cycle parking. 38% of these felt that there is good 
parking provision for cyclists in Watford whereas 47% did not (15% were 
unsure). 46% of respondents who cycled regularly or occasionally in Watford 
found that cycle parking provision was inadequate in certain locations. Several 
respondents stated that there were locations within the town centre where cycle 
parking provision was insufficient, both along the main High Street and further 
out particularly to the north of the town (for example Clarendon Road and Albert 
Road). 

Key issues included security concerns related to existing parking as well as the 
lack of weather protection provided by existing parking. Outside the town centre, 
Watford Junction was mentioned by several respondents as a location where 
current cycle parking provision is inadequate, as were Watford’s other stations to 
a lesser extent. Both the quantity of parking and security were identified as key 
issues at station locations. Several key trip attractors were highlighted by 
respondents as lacking in cycle parking provision, including local shopping 
centres and supermarkets (e.g. Kingswood, Garston and Meriden shopping centre 
precincts, St Albans Road and Queens Road shops and Century retail park). The 
leisure centre and Cassiobury Park were also mentioned by respondents as 
locations with inadequate cycle parking provision, as was Watford Business Park. 
Lack of cycle parking options for residents with properties without garden or 
other space for storing bicycles was also mentioned. Security and weather 
protection were key issues highlighted by a high number of respondents and 
abandoned bicycles taking up spaces was also mentioned, as was signage.

B1.6 Taxi ranks
Of those respondents who used taxis either regularly or occasionally, the majority 
thought that the availability of taxis in the town centre was either good or very 
good (63% and 16% respectively). Around 10% though availability was poor, 2% 
thought it was very poor and 9% of respondents answered ‘don’t know’. 

In terms of signage to the taxi ranks, excluding respondents who answered ‘don’t 
know’ 71% of respondents felt that signage could be improved. Several 
respondents commented that they couldn’t think of any obvious signage and that 
there should be more, clearer, more visible signage, especially signage directing 
people to the taxi rank.

Page 143



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page B7

Several respondents suggested that there should be more designated taxi ranks and 
others noted the problems caused by the high number of taxis currently (with 
several noting that around Watford Junctions taxis caused obstructions). Other 
respondents noted that suitable user-friendly drop-off and pick-up points needed 
to be identified. Some respondents suggested that taxis should not be able to 
access the main High Street but should drop off and pick up from side streets. 

B1.7 Bus stops
The majority of respondents felt that the location of bus stops in the town centre 
was either good or very good (79%, excluding those who answered ‘don’t know’). 
Suggested improvements included clearer signage and more information about 
services at the bus stops, more seating, wider footways alongside bus stops to 
accommodate queuing people, more room for buses to pass, more weather 
protection and extended stop lengths to allow buses to pull right next to the kerb. 
Several respondents suggested that services should stop at one central location 
instead of being spread along the High Street, with suggested solutions including a 
central bus station or relocating bus stops to the ring road or Clarendon Road. 
Several respondents also mentioned problems with vehicles using on-street space 
obstructing buses in the High Street area.

B1.8 Waymarking
Most respondents thought that waymarking in the town centre was either good or 
very good, with 52% stating that it was good and 9% stating that it was very good. 
24% felt that it was poor and 2% felt that it was very poor. 13% of respondents 
answered ‘don’t know’. In terms of signage to or from the Council-owned town 
centre car parks, around half of respondents answered that they were unsure about 
whether signage could be improved. Other respondents were fairly evenly split 
between those who felt that signage could be improved and those who didn’t. 
More respondents felt that signage could be better for Gade, Sutton, Town Hall 
and The Avenue car parks, respondents were evenly split for Church car park and 
more respondents felt that signage could not be better for Palace Charter than felt 
that it could.

Suggestions related to signage included: 

 Making it clearer that the Town Hall car park was available to non-council 
workers out of office hours; 

 Signage to key locations from the car parks (e.g. Cassiobury park);
 Signage to key locations within the town e.g. Watford Employment Tribunal;
 Making the entrances to Sutton and Gade more obvious;
 More signage for the car parks earlier on so drivers can get into the correct 

lane on the ring road;
 Better signage to motorcycle parking;
 Signage indicating which car park to use depending on the driver’s final 

destination;
 Less signage;
 Directional signage near car park entrances/exits; and
 Greater maintenance of existing road markings/signs. 

Page 144



Appendix C

Parking Design and Policy 
Guidance

Page 145



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page C1

Parking Design and Policy Guidance
In order to deliver high quality parking facilities, further best practice guidance 
should be consulted for the detailed design of facilities and development of 
parking policies. Table 11 provides references to key documents for the different 
types of parking.

Table 11: Parking design and policy references

Type of 
parking

Document 
author

Document details Link

Department for 
Transport, 
Department of 
Communities 
and Local 
Government

Focus: Multimodal parking 
in mainly residential areas
Chapter 8 of Manual for 
Streets (DfT, 2007) considers 
parking provision with a 
particular focus on residential 
cycle and car parking design 
and considerations.

https://www.gov.uk/governme
nt/publications/manual-for-
streets 

Lynne Sloman, 
Transport for 
Quality of Life

‘Tools for travel planning in 
urban areas: A guide for local 
authorities’ includes 
information on travel planning 
to reduce car use.

http://www.transportforquality
oflife.com/u/files/Tools%20fo
r%20Travel%20Planning%20i
n%20Urban%20Areas%20Se
p2004.pdf 

Department for 
Transport

‘Making Car Sharing and Car 
Clubs Work: A Good Practice 
Guide’ provides information 
on the delivery of car share 
and car club initiatives.

http://www.civilservice.gov.u
k/wp-
content/uploads/2012/02/maki
ngcarsharingmarch2005.pdf 

Carplus ‘Car Clubs Starter Pack for 
Local Authorities: A practical 
guide to car club development’ 
provides useful information 
for deciding whether and how 
to develop a car club.

http://www.carplus.org.uk/wp
-content/uploads/2012/04/2-
Car-Clubs-Starter-Pack-for-
Local-Authorities.pdf 

British Parking 
Association

The British Parking 
Association electronic library 
includes several useful 
reference documents on car 
parking.

http://www.britishparking.co.
uk/Library

Brighton & 
Hove City 
Council; Mott 
MacDonald

A report on best practice 
examples of Local Authority 
parking management 
containing several case studies 
on enforcement, parking 
control and payment 
technology.

http://present.brighton-
hove.gov.uk/Published/C0000
0726/M00004119/AI0003078
1/$Item26AppendixBbestprac
ticesurvey.pdfA.ps.pdf 

Type of 
parking

Document 
author

Document details Link

Page 146

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/manual-for-streets
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/manual-for-streets
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/manual-for-streets
http://www.transportforqualityoflife.com/u/files/Tools%20for%20Travel%20Planning%20in%20Urban%20Areas%20Sep2004.pdf
http://www.transportforqualityoflife.com/u/files/Tools%20for%20Travel%20Planning%20in%20Urban%20Areas%20Sep2004.pdf
http://www.transportforqualityoflife.com/u/files/Tools%20for%20Travel%20Planning%20in%20Urban%20Areas%20Sep2004.pdf
http://www.transportforqualityoflife.com/u/files/Tools%20for%20Travel%20Planning%20in%20Urban%20Areas%20Sep2004.pdf
http://www.transportforqualityoflife.com/u/files/Tools%20for%20Travel%20Planning%20in%20Urban%20Areas%20Sep2004.pdf
http://www.civilservice.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/02/makingcarsharingmarch2005.pdf
http://www.civilservice.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/02/makingcarsharingmarch2005.pdf
http://www.civilservice.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/02/makingcarsharingmarch2005.pdf
http://www.civilservice.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/02/makingcarsharingmarch2005.pdf
http://www.carplus.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/04/2-Car-Clubs-Starter-Pack-for-Local-Authorities.pdf
http://www.carplus.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/04/2-Car-Clubs-Starter-Pack-for-Local-Authorities.pdf
http://www.carplus.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/04/2-Car-Clubs-Starter-Pack-for-Local-Authorities.pdf
http://www.carplus.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/04/2-Car-Clubs-Starter-Pack-for-Local-Authorities.pdf
http://www.britishparking.co.uk/Library
http://www.britishparking.co.uk/Library
http://present.brighton-hove.gov.uk/Published/C00000726/M00004119/AI00030781/$Item26AppendixBbestpracticesurvey.pdfA.ps.pdf
http://present.brighton-hove.gov.uk/Published/C00000726/M00004119/AI00030781/$Item26AppendixBbestpracticesurvey.pdfA.ps.pdf
http://present.brighton-hove.gov.uk/Published/C00000726/M00004119/AI00030781/$Item26AppendixBbestpracticesurvey.pdfA.ps.pdf
http://present.brighton-hove.gov.uk/Published/C00000726/M00004119/AI00030781/$Item26AppendixBbestpracticesurvey.pdfA.ps.pdf
http://present.brighton-hove.gov.uk/Published/C00000726/M00004119/AI00030781/$Item26AppendixBbestpracticesurvey.pdfA.ps.pdf


Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page C2

Type of 
parking

Document 
author

Document details Link

Park Mark Park Mark guidelines on new 
build car park design include 
information relevant for 
improving existing car parks.

http://www.britishparking.co.
uk/write/documents/safer%20
parking/sps%20new%20build
%20guidelines%20-
%20web%20version.pdf 

Disabled 
Motoring UK

Disabled Motoring UK (a 
campaigning charity for 
disabled drivers, passengers 
and Blue Badge holders) has 
produced a policy sheet on off-
street parking.

http://www.disabledmotoring.
org/downloads/campaigns/im
proving-car-parks/Policy-05-
Off-street-car-parks.pdf 

Inclusive 
Mobility and 
Transport 
Advisory 
Committee 
(Imtac) 
(Northern 
Ireland)

Imtac has produced guidance 
for service providers in 
providing and managing 
accessible parking bays. The 
guide also includes links to 
further guidance.

http://www.disabilityaction.or
g/fs/doc/website/Parkingguide
(finalversion).pdf 

Institute of 
Highway 
Engineers

The Institute of Highway 
Engineers has published a 
Motorcycle Guidelines 
document which includes a 
chapter on motorcycle parking.

http://www.motorcycleguideli
nes.org.uk/the-guidelines/6-0-
motorcycle-parking/ 

Department for 
Transport

Chapter 11 of the Department 
for Transport Local Transport 
Note 2/08: Cycle 
Infrastructure Design (DfT, 
2008) focuses on cycle 
parking.

https://www.gov.uk/governme
nt/uploads/system/uploads/att
achment_data/file/329150/ltn-
2-
08_Cycle_infrastructure_desi
gn.pdf 

Transport for 
London

The TfL London Cycling 
Design Standards (TfL, 2014) 
includes a chapter on cycle 
parking.

https://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/sta
tic/cms/documents/lcds-
chapter8-cycleparking.pdf

Transport 
Initiatives 
LLP, 
Cambridge 
City Council

Focus: residential cycle 
parking
Cambridge City Council has a 
detailed guide on the design of 
cycle parking facilities at new 
residential developments. 

https://www.cambridge.gov.u
k/sites/www.cambridge.gov.u
k/files/docs/CycleParkingGui
de_std.pdf

London 
Cycling 
Campaign in 
Hackney, 
Neighbourhoo
d Renewal 
Unit

Focus: residential cycle 
parking
A report on the Hackney 
Residential Cycle Parking 
Project. Includes information 
about different ways of 
providing residential cycle 
parking in existing buildings.

http://www.hackney-
cyclists.org.uk/homebikepark/
hackney_homebikepark_repor
t_2004-06_v0.2.pdf 

Transport for 
London

Focus: workplace cycle 
parking
Transport for London has 
produced a guide on 

http://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/stat
ic/cms/documents/Workplace-
Cycle-Parking-Guide.pdf 

Page 147

http://www.britishparking.co.uk/write/documents/safer%20parking/sps%20new%20build%20guidelines%20-%20web%20version.pdf
http://www.britishparking.co.uk/write/documents/safer%20parking/sps%20new%20build%20guidelines%20-%20web%20version.pdf
http://www.britishparking.co.uk/write/documents/safer%20parking/sps%20new%20build%20guidelines%20-%20web%20version.pdf
http://www.britishparking.co.uk/write/documents/safer%20parking/sps%20new%20build%20guidelines%20-%20web%20version.pdf
http://www.britishparking.co.uk/write/documents/safer%20parking/sps%20new%20build%20guidelines%20-%20web%20version.pdf
http://www.disabledmotoring.org/downloads/campaigns/improving-car-parks/Policy-05-Off-street-car-parks.pdf
http://www.disabledmotoring.org/downloads/campaigns/improving-car-parks/Policy-05-Off-street-car-parks.pdf
http://www.disabledmotoring.org/downloads/campaigns/improving-car-parks/Policy-05-Off-street-car-parks.pdf
http://www.disabledmotoring.org/downloads/campaigns/improving-car-parks/Policy-05-Off-street-car-parks.pdf
http://www.disabilityaction.org/fs/doc/website/Parkingguide(finalversion).pdf
http://www.disabilityaction.org/fs/doc/website/Parkingguide(finalversion).pdf
http://www.disabilityaction.org/fs/doc/website/Parkingguide(finalversion).pdf
http://www.motorcycleguidelines.org.uk/the-guidelines/6-0-motorcycle-parking/
http://www.motorcycleguidelines.org.uk/the-guidelines/6-0-motorcycle-parking/
http://www.motorcycleguidelines.org.uk/the-guidelines/6-0-motorcycle-parking/
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/329150/ltn-2-08_Cycle_infrastructure_design.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/329150/ltn-2-08_Cycle_infrastructure_design.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/329150/ltn-2-08_Cycle_infrastructure_design.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/329150/ltn-2-08_Cycle_infrastructure_design.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/329150/ltn-2-08_Cycle_infrastructure_design.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/329150/ltn-2-08_Cycle_infrastructure_design.pdf
https://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/lcds-chapter8-cycleparking.pdf
https://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/lcds-chapter8-cycleparking.pdf
https://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/lcds-chapter8-cycleparking.pdf
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/sites/www.cambridge.gov.uk/files/docs/CycleParkingGuide_std.pdf
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/sites/www.cambridge.gov.uk/files/docs/CycleParkingGuide_std.pdf
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/sites/www.cambridge.gov.uk/files/docs/CycleParkingGuide_std.pdf
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/sites/www.cambridge.gov.uk/files/docs/CycleParkingGuide_std.pdf
http://www.hackney-cyclists.org.uk/homebikepark/hackney_homebikepark_report_2004-06_v0.2.pdf
http://www.hackney-cyclists.org.uk/homebikepark/hackney_homebikepark_report_2004-06_v0.2.pdf
http://www.hackney-cyclists.org.uk/homebikepark/hackney_homebikepark_report_2004-06_v0.2.pdf
http://www.hackney-cyclists.org.uk/homebikepark/hackney_homebikepark_report_2004-06_v0.2.pdf
http://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/Workplace-Cycle-Parking-Guide.pdf
http://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/Workplace-Cycle-Parking-Guide.pdf
http://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/Workplace-Cycle-Parking-Guide.pdf


Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page C3

Type of 
parking

Document 
author

Document details Link

workplace cycle parking.

Page 148



Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page C4

Type of 
parking

Document 
author

Document details Link

Transport for 
London

The Transport for London 
Streetscape Design Guidance 
(TfL, 2009) has a section on 
taxi ranks.

http://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/stat
ic/cms/documents/streetscape-
guidance-2009-street-
furniture-108.pdf

Transport for 
London

The Transport for London 
Streetscape Design Guidance 
(TfL, 2009) has a section on 
bus stops.

http://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/stat
ic/cms/documents/streetscape-
guidance-2009-street-
furniture-108.pdf

Transport for 
London

Transport for London has 
produced Accessible bus stop 
design guidance (TfL, 2006, 
currently being updated). 
Many of the considerations are 
relevant for Watford.

http://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/stat
ic/cms/documents/accessibile-
bus-stop-design-guidance.pdf 
(existing guidance)
https://consultations.tfl.gov.uk
/buses/accessible-bus-stop-
design-
guidance/user_uploads/accessi
ble-bus-stop-design-guidance-
for-public-consultation-
290914.pdf (updated guidance 
- consultation version)

Confederation 
of Passenger 
Transport UK 
(CPT)

The Confederation of 
Passenger Transport UK 
(CPT) has produced a briefing 
sheet outlining considerations 
for designing, introducing or 
upgrading coach parking 
facilities.

http://www.cpt-
uk.org//_uploads/attachment/3
016.pdf

Living Streets ‘Putting Pupils First:
Making the walk to school 
safer and easier’ gives advice 
on strategies for addressing 
problem parking outside 
schools.

http://www.livingstreets.org.u
k/sites/default/files/content/lib
rary/Reports/WtSW%20report
%202014.pdf 

Living Streets ‘The State of our Streets’ 
includes case studies on how 
to deal with parking problems 
such as pavement parking.

http://www.livingstreets.org.u
k/sites/default/files/content/lib
rary/Reports/State%20of%20o
ur%20Streets%20report%20A
ugust%202012.pdf 

Transport for 
London

Focus: kerbside loading
Kerbside Loading Guidance 
(TfL, 2009) discusses issues 
with kerbside loading, the 
needs of different types of 
loading activities and design 
considerations and proposes 
solutions for improving the 
loading environment.

https://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/sta
tic/cms/documents/kerbside-
loading-guidance-2009.pdf

Transport for 
London

Focus: consolidating 
deliveries
There are several case studies 
on consolidating deliveries 
(which reduces demand for 

http://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/stat
ic/cms/documents/going-the-
extra-mile.pdf

Page 149

http://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/streetscape-guidance-2009-street-furniture-108.pdf
http://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/streetscape-guidance-2009-street-furniture-108.pdf
http://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/streetscape-guidance-2009-street-furniture-108.pdf
http://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/streetscape-guidance-2009-street-furniture-108.pdf
http://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/streetscape-guidance-2009-street-furniture-108.pdf
http://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/streetscape-guidance-2009-street-furniture-108.pdf
http://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/streetscape-guidance-2009-street-furniture-108.pdf
http://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/streetscape-guidance-2009-street-furniture-108.pdf
http://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/accessibile-bus-stop-design-guidance.pdf
http://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/accessibile-bus-stop-design-guidance.pdf
http://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/accessibile-bus-stop-design-guidance.pdf
https://consultations.tfl.gov.uk/buses/accessible-bus-stop-design-guidance/user_uploads/accessible-bus-stop-design-guidance-for-public-consultation-290914.pdf
https://consultations.tfl.gov.uk/buses/accessible-bus-stop-design-guidance/user_uploads/accessible-bus-stop-design-guidance-for-public-consultation-290914.pdf
https://consultations.tfl.gov.uk/buses/accessible-bus-stop-design-guidance/user_uploads/accessible-bus-stop-design-guidance-for-public-consultation-290914.pdf
https://consultations.tfl.gov.uk/buses/accessible-bus-stop-design-guidance/user_uploads/accessible-bus-stop-design-guidance-for-public-consultation-290914.pdf
https://consultations.tfl.gov.uk/buses/accessible-bus-stop-design-guidance/user_uploads/accessible-bus-stop-design-guidance-for-public-consultation-290914.pdf
https://consultations.tfl.gov.uk/buses/accessible-bus-stop-design-guidance/user_uploads/accessible-bus-stop-design-guidance-for-public-consultation-290914.pdf
https://consultations.tfl.gov.uk/buses/accessible-bus-stop-design-guidance/user_uploads/accessible-bus-stop-design-guidance-for-public-consultation-290914.pdf
http://www.cpt-uk.org//_uploads/attachment/3016.pdf
http://www.cpt-uk.org//_uploads/attachment/3016.pdf
http://www.cpt-uk.org//_uploads/attachment/3016.pdf
http://www.livingstreets.org.uk/sites/default/files/content/library/Reports/WtSW%20report%202014.pdf
http://www.livingstreets.org.uk/sites/default/files/content/library/Reports/WtSW%20report%202014.pdf
http://www.livingstreets.org.uk/sites/default/files/content/library/Reports/WtSW%20report%202014.pdf
http://www.livingstreets.org.uk/sites/default/files/content/library/Reports/WtSW%20report%202014.pdf
http://www.livingstreets.org.uk/sites/default/files/content/library/Reports/State%20of%20our%20Streets%20report%20August%202012.pdf
http://www.livingstreets.org.uk/sites/default/files/content/library/Reports/State%20of%20our%20Streets%20report%20August%202012.pdf
http://www.livingstreets.org.uk/sites/default/files/content/library/Reports/State%20of%20our%20Streets%20report%20August%202012.pdf
http://www.livingstreets.org.uk/sites/default/files/content/library/Reports/State%20of%20our%20Streets%20report%20August%202012.pdf
http://www.livingstreets.org.uk/sites/default/files/content/library/Reports/State%20of%20our%20Streets%20report%20August%202012.pdf
https://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/kerbside-loading-guidance-2009.pdf
https://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/kerbside-loading-guidance-2009.pdf
https://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/kerbside-loading-guidance-2009.pdf
http://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/going-the-extra-mile.pdf
http://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/going-the-extra-mile.pdf
http://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/going-the-extra-mile.pdf


Watford Borough Council Watford Parking Strategy
Report

239398-00 | Issue | 15 July 2015 
C:\MODERNGOV\DATA\AGENDAITEMDOCS\9\4\3\AI00005349\$BMZPWBMN.DOCX

Page C5

Type of 
parking

Document 
author

Document details Link

kerbside loading space) such 
as the Regent Street 
consolidation project on the 
TfL website.

Transport for 
London

Focus: Delivery and 
Servicing Plans

https://www.tfl.gov.uk/info-
for/freight/planning/delivery-
and-servicing-plans

The Retiming 
Deliveries 
Consortium

Focus: Retiming deliveries
The Retiming Deliveries 
Consortium has produced 
guidance and information on 
how to make retiming 
deliveries work.

https://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/sta
tic/cms/documents/getting-
the-timing-right.pdf

Page 150

https://www.tfl.gov.uk/info-for/freight/planning/delivery-and-servicing-plans
https://www.tfl.gov.uk/info-for/freight/planning/delivery-and-servicing-plans
https://www.tfl.gov.uk/info-for/freight/planning/delivery-and-servicing-plans
https://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/getting-the-timing-right.pdf
https://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/getting-the-timing-right.pdf
https://www.tfl.gov.uk/cdn/static/cms/documents/getting-the-timing-right.pdf


Appendix D

Matrix of policies and objectives

Key

Policy expected to contribute to realising this objective

Policy could contribute to realising this objective or include elements which would meet this objective

Page 151





Watford Parking Strategy objectives and policies matrix Appendix 4

Policy General
(G1 and G2)

Car
(Ca1-Ca4, Ca7, Ca8)

Car
(Ca5)

Car
(Ca6)

Blue Badge
(BB1 and BB2)

Shopmobilit
y

(S1)

Powered Two
Wheeler

(P1 and P2)

Cycle
(Cy1-Cy4)

Taxi
(T1 and T2)

Coach
(Co1)

Freight
vehicles

(F1)

Objective

Street type
matrix
analysis; on-
street space
in the town
centre

Improvements to town
centre, on-street and CPZ
parking; implementing
modern payment system
at pay and display
locations; formalising
short stay parking
provision in the town
centre; review of options
for the multi-storey car
parks

Use of car
parking
revenue to
fund
transport
interventions

Work with
businesses
to encourage
employees
to commute
by alternative
modes to
ease parking
pressure and
congestion

Improve Blue
Badge parking
offer, in the
town centre and
other key
locations

Improved
access to
Shopmobility
Watford

Increase PTW parking
at key locations, review
existing PTW parking,
improved
signage/information
provision on parking for
PTW users

Increase short
stay cycle
parking at key
locations;
Developing
secure cycle
parking facilities
(residential [pilot],
within the town
centre, other
locations)

Optimise taxi
rank and drop-
off/pick-up
facility
provision in
the town
centre;
improve
signage to
taxi ranks

Coach
drop off
facility in
the
vicinity of
the town
centre;
long stay
coach
parking

Pilot Delivery
and Servicing
Plan (DSP) for
the council

To retain a reasonable level of access by private car.
To enhance access by other modes of transport.
To promote a quantity and type of parking stock which is in accordance
with the two objectives above.

[on street
only]

To allocate space in locations appropriately to achieve the two objectives
above (e.g. locating short stay more conveniently than long stay parking).

[on street
only]

To ensure parking at new developments achieves these objectives.
To facilitate good access by all modes.
To manage [car] parking to encourage short stay/leisure or retail visits
(rather than commuting) to the town centre and at local shopping
destinations.

[on street
only]

To set charging to ensure a reasonable balance between supply and
demand at all times 
To ensure parking revenues cover parking costs.
To pursue use of shared parking where possible, particularly at new
developments.
To explore where parking controls could be used to ensure road space is
used more efficiently e.g. to provide space for bus or cycle lanes.
To prevent inconsiderate or inappropriate parking activity obstructing other
road users.
To increase the proportion of parking that is under local authority control.
To use Travel Plans to reduce demand for private non-residential parking.
To minimise visual intrusion caused by parked cars.
To design parking areas, structures, signs and markings so they don’t
detract from the surrounding environment (and adapting existing ones).
To improve the quality and standard of car parking provision.
To prevent inconsiderate or inappropriate parking activity endangering other
road users.
To achieve Secured Car Park status for all Watford car parks.
To ensure priority for pedestrian movement over parking at new
developments.
To ensure on-street space is used fairly by considering a hierarchy of
needs.
To ensure guidance on parking fits within an overall hierarchy for the
allocation of space in the town centre which reflect wider objectives.
The control and management of residential parking (existing and future)
Using parking policy to achieve a reduction in unsustainable car
commuting into Watford
Ensuring limited town centre kerbside space is allocated to those who
need it most
Supporting retail viability through parking policy (town centre and local
shops)
Ensuring the parking strategy enables provision of parking for different
modes and space for different kerbside uses

Key

Policy expected to contribute to realising this objective

Policy could contribute to realising this objective or include elements which would meet this objective

Page 153





239398-00/AC Watford Parking Strategy

14 April 2015

Objectives

Policy area Policy

To retain a 

reasonable level of 

access by private car.

To enhance access by 

other modes of 

transport.

To promote a 

quantity and type of 

parking stock which 

is in accordance with 

the two objectives 

above.

To allocate space in 

locations 

appropriately to 

achieve the two 

objectives above 

(e.g. locating short 

stay more 

conveniently than 

long stay parking).

To ensure parking at 

new developments 

achieves these 

objectives.

To facilitate good 

access by all modes.

To manage [car] 

parking to encourage 

short stay/leisure or 

retail visits (rather 

than commuting) to 

the town centre and 

at local shopping 

destinations.

To set charging to 

ensure a reasonable 

balance between 

supply and demand at 

all times 

To ensure parking 

revenues cover 

parking costs.

To pursue use of 

shared parking where 

possible, particularly 

at new developments.

To explore where 

parking controls 

could be used to 

ensure road space is 

used more efficiently 

e.g. to provide space 

for bus or cycle 

lanes.

To prevent 

inconsiderate or 

inappropriate 

parking activity 

obstructing other 

road users.

To increase the 

proportion of 

parking that is under 

local authority 

control.

To use Travel Plans 

to reduce demand for 

private non-

residential parking.

To minimise visual 

intrusion caused by 

parked cars.

To design parking 

areas, structures, 

signs and markings so 

they don’t detract 

from the surrounding 

environment (and 

adapting existing 

ones).

To improve the 

quality and standard 

of car parking 

provision.

To prevent 

inconsiderate or 

inappropriate 

parking activity 

endangering other 

road users.

To achieve Secured 

Car Park status for 

all Watford car 

parks.

To ensure priority for 

pedestrian movement 

over parking at new 

developments.

G1: Street type matrix analysis [on street only] [on street only] [on street only]

G2: On-street space in the town centre [on street only] [on street only]

Ca1: Improve the car parking offer in the town 

centre

Ca2: Formalise short-stay parking provision within 

the town centre

Ca3: Implement ‘pay-by-phone’ or similar modern 

payment system at pay and display locations within 

Watford

Ca4: Continue reviewing options for the multi-storey 

car parks

Ca5: Ensure car parking revenue is used to fund 

transport interventions

Ca6: Work with businesses to encourage employees 

to commute by alternative modes to ease parking 

pressure and congestion

Ca7: Improvements to parking in residential CPZs 

and residential parking in the town centre

Ca8: Improvements to on-street parking outside the 

town centre

Car
BB1: Improve Blue Badge parking offer in the town 

centre

(Blue Badge)
BB2: Improve Blue Badge parking offer in other key 

locations

Shopmobility
S1: Improvements to access to Shopmobility 

Watford

P1: Increase PTW parking at key locations and 

review existing parking

P2: Improved signage/information provision on 

parking for PTW users

Cy1: Increase short stay cycle parking at key 

locations

Cy2: Develop a secure long-stay cycle parking 

facility in the town centre

Cy3: Provide small-scale secure cycle parking at 

relevant locations

Cy4: Pilot secure residential cycle parking provision

T1: Optimise taxi rank and drop-off/pick-up facility 

provision in line with other changes in the town 

centre

T2: Improve signage to taxi ranks within the town 

centre

Coach

Co1: Develop a coach drop off facility in the 

vicinity of the town centre and long stay coach 

parking

Freight vehicles
F1: A pilot Delivery and Servicing Plan (DSP) for 

the council

Key

Policy expected to contribute to realising this 

objective

Policy could contribute to realising this objective 

or include elements which would meet this 

objective

Taxi

General

Car

PTW

Cycle

P:\COMMITTE\Committees\Task Groups\Parking Strategy - Yr 1 recs\Background papers\

Watford Parking Strategy Action Plan (July 2015) v1  : Policies and objectives

© Arup | F0.13 | 14 February 2011

Page 1 of 2

Printed 30/06/16  Time 14:59

Page 155

Agenda Item
 6



To ensure on-street 

space is used fairly 

by considering a 

hierarchy of needs.

To ensure guidance 

on parking fits within 

an overall hierarchy 

for the allocation of 

space in the town 

centre which reflect 

wider objectives.

The control and 

management of 

residential parking 

(existing and future)

Using parking policy 

to achieve a 

reduction in 

unsustainable car 

commuting into 

Watford

Ensuring limited 

town centre kerbside 

space is allocated to 

those who need it 

most

Supporting retail 

viability through 

parking policy (town 

centre and local 

shops)

Ensuring the parking 

strategy enables 

provision of parking 

for different modes 

and space for 

different kerbside 

uses

P:\COMMITTE\Committees\Task Groups\Parking Strategy - Yr 1 recs\Background papers\

Watford Parking Strategy Action Plan (July 2015) v1  : Policies and objectives

© Arup | F0.13 | 14 February 2011

Page 2 of 2

Printed 30/06/16  Time 14:59

Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



                                                                                                                  APPENDIX  6                                                                                                       

WATFORD TOWN CENTRE – PROPOSED REALLOCATION OF PARKING: 

DESIGNER’S EXPLANATORY NOTES

1.0 Short-term Pay & Display Parking

1.1 Preliminary observations by PCL and monitoring by CEOs indicate that residents’ 

bays in the Zone E CPZ are underused during the day. The table below 

summarises occupancy levels against capacity. In view of the ‘spare’ capacity, 

there is the potential to reallocate some parking to shared-use parking, i.e. 

permits holders and short term pay & display, particularly in Granville Road  

(subject to consultation with residents).

ROAD NAME APPROX. NO OF SPACES MAX OCCUPANCY* (Nos)

Cambridge Road 11 7

Granville Road 40 25

Smith Street 13 9

The Crescent 16 16

*Based on intermittent daytime monitoring between 27/12/15 – 16/01/16

1.2 Parking by Blue Badge holders currently takes place at the southeastern end of 

George Street, close to the junction with King Street. This does not appear to 

inhibit traffic flows and this area can therefore be considered for short term pay & 

display parking. A total of 4 spaces can be accommodated within this section.

2.0 Disabled Parking

2.1 The relocation of the bus stop from the ‘southwestern end’ of the High Street to 

outside nos. 114 – 122 High Street will result in the loss of 8 dedicated Blue Badge 

holder bays, plus a similar number of informal spaces resulting from the 

introduction of At Any Time loading restrictions along the southern part of the 

High Street. 

2.2 The reallocation of permit holder parking to shared use parking in Granville Road 

and the proposed pay & display parking in George Street will, if implemented, 

provide parking for Blue Badge holders. Separately, and also in George Street, six 

dedicated Blue Badge holder bays can be provided, close to the junction with 

Church Street.

Page 161

Agenda Item 7



2.3 A further option for Blue Badge parking is to reallocate the taxi bays in Church 

Street to Blue Badge parking. The Multi-Modal Parking Review reports that the 

existing taxi bays in Church Street are currently underused, and this was 

confirmed in discussions with taxi drivers waiting in the ranks in Church Street. 

Please also refer to paragraph 3.3 below.

3.0 Taxi Parking

3.1 Some loading bays along the High Street are assigned to Taxi parking when they 

are not in use, whilst others are assigned to Disabled parking. In view of this 

established sharing of space, the Goods Vehicles Only loading bay outside 73/75 

High Street, can be considered for use for taxis from 11 am to 5 pm. If adopted, 

this will provide capacity for an additional 3 taxis.

3.2 Observations showed the taxi ranks in Church Street are underused. A 

conversation with a taxi driver confirmed this as did the findings of the Multi 

Modal Review. The ranks in the High Street were fully occupied at the time of two 

site visits, and indeed oversubscribed with taxi drivers waiting on yellow line 

restrictions and in disabled bays.

3.3 WBC may wish to consider the use of ‘smart parking’ technology to monitor taxi 

parking in the High Street. This will entail the installation of detectors in the taxi 

bays in the High Street which can alert waiting taxis in a feeder rank, possibly the 

existing rank in Church Street, when a space becomes available. This could help 

to curtail the current contravention of parking on yellow lines and Disabled bays.

4.0 Cycle Parking

4.1 Additional cycle hoops/stands are proposed at the following locations:

 In King Street, outside McDonalds

 Outside no. 14 King Street

 Outside the Halifax Bank, Market Place.

5.0 Powered Two Wheeler (PTW) Parking

5.1 An on-street ‘Solo Motor Cycle’ bay is proposed in George Street, outside the Old 

Free School. Additional PTW parking may also be considered at the following 

locations:

 Outside Travelodge Hotel

 Smith Street

 Behind 8-10 Market Place if adopted highway

Page 162



 In Wellstones, outside the Telephone Exchange

 Granville Road (by re-allocating one permit holder bay, subject to 

consultation) 

6.0 Electric Vehicle Charging Bays

6.1 PCL understands that the loading bays in New Street outside the multi-storey car 

park are not required. The car park payment machines are located adjacent to 

the bays, so there is a readily available power source to provide electric vehicle 

charging points. It is therefore suggested that the loading bays are reassigned as 

Electric Vehicle Charging Bays.

7.0 Waiting & Loading Restrictions

7.1 The ‘strengthening’ of existing waiting restrictions at specific locations is indicated 

on the drawing. It is also recommended that all junctions are ‘protected’ by At 

Any Time waiting and loading restrictions.

8.0 Miscellaneous

8.1 To help improve the safety of cyclists and pedestrians, an Entry Treatment or 

similar is recommended at the junction of Wellstones and Market Street. It was 

observed during a site visit that a number of drivers emerging from Wellstones 

were not aware of the contraflow cycle lane.

8.2 The loading bay at the southestern end of Market Street (near the junction with 

Exchange Road) extends to very close to the stop line of the signalised junction. 

Vehicles loading/unloading here can inhibit traffic flows and impact road safety. 

Consideration should therefore be given to reducing the extent of the bay.

Page 163




	Agenda
	4 Scope of review
	5 Summary of Parking Strategy
	Watford Parking Strategy main report v1
	Watford Parking Strategy Policies and objectives (July 2015) v1

	6 Review of Action Plan for 2015-16
	Watford Paking Strategy Action Plan

	7 Design notes

